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Chair’s Introduction 
Dr Janet Walker, CCG Chair 

It has certainly been another 
busy year.   

We have moved offices but we 
remain in North Ormesby Health 
Village. We are now in what was 
empty office space above the 
Dialysis Centre which allowed 

speech and language therapists to move into the 
community based clinical space which we 
vacated. We now have more space with a board 
room large enough to accommodate our Clinical 
Council of Members meetings, enabling a GP 
representative from each of our now 44 practices 
to come together with practice managers, our 
new CCG Link Practice Nurses and the CCG 
team. It is really productive to be able to host a 
variety of partnership and stakeholder meetings 
without paying for room hire, and importantly 
more space enables closer working with our 
commissioning support colleagues and other 
partners.   

Our office provides views of the Riverside 
Stadium, the Transporter Bridge and the Eston 
hills and I am reminded of the many iconic 
landmarks on Teesside by just making my journey 
to work in the morning. However, Teesside has 
had a difficult time this year with the closure of 
local employers such as the steel works and the 
impact this has had on other local industries and 
businesses dependent on them.  This, in turn, has 
understandably had an impact on workers, their 
families and livelihoods.  The SSI Health Task 
Force has continued to ensure there is support for 
people to take care of their emotional wellbeing 
during very difficult times through psychological 
therapy (talking therapy), available to both 
workers and their families. This support is also 
available of course to all people affected by the 
significant job losses experienced in a number of 
local industries, not only the steel works. 

The challenging socio-economic climate can be 
felt across Middlesbrough and Redcar and 
Cleveland at individual level, but also at public 
sector organisation level, with all public 
organisations having very challenging financial 
targets and the need for efficiency and 

effectiveness.  Agencies recognise the imperative 
need to work collaboratively to have greater 
combined effect and impact. In South Tees  we 
have  some huge health challenges with men and 
women dying sooner than if they lived elsewhere 
in the country, often from cancer, heart disease, 
stroke or illnesses caused  by smoking or alcohol.   

Refreshing our vision this year has kept us 
focused upon reducing preventable differences in 
people’s health. This includes encouraging 
everyone to have greater responsibility for their 
own health, with support from accessible, high 
quality, services that are designed around local 
people and their needs. This must however be 
affordable and we have worked hard to ensure 
that we get the best possible health benefit for 
every pound we spend. We have really benefitted 
from increased public and patient engagement 
and involvement this year with events around 
strategy development, commissioning intentions, 
and networks including GP patient participation 
groups (PPGs) and our own Patient and Public 
Advisory Group. 

Following on from our IMProVE transformation 
programme (Integrated Management and 
Proactive care of the Vulnerable and Elderly) 
which saw us bringing care out of hospital where 
possible and taking it closer to people’s homes, 
this year we have been developing an urgent care 
strategy. During the urgent care engagement 
events over the summer people told us that the 
urgent care system was confusing, not everyone 
knew about 111 or knew they could access 
advice from a pharmacist about urgent care 
problems. In addition, many people thought A&E 
should be for those with trauma, or emergency 
life threatening problems, and that access to 
general practice was valued.  

To develop our strategy we engaged during the 
summer months then underwent formal 
consultation from January through to the 
beginning of April with the Making Health Simple 
consultation. It was great that we managed to 
speak to so many people during the events and 
we received nearly 2000 completed consultation 
questionnaires.  We have learnt a lot from the 
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public and other stakeholders during the 
engagement and consultation, and the Governing 
Body will make a decision in early July as to how 
we will deliver urgent care services from April 
2017.  

During the urgent care consultation people told us 
they valued access to their GP practice.  This 
year we have also developed our Primary Care 
Strategy, which recognises the need for change 
in primary care in order to manage the demands 
of a population living longer, with a greater 
number of more complex long-term health 
conditions.  Nationally there is a shortage of GPs, 
and this situation is amplified in South Tees with a 
difficulty recruiting GPs. Many practices have 
expanded the skill mix of their primary care 
workforce with experienced nurse practitioners 
and practice nurses.  We are working alongside 
other partners to encourage more medics and 
nurses to come into the area to train, and then 
remain here.  We know we have a lot to offer as a 
place to both live and work so please join us in 
spreading the word about Teesside. 

Through the STAR (South Tees Access and 
Response) scheme funded by the Prime 
Minister’s Challenge Fund, practices across 
South Tees are working together to provide 
extended hours services on evenings and 
weekends.  This collaboration is set to continue 
with practices moving towards the formation of a 
federation of practices across South Tees 

meaning they will work much more in partnership, 
and in some cases work as one. 

The Better Health Programme focuses on the 
provision of sustainable, high quality health care 
across the larger geography of Durham, 
Darlington and Tees now and into the future. The 
CCG, along with other partner agencies, has 
been involved in shaping plans for acute hospital 
services alongside developing services in the 
community for care that does not need to be 
delivered in a hospital setting. Engagement 
events are ongoing with a public consultation on 
proposed future plans planned for later in 2016. 

In addition to the challenges and opportunities 
already mentioned above, the year ahead also 
includes the CCG accepting delegated 
responsibility for the commissioning of primary 
care services from April 2016. This will allow us to 
have greater influence over how services are 
delivered in primary care which will underpin the 
enhanced provision of care closer to home for the 
population of Middlesbrough and Redcar and 
Cleveland. This is an important and exciting 
opportunity for us and I look forward next year to 
sharing how this work unfolds.  

 
Dr Janet Walker  
Governing Body Chair  
16 May 2016 
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On our cover: IV antibiotics in the 

community 
 

The CCG has invested in a new service to 
provide intravenous (IV) antibiotics in the 
community for some of our patients. This has 
been delivered as part of South Tees CCG’s 
IMProVE (Integrated Management and Proactive 
Care for the Vulnerable and Elderly) programme. 
The programme aims to improve health services 
for vulnerable and elderly patients in 
Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland, by 
investing in community services to enable more 
patients to be treated closer to home. 

The service has been made available for patients 
with non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis. This is a 
long-term condition where the airways of the 
lungs become abnormally widened and damaged 
leading to recurrent chest infections. All 
community matrons in Middlesbrough, Redcar 
and Cleveland have now been trained to 
administer IV antibiotics. 

“It’s just wonderful being able to stay at home and have 

this treatment. You are in your own environment and 

relatives don’t have to worry about visiting times and 

parking - it’s just so much nicer. There’s no comparison 

when you can be in your own home following your own 

routine” - Anne, who has four children, five 

grandchildren and four great-grandchildren and 

was first to benefit from the new service. 

Before the service was introduced, some patients 
spent 14 days in hospital up to three times a year 
for IV treatment, when they were otherwise fit and 
well.  

The new service has a number of benefits.  Most 
importantly, it avoids the need for patients to 

spend time in hospital, and allows them to receive 
treatment conveniently in their own home. A 
patient does not have to worry about visiting 
times, or parking charges and can follow their 
own routine.  

It also frees up beds in the hospital for those 
patients most in need.  

“We are the second hospital trust in the region to 

introduce this service for patients with non-cystic fibrosis 

bronchiectasis. The first two doses of antibiotics are 

administered in hospital to make sure there are no side 

effects and then the rest of the IV antibiotic treatment is 

given at home by the community matron team. It’s very 

patient focussed.”  -Dr George Antunes, consultant 

respiratory physician 

In the future, it is planned that the service will be 
used to administer antibiotics to patients with 
chronic lung disease.  

 

Ann Clarke, the first patient to receive IV 
antibiotics in the community pictured here with the 

clinical team from South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust.  
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 Performance Report 
The Performance Report contains the following: 

1. Overview 

 Purpose and activities of the organisation 
 How we work 
 Clinical leadership in commissioning 
 Risks and challenges 
 Performance statement from the Chief Officer   

2. Report on patient and public involvement 

3. Performance, quality and finance analysis  
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Overview

About us 

South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
is responsible for commissioning healthcare for 
the population registered with GP practices within 
the boundaries of Middlesbrough Council and 
Redcar and Cleveland Council. We are also 
responsible for the population living within the 
boundaries of these two local authorities who are 
not registered with a GP practice.   

We are a membership organisation made up of all 
GP practices in Middlesbrough and Redcar and 
Cleveland, spanning a population of 293,000. Our 
budget is £418.9 million which equates to £1,380 
per person. In 2014/15 there were 46 member 
practices in Middlesbrough and Redcar and 
Cleveland; this year, three of our practices 
merged and will now work as one across two sites 
– this takes the number of our member practices 
to 44.   

We commission a specific set of healthcare 
services that include: 

 General non-specialised planned inpatient 
and day case hospital services 

 General non-specialised urgent care services 
from hospitals and walk-in centres, NHS 111 
and local ‘out of hours’  services 

 General non-specialised maternity and 
children’s services 

 Community services 
 Non-specialised mental health services 
 Continuing health care and free nursing care 

services 
 Medicines prescribed by the GP practices 

within the CCG boundary 
 Other non-specialised diagnostic and 

treatment services such as x-ray or hearing 
aid services 
 

Of the services that we do not commission the 
majority are commissioned by NHS England 
including: 

 Specialised services  

 Primary care services e.g. GP services, 
dentists, opticians and pharmacists 

 Oral surgery and dental services from 
hospitals 

 Healthcare for members of the armed forces  
 Healthcare for people in prison 

 

Specialised services are those that are typically 
provided in less than 50 hospitals in England. 
Definitions of the services are listed on the NHS 
England website. 

Public Health England is the national body 
responsible for commissioning screening and 
vaccination services. Local public health services 
including school nursing and health visitor 
services are commissioned by the local 
authorities. 

Changes to our commissioning 

responsibilities 

From 1 April 2016, we have delegated authority 
from NHS England to commission primary care 
services delivered in GP practices. This does not 
include dental services and optometry services. 
This means that we have greater influence over 
how services are delivered in primary care and 
will enable us to move further with our vison for 
more care to be delivered closer to where people 
live. This will help to ensure that people will only 
have to go to hospital when it is clinically 
necessary.  

Our priorities  

Our responsibility for commissioning starts with 
assessing the needs of the population and then 
planning services to meet identified needs. 
Services are secured through contracts with the 
organisations that provide health services. We 
then monitor those services through the contracts 
to ensure high quality care is delivered. 

In the South Tees area we face some big health 
challenges.  These include: 
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 Overall health inequalities with significant 
differences in the health of some groups 
within our population 

 Cancer 
 Heart disease and stroke 
 Illnesses caused by smoking 
 Illnesses caused by alcohol 
 Managing hospital admissions and demand 

within primary care services 
 Financial pressures 

How we spend our budget  

The chart below provides an overview of how we 
spent our allocated budget for 2015/16 to deliver 
the best possible health services and health 
outcomes for local people. We achieved financial 
balance, which means that we used our 
resources well, and did not underspend or 
overspend.  

The chart reflects the proportion of our total 
commissioning budget that is spent on hospital 
and community services, continuing healthcare, 
prescribing and other services.  

 

 

Our objectives  

This year we refreshed our corporate vision and 
objectives; these are our strategic high level goals 
that set out our ambitions and importantly how we 
will achieve them. Our Governing Body receive 
regular updates on how we are moving towards 
delivering these objectives. 

Our vision is 

“Improving the quality of life for all in our community, 

reducing preventable differences in people’s health, 

encouraging everyone to have greater responsibility for 

their own health, supported by accessible, high quality 

services that are designed around people and their 

needs” 

Our strategic objectives are focused on: 

ensuring the populations we serve are able to 
access healthcare services that are safe, 
effective, person centred and high quality both 
now and in the future 

supporting and encouraging people and their 
carers to take control of their own health and 
make informed choices about where and 
when to access healthcare 

working with our populations and partners to 
reduce preventable differences in physical, 
mental and social wellbeing across the 
populations we serve 

ensuring the decisions we make are informed by 
best evidence alongside the needs and views 
of local people 

ensuring we get the best possible health benefit 
for every pound we spend 

exploring and developing the integration of the 
health and social care system to benefit the 
populations we serve 

 

.  

 

 

 

 

Our duties  

When established, CCG functions and duties were 
set out in each organisation's constitution. A copy of 
this can be found on our website.  

Spotlight on Dementia  

Our Dementia Collaborative is shaping the redesign of services and links between services. 

This is a joint programme with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, South Tees 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland Borough Councils 

and representatives of carers, service users and the voluntary and community sector. 
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Health and Wellbeing Board 

Partners  

To tackle the health challenges our population 
faces, we have developed a clear vision to improve 
health together working with our local partners. 

We continue to work closely with our two Health and 
Wellbeing Boards, in Middlesbrough and Redcar 
and Cleveland.  We have already produced and 
published a Clear and Credible Plan which sets out 
our five year commitment to tackling health 
inequalities and improving the health of local 
people. The plan is aligned to the health and 
wellbeing strategies that have been developed by 
both Boards.  

This year, ourselves and the Boards have devoted a 
considerable amount of time ensuring appropriate 
action was taken in relation to the mass job losses 
experienced across our communities. It is well 
known that redundancy and unemployment have a 
significant and detrimental impact on health and 
wellbeing. Support from the CCG included: 
enhanced talking therapy provision with a fast track 
facility for those affected; health trainers and talking 
therapy services at job fairs; increased welfare 
advice provision delivered from GP practices and 
investment in relationship support services. We 
recognise that the impact of such change can be 
sometimes slow to emerge yet can also be long 
lasting, and we are working to continually offer 
support to those affected.   

Other matters for discussion included: the 
transformation of child and adolescent mental 
health services; the CCG’s strategy for urgent care 
services; the Due North report on health 
inequalities; the work of the Mental Health Crisis 
Care Concordat; pharmacy health needs analyses; 
the Better Health Programme; along with local 
health priorities such cardiovascular disease and 
cancer 

Quality 

We have a responsibility to ensure that the CCG 
commissions safe, good quality and effective 
services that result in positive experiences for 
patients. We have a specific duty to ensure 

improvements in the quality of services. The quality 
analysis report on pages 42 to 47 sets out our 
responsibilities and how we are meeting them. It 
also shares how our commissioned providers are 
achieving quality standards and where improvement 
is needed.  

Health inequalities 

We have a duty to have regard to the need to 
reduce health inequalities. Health inequalities are 
preventable differences in health; these differences 
could be for example due to the area in which 
people live, their ethnicity or sexuality, or due to 
other health conditions such as a learning disability 
or mental health problems. Our work in this area 
has gained momentum this year following the 
establishment of our Health Inequalities Steering 
Group. This group brings together our local 
Directors of Public Health along with two of our 
Governing Body GPs to enable the CCG and the 
local authorities to work together to reduce 
preventable differences in health within our 
communities. Page 29 has more detail on how we 
have been tackling health inequalities.  

Public involvement and consultation 

We have a duty to involve the public in the planning, 
development and consideration of proposals for 
changes and decisions affecting the services we 
commission. This year we have been involved in a 
number of conversations with local people about our 
plans; this has included our urgent care proposals 
and the Better Health Programme which is about 
meeting patients’ needs now while also ‘future 
proofing’ services for the coming generation. See 
pages 23 to 28 for more about how we involve local 
people in what we do and pages 22 and 23 have 
specific information about our urgent care 
consultation.  

Furthermore, the results of our engagement with 
local people over the last few years as part of our 
IMProVE work (Integrated Management and 
Proactive Care for the Vulnerable and Elderly -see 
page 13) has continued to influence how we shape 
services for the vulnerable and elderly. This year for 
example we have been piloting a weekend district 
nursing clinic in East Cleveland in direct response to 
patient feedback in our public consultation.  



Overview 

12 
 

Dr Rashpal Singh, 
from the 

Endeavour Practice 
in Middlesbrough 

with his Bright 
Ideas in Health 

Innovation Award. 

Research and Innovation  

We have a duty to promote both research and 
innovation, which can be very beneficial to patients 
and make better use of resources.  

We regularly use evidence from research to inform 
commissioning decisions. However, we believe it is 
as important to contribute to the evidence as it is to 
draw upon it. A number of our member practices are 
research practices. This means that they take part 
in clinical trials and research studies and patients 
can volunteer to be part of these. We also support 
our local NHS Trusts who take part in or lead 
research projects; this is usually through funding 
any additional costs from new or different 
treatments which may be delivered as part of the 
research.    

In 2015/16 we invested in primary care research 
and innovation originating from our member 
practices supporting projects to benefit patients in 
the areas of: 

 A prehabilitation toolkit for primary care staff to 
help patients optimise health prior to and after 
surgery  

 Yoga in a primary care setting for people with 
conditions such as musculoskeletal stiffness 
and anxiety and depression 

 Anatomical aids to increase uptake in cancer 
screening for people with a learning disability  

 A multimorbidity clinic providing holistic, patient 
centred care for people with a number of long 
term conditions or diseases.  
 

We also have two 'Innovation Scouts' who are 
supported by the Academic Health Science 
Network. Their role is to encourage, identify, 
support and implement innovation across our 
member practices and also in our commissioning.  

In May, one of our Scouts Dr Rashpal Singh, from 
the Endeavour Practice in Middlesbrough, was 
runner up in the Bright Ideas in Health Awards for 
his work on a community based pulmonary 
embolism pathway.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dr Singh, along with our Partnership and 
Innovations Manager has supported a number of 
practices to develop innovative ideas.  

Our risks and challenges 

All organisations face risks which may prevent them 
from being able to achieve what they set out to. 
There are always challenges along the way too and 
we work hard to overcome these so that we can 
achieve our objectives. Significant risks for us this 
year have included:  

 the quality of care and system resilience if 
providers, including primary care, cannot 
address and manage the issues affecting 
prevalence of  C. difficile 

 the reduction in national funding for GP IT which 
may result in financial risk to the CCG  

 potentially inadequate ambulance service, 
particularly in rural areas, if ambulance provider 
is unable to deliver operational standards in 
relation to emergency provision 

 the quality of care for patients if providers are 
unable to achieve cancer 62 day operational 
standards. 

We continually review these risk areas, and identify 
ways in which we can tackle the challenges we face 
with the intention of eliminating or reducing the risk 
of these events occurring. Our Governing Body 
regularly reviews our most significant risks.  

More detail on our principal risks can be found on 
pages 103-104.



Overview 

13 
 

Delivering care locally: 

£1.5m boost for community 

therapy service   
 

 

Director of Integrated Therapies Barbara Stoker (front) 
with the therapy team 

We are investing in therapy services as part of our 
IMProVE (Integrated Management and Proactive 
Care for the Vulnerable and Elderly) programme. 
This aims to treat more people in the community, 
and to provide further support to hospital patients to 
help them regain their independence.  

We are investing £1.5m in therapy services to 
improve patients’ experiences of this service. Prior 
to this investment there could be up to a four week 
wait for occupational therapy in the community and 
up to eight weeks for physiotherapy. As a result of 
this investment, from 1 April 2016 all non-urgent 
patients should be seen within two weeks by the 
community therapy team. 

The investment will also see a central point of 
contact created for referrals to ensure patients 
always go straight to the correct therapist for their 
rehabilitation.  

Therapy services will also be provided seven days a 
week from community hospitals. A more effective 
level of treatment will also be delivered to patients in 
their own homes.  

Our investment will enable South Tees Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust to recruit an additional 35 
therapy staff. Existing staff will be provided with 
advanced training in specialist areas such as 
respiratory, stroke/neurology, complex 
musculoskeletal conditions and dementia. 

This additional provision has two benefits. Firstly, it 
will minimise the amount of time patients need to 
spend in hospital. Secondly, it will see waiting times 
significantly reduce for patients requiring 
rehabilitation at home. 

”A review of local community therapy services in 2013 

revealed that 60% of patients in our primary care 

hospitals would have benefitted from a higher level of 

occupational therapy and physiotherapy. 

This substantial investment means we are now able to 

provide this extended service for patients across 

Middlesbrough, Redcar and Cleveland. 

This is fantastic news as it will help prevent avoidable 

hospital admissions, reduce admissions to care homes, 

shorten the amount of time people have to stay in hospital 

and increase the range of rehabilitation services we can 

provide closer to home”. 

Barbara Stoker, Director of Integrated Therapies for 

South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

National recognition for IMProVE 
In November 2015 we were successfully shortlisted from 1600 
applications for a Health Service Journal Award, the UK's largest 
awards for healthcare excellence. The programme received recognition 
for improved partnerships reflecting our joint working with local 
authorities and South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. We were 
also shortlisted for a North of England Commissioning Support award.  
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How we deliver our plans 

The way we work 

Our CCG is built around our GP member practices, 
led by the Governing Body. This includes six GPs 
elected by the member practices, an executive 
nurse and a retired secondary care doctor, as well 
as three Lay Members, the Chief Officer and a Chief 
Finance Officer. The clinicians form the majority of 
the Governing Body membership meaning that they 
lead and shape the commissioning of local health 
services. 

We have a small team of 26 core staff employed in 
the administration of the CCG; 23 we directly 
employ (including our Chief Officer and Chief 
Finance Officer) and three members of our quality 
team which we share with our neighbouring CCG, 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical 
Commissioning Group. This year two members of 
our staff have taken up external secondments.  

To help us deliver our duties and plans we purchase 
a wide range of support functions from a 
commissioning support unit (North of England 
Commissioning Support). This organisation spans 
the North East and Cumbria and enables us to 
achieve value for money by providing the traditional 
back office functions at scale. It also means that we 
can draw upon knowledgeable and experienced 
commissioning support experts from across the 
region and learn from, and share, best practice with 
other CCG organisations. 

Planning 

We analyse demographic and historical information 
to assess the levels of services that are likely to be 
required in future years. We work with local 
authorities to develop Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessments (JSNA) for the local population which 
informs our work. This is principally based on the 
expected population growth and anticipated 
changes in the age and gender profile of the 
population. This is combined with an assessment of 
historic trends experienced up to the current period. 
In addition, more specific factors are reviewed that 
take account of the latest national guidance for 
some services, introduction of new technology and 

new medicines. This overall assessment of service 
requirements is then analysed over the 12 month 
period to identify the appropriate seasonal profile. 

We review patients’ pathways or journeys through 
our local services; these reviews form the core of 
the CCG’s workstream activities. The results of 
these reviews are combined with the overall activity 
planning information and intelligence gathered from 
partner and public engagement to form the CCG’s 
potential commissioning intentions for each year. 
We then work with our contracting team to agree 
contracts with health providers based on the 
commissioning intentions. 

Clinically-led 

commissioning: clinicians 

championing care 

Clinical workstreams 

In order to deliver our plans for improving people’s 
health and local services, we established a number 
of clinically led groups called ‘workstreams’ which 
have been leading improvements in local services 
over the last 12 months. 

Our workstreams are led by local clinicians working 
with doctors, nurses and practice managers from 
our membership, along with other NHS, local 
authority, and voluntary and community sector 
partners to understand how services need to be 
delivered and, where required, change.  

They have been developed to implement new ways 
of working to ensure the best use of NHS resources 
and the best outcomes for patients drawing upon 
the clinical and non-clinical expertise of our 
membership. 

Over the last year our workstreams have reviewed 
services to identify improvements, considered 
opportunities for innovation and new ways of 
working, and developed commissioning plans for 
the year ahead.  

Our workstreams have demonstrated positive 
partnership working particularly in our IMProVE 
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programme, winter planning, urgent care and health 
inequalities. Our workstreams are: 

 Care Closer to Home  
 Medicines Optimisation  
 Health Inequalities  
 Mental Health and Learning Disability 
 Quality in Primary Care  
 Systems Resilience and Urgent Care  

Care Closer 

to Home – 

Dr Teik Goh 

and Dr Ruth 

Johnson 

The workstream focuses on non-urgent, planned 
and responsive services delivered in local hospitals 
as well as the community. It has an emphasis on 
delivering care closer to patients’ homes where it is 
safe to do so. The group meets regularly with 
hospital clinicians to discuss and review the 
services we commission, making changes when 
needed. The workstream also supports the 
implementation of the IMProVE programme (see 
page 13) by managing projects which support the 
development of our community infrastructure.  

Achievements include development of a new step-
up medical model of care for primary care hospitals; 
introduction of a comprehensive adult non-cystic 
fibrosis bronchiectasis service which includes IV 
therapy being delivered in patients’ homes; revised 
patient pathways for musculoskeletal services to 
ensure patients are seen by the right person at the 
right time; and improvements to rapid response and 
district nursing services. 

Medicines Optimisation 

– Dr Roger Wheeler 

The workstream’s focus is to assist 
prescribers in making the most 
cost effective use of medicines, as 
prescribing is one of our largest 

areas of spend. The workstream considers a range 
of medication issues and works to ensure that 
prescribing is both safe for patients and evidence-

based. We have worked to ensure robust 
arrangements are in place for specialist drugs, and 
that shared care is embedded between primary and 
secondary care clinicians so patients receive 
optimum care.  One of the most important projects 
that the workstream has led this year has been 
around antibiotic prescribing. Engagement with our 
GP colleagues has focused on the need to reduce 
the prescribing of unnecessary antibiotics to 
patients presenting with non-bacterial infections. 
This local work is essential in order to assist with 
both reducing the rise of global antimicrobial 
resistance and in reducing the incidence of 
Clostridium difficile infection locally (see page 22 for 
more information).  Another important area of work 
that the workstream has progressed with GP 
practices has involved working with care homes to 
ensure residents are receiving regular medication 
reviews.  

Health 

Inequalities-

Dr Vaishali 

Nanda and 

Dr Ali 

Tahmassebi 

This year we established a Health Inequalities 
Steering Group.  This group brings together our 
local Directors of Public Health along with two of our 
Governing Body GPs, Dr Vaishali Nanda and Dr Ali 
Tahmassebi, to enable the CCG and the local 
authorities to work together to reduce preventable 
differences in health. We have already made good 
progress in a short time, with ‘Deep Dives’ of data 
relating to lung cancer and diabetes – two of our 
biggest priorities.  

In addition, we have considered parity of esteem for 
people with a mental health condition and discussed 
the impact of job losses in our community. The 
Group has been working to explore how we better 
commission a more coordinated care pathway 
approach to smoking cessation when in hospital. 
This will ensure whenever and wherever a decision 
is made to stop smoking timely, expert support is 
available. 
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Mental Health 

and Learning 

Disabilities –

Dr Angel 

Carrasco and 

Sister Pam 

McNeice 

Dr Angel Carrasco and Sister Pam McNeice are 
our mental health and learning disability clinical 
leads respectively, each with a distinct portfolio. 
Dr Carrasco has been leading the implementation 
of our mental health strategy as well as focusing 
on ensuring effective transition arrangements 
from child and adolescent mental health services 
to adult mental health services.  Pam McNeice 
has been leading work to improve the number of 
GP annual health checks offered to, and taken up 
by, people with a learning disability.  

Achievements include the implementation of our 
Mental Health Strategy; a learning disability 
transformation plan and action plan; development 
of children and young people’s emotional 
wellbeing transformation plan which incorporates 
the recommendations of the ‘Future in Mind’ 
report to improve children’s mental wellbeing, and 
the continuation of a child and adolescent mental 
health crisis service supporting young people in 
crisis and aiming to reduce self-harm and related 
admissions. 

Quality in Primary Care 

– Dr Fiona McHardy 

The workstream welcomed Dr 
Fiona McHardy as Chair in 
September 2015 and thank her 
predecessor Dr Tony Boggis for 

his contribution to improving quality. This group is 
crucial to the delivery of many of our other 
workstream initiatives along with fulfilling our duty 
to support NHS England to improve the quality of 
primary care services. The workstream developed 
and delivered an education strategy to support 

the on-going professional development of primary 
care teams through a range of education 
sessions. including dementia, diabetes, heart 
failure, ear irrigation for nurses and medical 
updates for GPs. In addition, the workstream has 
focused on assessing quality in general practice 
and through our practice support pathways assist 
practices where required to reduce variation and 

continually improve.   

Systems Resilience & 

Urgent Care – Dr Mike 

Milner   

The Systems Resilience Group 
consists of partners who have a role in identifying 
system wide issues and solutions to manage 
pressures in health and social care services. The 
group has worked on the development of a 
strategy for urgent care; reviewed walk-in 
services; along with reviewing how paediatric 
patients access urgent care services. This has led 
to a proposal and full public consultation on the 
future direction of urgent care services in the 
South Tees region (see pages 22 and 23). 

Achievements include the implementation of 
winter resilience schemes to help urgent care 
services deliver the national standards for care 
during times of pressure. These schemes 
included a GP at the front of A&E; increased 
senior decision making staff in the A&E 
department and increased social worker cover at 
James Cook University Hospital to help discharge 
patients to the right place of care. 

Clinical Leads 
In addition to the local clinicians leading our 
workstreams, we also have a number of our 
clinicians in leadership roles who work with 
primary and secondary care colleagues to ensure 
the services we commission meet the needs of 
local people, are of a high standard, provide a 
good patient experience and make best use of 
our local NHS resources.  We have doctors 
leading the following areas of work: 
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Cancer and End of 

Life– Dr Nicky Miller 

Preventing and tackling cancer is 
one of our priorities and one of 
our biggest health challenges.  
This year, working with partners 

we have been developing a Tees Cancer 
Strategy that will set out how we will do more to 
prevent cancer, detect it early, and support those 
going through treatment and recovery.  Dr Miller’s 
cancer work has continued through engagement 
with the James Cook University Hospital 
Macmillan Cancer Integration Project, advising on 
all primary care related issues.  This work will 
deliver cancer education to primary care 
practitioners.  She has also contributed to 
meetings of the cervical screening strategy team 
and consultations with Cancer Research UK 
around screening uptake. Dr Miller continues to 
lead the end of life stakeholder group which 
promotes dialogue between the CCG and 
providers of specialist palliative care.  This group 
has facilitated the development of a new role of 
specialist palliative care nurse for education in 
care homes and informs our current palliative 
care project which is in the early stages.  Her 
work in education is ongoing with four half day 
courses planned for a Dying Matters skills course 
and five education sessions throughout 2016 
focussing on palliative and cancer related issues.   

Macmillan 

GPs- Dr 

Naveed Azam 

and Dr Gerald 

Fernandez 

The two newly appointed Macmillan GPs (Dr 
Fernandez for Redcar & Cleveland and Dr Azam 
for Middlesbrough) will be working alongside our 
clinical lead for cancer to promote cancer care of 
all kinds and improve delivery of palliative care.  
In particular, this will involve working with GP 
practice teams to analyse local data with the hope 
of improving early referral and diagnosis rates. 
They will also be helping to plan and deliver at 

least five Macmillan funded education events 
across the year for local nurses and GPs, and 
one CCG funded session on cancer referral 
criteria.  They will also be contributing to 
workstreams as part of the second phase of the 
Macmillan Cancer Integration Project at South 
Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, 
particularly on learning and development.  

Integration –Dr 

Heather Wetherell 

The case for better integration 
between all parts of the health 
and social care system is well 
established.  Dr Wetherell works 

with clinicians from both the CCG and South Tees 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and her role is to 
improve communication, relationships and 
continuity between primary and secondary care. 
This work has attracted some national attention 
recognising the importance of positive working 
relationships between professionals, which has 
been supported by social activities such as 
weekend walks – the ‘Rambling Medics’. Dr 
Wetherell also brings local clinicians together by 
arranging a variety of joint education ventures 
such as over diagnosis; dealing with death and 
communication. She also attends the monthly 
junior doctors’ induction sessions at South Tees 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust to promote joint 
working, and has established the ’working as one’ 
website 

Deep End – Dr Charles 

Cornford 

Based on the ‘Practices at the 
Deep End’ project in Scotland, 
this project involves GPs from 
some of the most deprived 

practices within South Tees. Drawing on the 
experience of these GPs, this group works 
together to share innovative ideas to help patients 
in deprived areas throughout South Tees.  

This includes a ‘Practice Champion’ which could 
improve access to GP surgeries for the medically 
unwell, by providing volunteer support within 
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practices to patients with non-medical concerns. 
Another proposed idea is a ‘Patient Navigator’ 
which could help patients fully understand the 
treatment options available to them after a cancer 
diagnosis so that the patient undertakes the 
treatment most appropriate for them.  The Deep 
End project continues to forge strong links and 
work collaboratively with partners from both the 
statutory and voluntary sectors in reducing health 
inequalities across South Tees. 

Back Pain– Dr Rajesh 

Khapra (until October 

2015) 

Dr Khapra has been working 
closely with the Academic Health 
Sciences Network and health 

colleagues across the region to implement a new, 
evidence based clinical pathway for back pain. 
The new integrated way of working makes more 
efficient use of NHS resources and enables 
patients to manage their own condition through 
the provision of sound advice as well as gaining 
access to treatment services where needed. 
Implementation of the pathway will ensure local 
services across South Tees and indeed the 
region meet national standards for best practice.  

GPIT, NHS111 and 

Learning Disability – Dr 

David Royal 

Sharing of information across 
organisations to benefit patients 
is finally starting to happen on 

the ground. Dr Royal is involved in the region 
wide Digital Transformation Programme which 
aims to make shared records across all health 
settings a reality across the North East and 
Cumbria. He chairs the Durham, Darlington and 
Tees Primary Care IT Strategy and Governance 
Group.  He has also been working closely with 
Pam McNeice developing electronic templates to 
enable the input of health check data for people 
with a learning disability onto GP IT systems. He 
is also running a project to better understand and 
capture capacity and demand in primary care and 

how this has changed over the last three years. 
This is now producing very useful data to inform 
both planning and commissioning activities. 

NHS 111 – Dr Peter 

Heywood 

NHS 111 has become a major 
national and regional focus 
through the Vanguard 
programme, building on the 

strong work undertaken since its inception. 
Further development of the existing service has 
led to updates of the directory of service to aid 
patient direction to services. Along with clinical 
colleagues from other CCG areas, Dr Heywood 
has helped develop and adapt the service 
through local and regional structures to improve 
the experience for patients. Regular ‘end-to-end’ 
reviews of patient pathways are conducted to 
assess the effectiveness of the service and 
identify areas for improvement. Current areas of 
work include development of the clinical hub, 
direct access booking to GPs, sharing clinical 
records, reviewing the level of clinical input for 
complex calls and ambulance dispositions. 

Named GP for 

Safeguarding Children– 

Dr John Bye 

Dr Bye was appointed in 
September 2015 to support GP 
practices to improve the 

experience of vulnerable children and families.   
He has supported the delivery of education 
sessions to the Lead GPs for Safeguarding 
Children from each GP practice and looked to 
improve child protection processes.  Monthly 
bulletins have been disseminated to each GP 
practice to raise awareness of some key issues 
affecting children and young people.  Dr Bye has 
also worked collaboratively with the Local 
Safeguarding Children Boards and other 
agencies such as social care, the police and 
education. 



Overview 

19 
 

Performance Statement: 

How did we do?  
We have performed well on 
behalf of our local population in a 
number of areas this year.  

We have delivered on the 
statutory duties placed upon us 
under the NHS Act 2006; details 
as to how we delivered on duties 

relating to quality improvement, innovation, 
reducing health inequalities and involving local 
people can be found in the Overview (pages 9-
18) and the performance and quality analyses 
(pages 30-41 and pages 42-47).   

Our focus on the delivery of our strategic 
objectives (page 10) has been maintained 
throughout the year. Good progress has been 
made particularly in relation to ensuring the 
decisions we make are informed by best evidence 
alongside the needs and views of local people. 
This can be evidenced through the extensive, 
creative and wide ranging involvement activities 
we have undertaken this year, and the 
implementation of our IMProVE plans that were 
informed by significant public engagement and 
consultation undertaken last year. We continue to 
work effectively with partners for the benefit of the 
South Tees population and the health and social 
care system; some of this partnership work was 
recognised in the shortlisting of our IMProVE 
programme for a national health award (see page 
13 for details).  

Throughout the year we have been subject to 
assurance visits by the local branch of NHS 
England. Their role is to ensure CCGs are 
fulfilling their statutory duties and exercising their 
functions effectively to benefit local patients. NHS 
England has been assured by our plans and 
programmes, and importantly our approach to 
tackling some of the challenges we face locally. 
Overall, we have received an assurance rating 
from NHS England of ‘good’. 

With regards to nationally set targets, in the 
majority of cases we have met or indeed 

exceeded the performance standards expected of 
us and the services we are responsible for 
commissioning.  

We have achieved or exceeded the expectations 
placed upon us in the areas of:  

 18 week wait from referral to treatment 
 Two week urgent referral for suspected 

cancer 
 Two week referral for breast symptoms   
 31 day wait for from diagnosis to cancer 

treatment 
 Four hour wait for A&E services.  

 

I am delighted to report that no one in South Tees 
who required an anti-cancer drug regimen has 
waited longer than 31 days, none of our patients 
have shared wards with a person of the opposite 
gender (mixed sex accommodation) and almost 
100% of people with a mental health condition 
eligible for the care programme approach (CPA) 
have received a care plan.  

We always strive to do better and although we 
have achieved national targets in many areas, we 
acknowledge our performance has nonetheless 
slightly decreased in comparison to previous 
years. 

In some cases this year however we need to 
improve elements of our performance and that of 
our commissioned services. We have not met the 
expectations placed upon us in the following 
areas: 

 62 day wait from urgent GP referral to first 
definitive treatment of cancer 

 Category A calls where a response is required 
in 8 minutes  

 Category A calls where a response is required 
in 19 minutes  

 Number of cases of healthcare acquired 
infection such as C.difficile and MRSA 

 Small number of breaches of the 52 week wait 
target for treatment although performance has 
improved throughout the year.  
 



Overview 

20 
 

With regards to cancer, unfortunately despite 
exceeding this target last year, we did not achieve 
the maximum two month (62 day) wait from 
urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for 
cancer this year. This means 158 out of 784 
people waited longer than 62 days.  

Our ambulance services have been challenged 
for another year largely by the national shortage 
of ambulance service staff. As a result 31.5% of 
potentially life-threatening urgent calls waited in 
excess of 8 minutes for an ambulance to arrive. 
This is not acceptable for our population. 
Therefore we are working closely with other 
CCGs, and the Trust has provided action plans 
detailing how the position will be recovered in 
2016/17. This plan has been, and will continue to 
be, monitored regularly in contract meetings, the 
CCG’s Clinical Quality Review Group and at the 
Quality, Performance and Finance Committee. 

As previously outlined, we have faced challenges 
with regards to the delivery of our objectives 
regarding quality and safety. Our commissioned 
service providers have continued to report 
healthcare acquired infections, with more being 
reported than in the previous year, and there is 
more we need to do to reduce infection. In 
addition to dedicated local action with our 
provider, we have increased integrated working 
with a number of health partners and fellow CCGs 
resulting in the development of a Tees Valley 
Infection Prevention and Control collaborative. 
This will bring partners together to learn, share 
and spread good practice which we can all benefit 
from.  

Whilst in most cases our providers have 
performed well with regards to waiting times, a 
small number of our patients this year (nine 
people) have waited longer than 52 weeks for 
treatment, while no one waited longer than this 
period of time last year.  

The quality premium rewards efforts to tackle key 
priorities and has released funds for us to invest 
in local health services. In 2014/15 we achieved 
£205,965 of our quality premium to invest locally, 
however we were working towards and would 
have liked to have achieved more. At the time of 

writing the forecast for 2015/16 is that we will 
again partially achieve the quality premium 
resulting in an estimated £600k. However, some 
of the data upon which our final performance is 
measured will not be available until September 
2016. Further details regarding the quality 
premium can be found on page 41.  

We have delivered a £7.278 million surplus at the 
end of the year. Throughout 2015/16, we have 
applied good financial governance principles 
enabling us to meet the health needs of local 
people delivered through our commissioned 
services as well as releasing additional resource 
to support our third Community Innovation Fund, 
investing up to £200k in community based 
services for local people. 

Our work to reduce health inequalities has been 
enhanced by the establishment of our Health 
Inequalities Steering Group where we are 
focusing on targeted work in priority areas of 
cancer and cardiovascular disease. This dynamic 
group, working with the local authority Directors of 
Public Health, has already led to the introduction 
of open access chest x-ray and the exploration of 
a jointly commissioned seamless pathway 
approach to smoking cessation, including an in-
hospital service. This group also ensures due 
regard is given to health inequalities in all that we 
do and inequality analysis is now embedded 
within our project planning documentation to 
ensure this is factored into all our activities.  

In addition, to meet our duties regarding 
promoting research and innovation to transform 
local services for the second year we established 
a Primary Care Research and Innovation Fund. 
We received almost twice the amount of 
proposals from our membership as we did last 
year and we supported four exciting new 
initiatives developed by local GPs to improve the 
care and treatment they give to their patients. 
These were research and new ways of working in 
the areas of primary care yoga; a new clinic to 
better support people with a number of different 
long term conditions in one visit; a toolkit to help 
GPs support patients recover after surgery by 
improving their heath before treatment, and 
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equipment to better explain cancer screening to 
people with a learning disability.  

We will evaluate the impact of these new ways of 
working in 2016/17 and if there are significant 
benefits to patients we would look to implement or 
commission some of these initiatives across 
Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland. 

Working with our membership  

We have continued to work with and engage our 
membership to ensure that all the GPs, nurses, 
allied health professionals and practice managers 
have had opportunity to influence the 
commissioning and delivery of services for their 
patient population.  

For a third year, the Chair and Chief Officer have 
visited our 44 GP practices to talk with our 
members about their experience of clinical 
commissioning, and the local NHS and social 
care system. We get valuable insight into the 
quality of care provided to local people and ideas 
for how we could further improve the services we 
commission.  

We have continued to have well attended Clinical 
Council of Members meetings, bringing together 
all practices to engage in commissioning matters 
and the group is independently chaired by a non-
Governing Body clinician. This year, we have met 
five times and have discussed: 

 The reporting of quality and safety concerns in 
primary care and in commissioned services 

 Regular updates on our IMProVE programme 
 Safeguarding, including child sexual 

exploitation 
 Urgent care consultation 
 Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund – South 

Tees Access and Response (STAR) scheme 
 Primary Care Strategy 
 Reflections from other CCGs 
 Primary care co-commissioning  
 Community service specifications.  

 

We are delighted to have a number of new 
clinicians join our team this year bringing their 
clinical expertise and passion for high quality, 
patient-focused care to the areas of children’s 
safeguarding and cancer. More details of our 
clinical leads can be found on pages 14 to 18. 
Furthermore, from April 2016 two nurse 
practitioners will be working in leadership roles for 
the organisation ensuring a broad range of clinical 
input into our work.  

In summary  

There is much to be proud of this year. In 
particular our performance against a number of 
national targets; the extent of our engagement 
and developing relationships with local people 
and groups; the passion and commitment of our 
membership to commission continually improving 
services for patients; and the ongoing 
implementation of our IMProVE programme which 
is ensuring more care than ever is being provided 
closer to where people live.  

However, we do acknowledge that the failure to 
achieve externally determined expectations, and 
indeed our own expectations, in the areas of 
ambulance response times and healthcare 
acquired infections is unacceptable.  Although the 
root causes of some of these challenges are out 
with our control, as an organisation we are 
committed nonetheless to ensuring improvements 
for the people of South Tees. As we have done 
throughout 2015/16 we will continue to work 
proactively, collaboratively and creatively with our 
commissioned service providers and partners to 
ensure high quality NHS services for the people 
of South Tees.   

 
 
 
 
Amanda Hume 
Chief Officer 
26 May 2016 
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BME Network members from the African and 
refugee community at a Making Health Simple 

discussion group 

Learning from our diverse population 
We recently conducted a review of urgent care services. This included a 12 week public consultation called 
“Making Health Simple: Right Place, First Time” focusing on minority, marginalised and disadvantaged 
groups and communities. As well as taking part in the consultation itself, people were also involved in pre-
engagement activities that helped develop the consultation options that were shared with the general 
public.  In addition to other consultation engagement activity, Groundwork facilitated 60 targeted discussion 
groups on behalf of the CCG.  Over a third of these groups were non-white British. Groups such as carers, 
homeless people and people who have Alzheimer’s disease were also involved so they could influence 
decisions relating to the health services they use.  
The aim of the consultation was to hear what local people thought about the development of the NHS 111 

telephone service and increased access to GP 
services through either four, six or eight extended 
hours GP centres – all with access to full patient health 
records.  A further discussion topic was a proposal to 
have a GP working at the front of A&E with the aim of 
relieving pressure on A&E services. Patients who don’t 
need to be there would then be signposted to more 
appropriate services. 
“To help make sure everyone has a voice, we connected with 

all sectors of the community. These proposed changes are 

important to make sure we deliver high quality care closer to 

home.”   Amanda Hume, Chief Officer  

 

Antibiotic quality engagement scheme 
GP practices in the Durham, Darlington and Tees 
area have historically prescribed more antibiotics 
than the England average. A report in 2014 
highlighted that prescribing rates were 40% 
higher than in London.  

High levels of antibiotic prescribing can lead to 
antibiotic resistance, which is a major public 
health issue. High prescribing levels are also 
associated with infections such as Clostridium 
difficile, and ESBL (extended spectrum beta 
lactamase) as well as urinary tract infections. In 
order to address this challenge, we launched the 
Quality Engagement Scheme. 

The scheme was designed to support effective 
antibiotic prescribing through providing resources 
to prescribers, such as: 

 The regional primary care antibiotic 
prescribing guide with smart phone app 

 e-learning packages 
 Self-care information leaflet. 

Practices were also encouraged to carry out peer 
reviews of antibiotic prescribing and share 
examples of best practice they had introduced in 
their practices. Richard Bellamy, local infectious 
diseases consultant, was also invited to one of 
the meetings to discuss and present on antibiotic 
prescribing. 

Results so far are encouraging. Over a rolling 12 
month period covering January 2015 to 
December 2015, we have decreased our total 
volume of antibiotic prescribing by 6.6% 
compared to a national decrease of 6.4%.
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Working with 

communities: 

patient & public 

engagement  
Active engagement and involvement is a 
fundamental part of the process that enables us 
to identify the health priorities and service needs 
of people living locally. Although we have a 
statutory duty to involve people in decisions about 
healthcare and health services, we also believe 
passionately in this.  It helps to ensure that we 
are able to commission high quality services that 
meet the needs of our patients and provide the 
best possible quality of care. At the same time, 
this helps to optimise the effective spending of 
public money as well as developing our 
relationships.  

The year at a glance 

 Reaching out to local people  

We have held 53 public events this year, more 
than ever before, and these discussions with local 
people are crucial to our development as an 
organisation. Our MY NHS membership has 
increased, and in some cases, our social media 
following has almost doubled.   

Our public engagement targets our whole 
population and takes account of groups and 
individuals offered protection under the Equality 
Act 2010 who are sometimes described as 
‘seldom heard’.  This year through our Community 
Innovation Fund we supported a project delivered 
by the Regional Refugee Forum to help us 
develop relationships with new communities 
ensuring their views are heard and that their 
experiences inform our commissioning.   

This year has also seen the development of 
Voices for Choices, a service-user led initiative 
with the aim of further increasing the voice of 
people with mental health problems and their 

carers in decisions around NHS services. The 
group was given start-up funding last year 
through our Mental Health Innovation Fund and 
this year there have been several events to 
determine its direction and start to build a profile 
among service users. We believe that this is a 
positive step forward, and there are continued 
discussions as to how the group and its wider 
network can influence commissioning in the 
round. 

Along with our urgent care consultation this year, 
these are some examples of how we are actively 
reaching out to local people and communities to 
seek their views and experiences.  

 Urgent Care 

During 2015/16 we focused on engaging people 
in how we can make changes to improve our 
urgent care system. This included 16 public 
events at which we were able to have 
conversations with patients about our challenges 
and our plans on how best to deliver these 
services in the future.  

In addition, we commissioned independent 
voluntary sector organisation Groundwork to 
engage with a wide range of groups and 
communities on our behalf to seek a broad and 
diverse range of views and experiences with 
regards to urgent care services and our 
proposals. This work included engagement with 
seldom heard groups e.g. groups whose first 
language is not English but also older people, 
people using maternity services, lesbian, gay, 
bisexual and transsexual (LGBT) groups, people 
who were homeless, people with a disability, a 
range of black and minority ethnic communities 
(BME) and faith groups, people who were 
unemployed and ex-offenders. As a direct result 
of the work Groundwork has undertaken, we have 
developed an understanding of the experience of 
these groups using urgent care services along 
with any actual or potential barriers and 
challenges they face and how services could be 
more accessible.  

Furthermore a copy of the urgent care 
consultation survey was sent to every postcode in 
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the South Tees area along with details of all the 
public events taking place to ensure as many 
people as possible had an opportunity to help 
shape our work.  

Collectively, this engagement activity resulted in 
us having some meaningful, in-depth 
conversations with local people gaining a wealth 
of views, opinions and experiences all of which 
will be taken into account and will inform how we 
take forward urgent care services. More details 
can be found on pages 22 and 23.  

 Patient and Public Advisory Group 

We have benefited greatly from our newly 
established Patient and Public Advisory Group 
(PPAG) and we hope that this has been an 
equally valuable experience for the group’s 
membership. The group brings together six local 
people as core members to share their views and 
advise us as critical friends.  More detail about 
the group can be found on the ‘Get Involved’ 
section of our website.  

 IMProVE 

Importantly, we have continued to take forward 
what we learnt from our conversations with the 
public in previous years which informed our 
IMProVE programme. This year, for example, we 
have been piloting a weekend district nursing 
clinic in East Cleveland as a direct response to 
patient feedback in our public consultation. 

 
 Better Health Programme 

Working with CCGs across Darlington, Durham 
and Tees we have held a series of listening 
events to engage with local people and 
stakeholders about  the Better Health Programme 
The Programme aims to seek views on how out of 
hospital services can be better utilised to meet 
the increased demand from our local population. 

Governing Body meetings 

Our Governing Body meetings are open to the 
public so that people can observe the Governing 
Body at work. The papers for these meetings can 
be found on our website. We offer a ‘question 

time’ when members of the public can ask 
questions and make comments on items on the 
agenda.  

 

Our Governing Body 

Communications and engagement 

strategy 

We have developed a communications and 
engagement strategy. This sets out how we 
involve local people in our decision making; how 
we listen and respond to the views of experts and 
professionals; and how we work with our 
members, local partners and other stakeholders 
to improve the health and wellbeing of local 
people.   

We are developing a detailed work plan which will 
enable us to monitor and continuously improve 
the way we work with local people. This will help 
us achieve our corporate objectives and support 
strategic engagement by providing a focus for 
debates on local needs and priorities for 
improvement.  

We believe we are heading in the right direction; 
our IMProVE work is an example of how the 
views of local people have shaped our plans and 
local services but we are constantly striving to do 
better. Our urgent care engagement and 
consultation work is another example of our 
approach.  
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Working with the public to 

develop commissioning plans  

As with previous years, in September 2015 we 
shared our proposed commissioning plans for the 
year ahead, which we call our ‘commissioning 
intentions’ with CCG members and partners as 
well as with the public.   

We invited patients and carers to share their 
views on current services and asked them what 
should be commissioned in the future.  We 
reviewed the comments and feedback, and used 
this to inform the ongoing development of the 
commissioning intentions within our clinical 
workstreams (see pages 14 to 16).  We published 
the intentions on our website and shared them at 
a public event which was advertised in the press 
and through social media. Partners, including 
Healthwatch and the voluntary development 
agencies, also promoted the event through their 
networks.    

This year we completed a review of the Life Store 
based in Middlesbrough and the views of the 
public were crucial to this work. The outcome of 
the review suggested a new model could better 
meet the needs of people in both Middlesbrough 
and Redcar and Cleveland.   

As a result, we will no longer deliver services from 
the Life Store and we will work with partners to 
develop an equitable service for the South Tees 
population.  We would like to take this opportunity 
to thank the whole Life Store team and the 
commissioned service provider Pioneering Care 
Partnership (PCP) for supporting the public to 
improve their health over the last three years.   

An example of the action we have taken as a 
result of listening to the public as part of the Life 
Store review, is working to maintain town centre 
access to audiology services including hearing 
aid battery provision. We are working with South 
Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and our 
contracting team to see what is possible in a 
community setting. 

Supporting local GP patient 

participation groups 

Most GP practices have patient participation 
groups (PPGs) that meet regularly or 
communicate by email. While groups have been 
established for the purpose of supporting practice 
improvements, we recognise the value and 
expertise of the patients that attend these PPG 
meetings.   

We continued in 2015/16 to meet regularly with 
the Redcar and Cleveland and Eston PPG 
representatives, and we established a similar 
model with Middlesbrough PPGs.  These 
meetings have enabled us to understand more 
about what matters to patients and share our 
plans. They are also an opportunity to discuss 
how the practices could work in partnership with 
the CCG, to influence future commissioning 
intentions and to build meaningful relationships 
with each other.    

Better Health Programme (BHP) 

The Better Health Programme involves meeting 
patients’ needs now whilst also ‘future proofing’ 
services for the coming generation.  

 

A local Better Health Programme public event 

The programme involves health and social care 
organisations from across Darlington, Durham 
and Tees working together and aims to improve 
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services whilst considering key challenges 
including: 

 The changing health needs of local people 
 Meeting recommended clinical standards of 

care 
 Availability of highly trained and skilled staff 
 High quality seven-day services 
 Providing care closer to home 
 Making the best use of our money. 

 

In February and March 2016 the CCGs from 
across Darlington, Durham and Tees held a 
series of listening events to engage with local 
people and stakeholders. The Better Health 
Programme aims to seek views on how ‘out of 
hospital’ services can be better used to meet the 
increased demand from our local population. To 
find out more about the programme visit 
www.nhsbetterhealth.org.uk.  

2015 Annual General Meeting 

(AGM) and Health Fair  

Our AGM and health fair held on 9 September 
2015 was very popular with local people trying out 
a smoothie bike and receiving a range of health 
and social care information and advice.  

 

The formal AGM was well attended and Amanda 
Hume, Chief Officer gave an overview of our 
priorities and noted some of the challenges we 
had faced along with highlighting some of our 
achievements. 

Our Chief Finance Officer, Simon Gregory, 
presented the Annual Accounts followed by a 

question and answer session with members of 
the public and an opportunity for networking. 

Sponsorship 

This year we were proud to support our local 
community and sponsored the following valuable 
events: 

 South Tees Voluntary and Community Sector  
Awards - Improving Health and Wellbeing 
award 

 Middlesbrough 5k run and 2k fun run 
 Gazette Community Champion Awards – 

Champion Carer award 
 Looked After Children and Care Leavers 

Achievement Awards - Positive About Health 
award 

 Redcar and Cleveland Voluntary 
Development Agency Volunteer Awards - 
Health & Wellbeing Champion award 

Champion Carer award winner Carolyn Bean (left) 
with Dr Janet Walker, CCG Chair 

Encouraging innovation in health 

services  

For the third year, we had patient representatives 
involved in reviewing submissions to the 
Community Innovation Fund; and for the second 
year, our Primary Care Research and Innovation 
Fund. The panels reviewed proposals alongside 
clinicians and operational staff and shared their 
views. This enabled a consensus to be reached 
for each application and a recommendation made 
to the CCG Executive for final decision regarding 
what should be funded.   

http://www.nhsbetterhealth.org.uk/


Working with communities: patient & public engagement 

27 
 

Partnership working  

We believe that we can only achieve our vision if 
we commit locally, regionally and nationally to 
‘improving health together’.  We continue to 
develop meaningful partnerships with local 
organisations and individuals to ensure we 
collectively deliver excellent services for the 
people of South Tees.   

Working with the voluntary and 

community sector  

We know that the voluntary and community sector 
has knowledge, resource, relationships and 
experience that we do not have. The role of the 
voluntary and community sector (VCS) is crucial 
not only for the range of services they offer to 
local people but importantly  the intelligence they 
can offer to influence local commissioning. The 
sector also enables us to engage with some 
communities that are sometimes referred to as 
‘seldom heard’. Over the past 12 months we have 
been working with local community groups to run 
a number of engagement events and activities 
including Groundwork and Voices for Choices. 

Healthwatch – Being accountable  

Healthwatch is an independent consumer 
champion created to gather and represent the 
views of the public. We have constructive working 
relationships with Healthwatch Middlesbrough 
and Healthwatch Redcar and Cleveland and we 
meet quarterly to share issues and progress. 
Recent Healthwatch reports on GP access, 
cancer and dementia have been presented to the 
CCG along with the actions taken in response to 
Healthwatch’s recommendations.  

 

 

A Tweet providing feedback on our AGM 

MY NHS 

We are working hard to include local people in the 
shaping of our health services. MY NHS is our 
online membership scheme, designed to enable 
people to get involved in local commissioning 
decisions.  In particular, it has been developed as 
a mechanism to allow those who may find it 
difficult to get involved in a more traditional way to 
have their say. This might include young people, 
those in full-time employment, shift workers or 
people with family or other commitments. 

83 people joined MY NHS this year, taking our 
total to 865 members.  

By becoming a member of MY NHS people will: 

 receive regular updates about the work of the 
CCG 

 receive invitations to events 
 have opportunities to give their views about 

areas of healthcare that interest them 
 be able to participate as much or as little as 

they like by choosing their own level of 
membership. 
 

More detail about MY NHS can be found on the 
‘Get Involved’ section of our website. 

www.southteesccg.nhs.uk 

Our website has been refreshed this year 
responding to feedback from our public 
engagement events.  The refresh has enabled us 
to review the language we use and to ensure the 
site is accessible and uses plain English.  Our 
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Patient and Public Advisory Group (PPAG) also 
contributed to this by reviewing the section on the 
CCG’s complaints process and offering ways in 
which we could improve this. The site acts as a 
key source of information on our engagement 
activities. 

Twitter  

We recognise that social media is a great way to 
interact with people and it is rapidly growing in 
popularity. We have worked hard this year to 
improve our use of Twitter to share key messages 
and stimulate discussion.   

 

For example we regularly ‘tweet’ an overview of 
the discussions from our fortnightly Executive 
meeting.  We also share information such as the 
CCG team’s activities in support of charity.  

This year we have almost doubled our number of 
Twitter followers taking us from 734 at the start of 
the year to 1310 in March 2016, and numbers 
continue to increase.    

Follow us @SouthTeesCCG  
https://twitter.com/SouthTeesCCG  

The year ahead 

We will develop our communication and 
engagement activities throughout 2016/17 to 
include: 

 Engaging people who don’t traditionally share 
their views with us - we want a broader view 
from our local population so we will be 
reviewing how we deliver messages and think 
about how we can target messages 

 Further strengthening relationships with 
partner organisations and groups to enable us 
to work more efficiently together and with 
communities to improve services for local 
people.  We have done some positive work 
this year and would like to develop this again 
in 2016/17 

 Develop the membership and the functionality 
of MY NHS to improve access and encourage 
more people to sign up and connect with us. 

 

Feedback received following some of our 

public events: 
 

 

 

 

 

A very useful 
meeting. I felt able 

to ask any 
question. 

Very interesting discussion. 
Good leader, listened and 

answered. Things now 
clarified. Urgent need now to 
educate and inform the health 

service users. 

I came here about closure – 
about the Walk in Centre.  I 

feel clearer now about what is 
happening.  

https://twitter.com/SouthTeesCCG
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Reducing health inequalities
Health inequalities are preventable differences in 
health.  

As a CCG we must, in the exercise of our functions, 
have regard to the need to reduce inequalities 
between patients in terms of the services they 
access and their health outcomes. 

We are embracing the Five Year Forward View’s 
‘radical upgrade of prevention’ agenda 
commissioning some additional, and perhaps non-
traditional, new services to support local people and 
reduce the inequalities that exist within our 
communities. 

Welfare rights and advice 

GPs in South Tees report that a high number of 
patients who present to them experience financial 
problems. This can have a negative impact on a 
patient’s physical and mental health which in turn 
can affect family members such as children.  This 
also places additional pressure on local health 
services.   

Recognising this, along with recent job losses in the 
community, we increased our commissioning of 
primary care based welfare advice services which 
are delivered in GP surgeries. The service is 
designed to ensure that patients are claiming all of 
the benefits to which they are legally entitled.   

Such advice has been shown to reduce the number 
of GP appointments by 13%. In some cases it 
reduces the number of antidepressants prescribed 
by 22%, and reduces the number of hypnotics and 
anxiolytics prescribed by 58%. Importantly, research 
also suggests that 80% of patients reported 
improved physical or mental health after receiving 
welfare advice.  

Welfare advice in primary care helps to address a 
number of health inequalities. For example, people 
who are unemployed or with a disability are more 
likely to be affected by changes to welfare benefits. 
This may impact on their health and worsen their 
condition. 

“It is a not infrequent scenario in General Practice. A 

distressed patient appears, very upset that their benefits 

have been reviewed and cut but the patient may qualify 

for other benefits.  The welfare advice service supports 

these patients who more often than not would otherwise 

require psychological help, as well as the local economy 

which sees money brought in. - Dr Nigel Rowell, GP, 

Endeavour Practice 

Open access chest x-ray 

Rates of lung cancer in South Tees are significantly 
higher than the England average. Some areas in 
South Tees are within the top five nationally. In 
addition, more lung cancer patients in South Tees 
are diagnosed as emergencies compared to the 
England average e.g. following a visit to A&E.   

Being diagnosed late in this way can have a 
negative impact on prognosis so an early diagnosis 
provides greater opportunity for successful 
treatment.   

For example, 87% of people diagnosed at Stage 1 
survive for at least a year, compared to less than 
20% for those diagnosed at Stage 4. Being 
diagnosed as an emergency can also be 
additionally distressing.  

In light of these issues, working with the Public 
Health Shared Service we have commissioned an 
open access chest x-ray pilot. This allows a patient 
to self-refer for a chest x-ray, provided they meet 
certain clinical criteria. It means they do not have to 
see their GP first.  

The pilot is aimed at current smokers, aged over 50, 
who live in the TS1 and TS3 postcodes. These 
areas have been targeted as they have higher rates 
of lung cancer mortality than the England average, 
and also have high rates of deprivation.  

A person can attend either James Cook University 
Hospital or the One Life Centre.  It is anticipated 
that between 5,000-7,000 people a year will be 
eligible for a chest x-ray, with around 100 abnormal 
results requiring further investigation.
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Performance, quality and finance analysis  

Performance analysis  
Providers of NHS-funded services have a responsibility to comply with national and local performance 
standards to ensure that the public can receive care in a timely manner, and that common standards of 
quality are upheld across the health service. Monitoring performance also helps us in understanding the 
effectiveness of services, together with the role of quality assurance and financial management. 

Performance is recorded at the end of each month for the year beginning 1 April 2015 and ending 31 March 
2016. 

Our NHS Constitution commitment 

The NHS Constitution sets out the rights of an NHS patient. These rights cover how patients access health 
services and the quality of care they will receive. Patients’ rights under the NHS Constitution and our 
performance against these indicators is detailed below. 

The indicators are set out in the following layout: 

Name of standard 

 

Standard 90% 

 

2013-14 90.4% 

2014-15 94.37% 

Apr-Jun 
2014 

94.10% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

95.68% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

85.00% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

75.00% 

Referral to treatment (RTT) times for non-urgent consultant-led treatment 

(incomplete pathways) 

Patients have the legal right to start their NHS consultant-led treatment within a maximum of 18 weeks from 
referral. On 1 October 2015, the National Health Service Commissioning Board and Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (Responsibilities and Standing Rules) (Amendment) (No.2) Regulations 2015 came into effect, 
removing the provision for a patient pause. This means that when a patient chooses to delay treatment, 
perhaps due to a planned holiday, this is still counted against the 18 weeks. 

The two RTT measures (admitted and non-admitted) relating to completed pathways were abolished and 
the financial penalties for both have been suspended, meaning that the percentage of incomplete pathways 
seen within 18 weeks (92%) has become the sole measure of performance for this standard. This means 
that rather than measure the amount of time patients waited after they have received treatment (‘completed 

95.00% 

98.00% 

90%

95%

100%

2014/15 2015/16

92.00% 

91.00% 

85.00% 

75.00% 
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Statistics shown in 

central table 

Comparison of this 

year and last year - 

target line in orange 

This year, divided into 

quarters to show trends 

within the year 
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pathway’), the RTT metrics now measure how long patients currently waiting for treatment have been 
waiting since their referral (their pathway is ‘incomplete’).  The financial penalty for incomplete pathways 
breaching 18 weeks above the threshold of 8% has now doubled (from £150 to £300). 

Performance against the 18-week referral to treatment standard for patients on an incomplete pathway has 
remained compliant since last year; however each quarter’s performance is slightly lower than in 2014/15. 
The year-to-date position by the end of quarter 4 in 2014/15 reported 95.9%, well above the 92% threshold.  
At the same point in 2015/16 performance was 93.6%.  

Percentage of patients incomplete pathways waiting no more than 18 weeks 

 

Standard 92.0% 

 

2014/15 95.9% 

2015/16 93.6% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

95.0% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

93.5% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

93.0% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

93.0% 

 

At the end of the year 173,761 patients remained on an incomplete 18 week pathway, of which 11,098 
patients continued to wait in excess of 18 weeks for treatment.   

Percentage of patients incomplete pathways waiting no more than 52 weeks 

 

Standard 0 

 

2014/15 0 

2015/16 9 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

5 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

4 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

0 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

0 

 

The other remaining target for patients on an incomplete pathway is that no patients should be waiting 
more than 52 weeks for treatment.  Unfortunately, we have breached this target for the year, reporting 9 
breaches as of March 2016. All breaches occurred in months April 2015 – August 2015.  Following 
publication of the revised guidance in October 2015, there have been no breaches of this standard. 

95.9% 
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93.0% 

93.0% 
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Diagnostic test waiting times 

During the year 407 people (0.97%) from a total of 41,986 people requiring one of 15 diagnostic tests 
waited more than six weeks.  

Percentage of patients waiting six weeks or over 

 

 
Standard < 1.00% 

 

2014/15 0.92% 

2015/16 0.97% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 1.12% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 0.95% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 0.84% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 0.96% 

 

South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust took actions to increase their capacity to respond and the 
situation has stabilised in the latter part of the year. 

In response to breaches of this standard we have worked closely with South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust to develop action plans specific to those key areas failing the standard.  This is being 
undertaken in line with our contract management board processes, as reported through the Quality, 
Performance and Finance (QPF) Committee.  

On the whole, breaches have been attributable to unforeseen circumstances, such as failure of equipment. 

Cancer waiting times 

We have met all of the standards for waiting times for cancer assessment and treatment this year with the 
exception of the 62 day urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment target, and the 31 day subsequent 
surgery treatment target.    

Performance against other cancer standards such as the 2 week wait standards, has improved or remained 
the same as it was in 2014/15.  In particular, improvements have been made for the 31 day subsequent 
drug and 31 day subsequent radiotherapy targets. 
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Maximum two-week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred urgently with 

suspected cancer by a GP 

 

Standard 93.0% 

 

2014/15 95.3% 

2015/16 94.9% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

95.9% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

93.9% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

95.7% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

94.2% 

 

During the year 431 patients from a total of 8,640 waited more than two weeks for an oupatient 
appointment when referred by their GP urgently with suspected cancer.  This means that 94.9% of patients 
were seen within two weeks from receipt of referral.  

 

Maximum two week wait for first outpatient appointment for patients referred urgently with 

breast symptoms (where cancer was not initially suspected) 

 

Standard 93.0% 

 

2014/15 95.8% 

2015/16 95.6% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

95.5% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

96.2% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

95.5% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

95.0% 

 

During the year  61 people from a total of 1,375 people who were referred urgently for an outpatient 
appointment with breast symptons waited more than two weeks. This means that 95.6% of people were 
seen within the two week time frame.  
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Maximum one month (31 day) wait from diagnosis to first definitive treatment for all cancers 

 

Standard 96.0% 

 

2014/15 98.4% 

2015/16 98.0% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

98.4% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

98.0% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

97.3% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

98.4% 

 

The 31 day first definitive treatment standard covers all types of treatment used to treat patients in the first 
instance, whether treated with surgery, hormone therapy, chemotherapy, radiotherapy or even a 
combination of the two (chemoradiotherapy).  Anything that follows the first definitive treatment is classed 
as a subsequent treatment, which must also be started within 31 days from the date the decision to have 
this further treatment is made.  The subsequent treatment standards are split up into individual treatment 
types; surgery, radiotherapy and drug based therapies.  

During the year, 28 patients out of 1,399 patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 31 days for 
their first cancer treatment to commence.  This means that 98% of patients were seen within 31 days. 

Maximum 31 day wait for subsequent treatment where that treatment is an anti-cancer drug 

regimen 

 

Standard 98.0% 

 

2014/15 99.4% 

2015/16 99.7% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

100.0% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

100.0% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

100.0% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

98.8% 

 

During the year, only one drug-based subsequent treatment from a total of 395 treatments was 
commenced after 31 days. Drug based treatments include hormone therapy, chemotherapy and 
photodynamic therapy. 
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Maximum 31 day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is surgery 

 

Standard 94.0% 

 

2014/15 97.5% 

2015/16 93.8% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 94.9% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 98.2% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 90.0% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 92.4% 

 

During the year, 15 subsequent surgical treatments out of a total of 241 subsequent surgeries booked did 
not take place within 31 days from the decision to treat date. This means that 93.8% of surgeries were 
delivered in line with the target.  

Maximum 31 day wait for subsequent treatment where the treatment is a course of 

radiotherapy 

 

Standard 94.0% 

 

2014/15 98.9% 

2015/16 99.2% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

100.0% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

99.3% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

98.5% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

99.1% 

 

During the year, a total of 517 subsequent radiotherapy treatments took place, of which 513 (99.2%) 
commenced within 31 days from the decision to treat date. 
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Maximum two month (62 day) wait from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for 

cancer 

 

Standard 85.0% 

 

2014/15 89.9% 

2015/16 79.8% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

80.1% 

Jul-Sep 
2014 

82.4% 

Oct-Dec 
2014 

78.7% 

Jan-Mar 
2015 

77.6% 

 

During the year, 158 patients out of 784 patients who were diagnosed with cancer waited over 62 days for 
treatment to commence, following urgent referral from their GP. The percentage of patients treated within 
62 days has decreased when compared to 2014/15 performance.  

In response to significant underperformance of this standard, we have created a Cancer Task and Finish 
Group to focus on implementing actions to improve performance and patient outcomes.  The Cancer Task 
and Finish Group has developed and implemented a programme of work across three key areas: quality, 
pathways and performance. 

Oversight of the Cancer Task and Finish Group is via the South Tees System Resilience Group (SRG).  
Both the CCG and South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust executives have approved this approach 
and are committed to resolving cancer 62 day pressures at the earliest opportunity.  This commitment has 
been further demonstrated through increased investment to support the delivery of key actions, including 
implementation of the new Macmillan Cancer Care Co-ordinator post.  This is an innovative new post to 
support patients throughout their pathway of care. 

Maximum 62 day wait from referral from an NHS screening service to first definitive treatment 

for all cancers 

 

Standard 90% 

 

2014/15 98.2% 

2015/16 96.8% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

100.0% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

95.7% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

92.9% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

96.8% 
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During the year, 4 people from a total of 125 people who were diagnosed with cancer, waited over 62 days 
for treatment to start, following referral from an NHS screening service. This means that 96.8% of people 
were treated within 62 days of a screening referral.  

Maximum 62 day wait for first definitive treatment following a consultant’s decision to upgrade 

the priority of the patients (all cancers) 

 

2014/15 92.0% 

 

2015/16 88.5% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 87.5% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

50.0% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

100.0% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 100.0% 

 

On 26 occasions, a consultant decided to upgrade the priority of a patient’s referral to a 62 day target due 
to a suspicion of cancer.  Out of 26 patients, 23 patients (88.5%) were then treated within 62 days. 

Accident and emergency  

The Accident and Emergency (A&E) NHS Constitutional indicator is measured against provider 
performance, therefore the CCG’s performance is reported in line with that of our main provider, South 
Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.     

Despite pressures of increasing demand and corresponding pressures across the urgent care system, the 
Trust met its target that at least 95% of patients should be seen, treated, admitted or discharged in under 
four hours. Overall, the Trust’s performance against the NHS Constitutional indicator was achieved at the 
year-end position reporting 95.2%.  

South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was the only Trust in the North East to achieve the A&E target 
in Quarter 3 (October –December); a significant achievement in an increasingly challenging environment. 
This was accomplished through significant investment through the CCG led System Resilience Group 
(SRG) and Better Care Fund (BCF) to support both patient flow and additional senior decision maker 
capacity in A&E, further strengthened by increased system wide working as a result of the Integration 
Programme Board and the implementation of our IMProVE programme as previously reported. 
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Percentage of patients spending 4 hours or less in A&E or minor injury unit 

 

2014/15 95.0% 

 

2015/16 95.2% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 94.7% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

96.9% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

95.7% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 93.3% 

 

Ambulance response times 

We commission ambulance services from North East Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust including the 
requirement to deliver all operational standards. The continued decline in performance against the national 
standards for ambulance response times remains a concern, and therefore the CCG is working closely with 
other CCGs and the Ambulance Trust have provided an action plan detailing how the position will be 
recovered in 2016/17. This plan has been, and will continue to be, monitored regularly in contract meetings, 
the Clinical Quality Review Group and at the CCG’s Quality, Performance and Finance Committee. 

CCGs from across the North East continue to work collectively to monitor the impact of changes carried out 
by North East Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust and seek assurance that progress has been made to 
reduce ambulance response times. 

Category A calls resulting in an emergency response arriving within 8 minutes (Red 1 & Red 2) 

 

Standard 75% 

 

2014/15 73.6% 

2015/16 68.5% 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

74.6% 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

72.8% 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

66.0% 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

62.1% 

 

During the year, 6,984 people from a total of 22,180 people who required an ambulance urgently because 
their condition was considered immediately life threatening, waited over 8 minutes for the ambulance to 
arrive. This means that an ambulance arrived within 8 minutes for 68.5% of people.  
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Category A calls resulting in an ambulance arriving at the scene within 19 minutes 

 

Standard 95.0% 

 

2014/15 94.1% 

2015/16 92.9% 

Apr-Jun 
2014 

95.5% 

Jul-Sep 
2014 

94.9% 

Oct-Dec 
2014 

91.3% 

Jan-Mar 
2015 90.4% 

During the year 1,574 people, from a total of 22,101 people who required an ambulance to attend urgently 
but did not have a condition considered immediately life threatening waited over 19 minutes for the 
ambulance to arrive.  This means that an ambulance arrived within 19 minutes for 92.9% of people.  

Healthcare associated infections  

Expectations regarding healthcare associated infections (HCAIs) are set by NHS England, and CCGs are 
expected to manage the system in line with these standards.  Whilst significant effort has been made to 
deliver these expectations, there have been increases in the number of cases of methicillin-resistant 
staphylococcus aureusis (MRSA) and Clostridium difficile (C.difficile) for our patients.   

Instances of Clostridium difficile 

 

Standard <91  

 

2014/15 112 

2015/16 114 
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Of the 114 cases of C. difficile, 35 were acquired in hospital and attributable to South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, one case was attributable to Newcastle-upon-Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, and 
78 cases were acquired in the community.  
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Instances of methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureusis (MRSA) 

 

Standard 0 

 

2014/15 5 

2015/16 5 

Apr-Jun 
2015 

1 

Jul-Sep 
2015 

1 

Oct-Dec 
2015 

2 

Jan-Mar 
2016 

1 

The expectaion is that hospitals will not have any cases of MRSA infection. During the year, two cases of 
MRSA were reported by South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. There were also 5 cases reported in 
the community that are attributable to the CCG.   

Building upon the previous year’s intensive work, we are working with the Trust to compile and refresh an 
HCAI action plan for the forthcoming year; this is to be an integrated provider and CCG action plan. 

Mixed-sex accommodation 

There were no breaches of the mixed sex accommodation standard in 2015/16.  This provides assurance 
that South Tees CCG patients have received high quality care that is safe and effective while respecting 
their privacy and dignity at a vulnerable time.  

Mental Health Care Programme Approach 

The CPA is used by mental health providers to create and review joint care plans together across 
professional boundaries with the service user.  This measure shows the proportion of people on the Care 
Programme Approach (CPA) discharged from mental health inpatient services, receiving follow up within 7 
days. In 2015/16, 98.5% of service users from our area were on the Care Programme Approach.   

% on Care Programme Approach 

 

Standard 95.0% 
 

 

 

No quarterly trend data available. 2014/15 98.8% 
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Quality Premium 

The quality premium is intended to reward CCGs for improvements in the quality of the services that they 
commission and the associated improvements in health outcomes and reducing inequalities. The quality 
premium awarded to CCGs in 2016/17 reflects the quality of the health services commissioned by them in 
2015/16, and is based on four national measures and two local measures.   

The total payment for a CCG based on performance against the four national measures and the two local 
measures is reduced if commissioned providers of health services did not meet NHS Constitutional rights 
or pledges for patients which are; incomplete referrals to treatment 18 week wait; A&E four hour wait; 
cancer two week wait & eight minute response times for ‘category A’ ambulance calls.  

The total amount possible for CCGs to receive in achievement of the quality premium is £5 per patient in 
the CCG’s population; this amounts to £1,373,100 for our CCG. 

We achieved 15% of the quality premium in 2014/15 and therefore received £205,965 to invest locally. This 
was classed as below average performance when compared to the regional achievements of other CCGs. 
The average award across CCGs in the North of England was 22%. 

Achievement for the 2015/16 quality premium is currently unknown due to the timing of published data; 
however we are forecasting achievement of circa £600,000.  It is however known that 20% of the quality 
premium will be lost as a result of non-compliance of ambulance response times.  
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Quality Analysis 

Quality is at the centre of all we 

do.  

The CCG has a responsibility to ensure that we 
commission safe, good quality and effective 
services that result in optimal outcomes and 
positive experiences for patients.  

We understand that securing continuous quality 
improvement in our commissioned services is an 
ongoing process. To support this we have 
established mature and robust internal and 
external quality assurance mechanisms. These 
ensure we are aware of all aspects of quality, and 
are able to constructively challenge, scrutinise 
and assess individual provider’s performance and 
service delivery. These mechanisms are 
described in our Quality Framework, which was 
refreshed in June 2014 and will be reviewed 
again in 2016. This outlines our approach to 
quality which is to manage and champion the 
local clinical quality agenda, improving clinical 
effectiveness, safety and patient experience as 
described in the NHS Outcomes Framework. 

To assist in the delivery of this we use a variety of 
tools, processes and mechanisms when 
reviewing our commissioned services. This work 
is undertaken in a collaborative manner with a 
wide range of partners and stakeholders from the 
health and social care economy, including patient 
representatives and their carers. This approach 
assists in obtaining the appropriate levels of 
evidence based assurance as well as an 
understanding of the reality of how these services 
feel for patients, families and carers. These 
activities inform and shape our quality and 
safeguarding annual work programme. 

Our priorities this year 

Our strategic priorities for improving quality in 
2015/16 have centred upon:  

Francis (Mid Staffs Report) work programme 

The Francis Inquiry reported on the causes of the 
failings in care at Mid Staffordshire NHS 

Foundation Trust between 2005-2009. The report 
issued a number of recommendations and we 
developed a local work programme in response. 
This year we have refreshed and built upon the 
progress that has already been achieved in 
previous years.  

Transforming care (for patients with 

learning disabilities) 

Transforming care is a framework that enables 
patients currently in inpatient settings to be safely 
and appropriately settled into person centred 
community settings, wherever possible. This has 
involved us working with NHS England in the 
implementation and monitoring of a programme of 
work to review, assess, design and commission 
services to improve outcomes and lives of 
individuals. 

Care homes 

During 2015/16 we have undertaken 26 clinical 
quality audits within nursing care homes for the 
local area. These assessments focus on nine 
clinical areas: 

 Nutrition and hydration 
 Pressure care management 
 Patient falls - risk assessment and 

management 
 Infection prevention and control 
 Dementia care  
 Continence care  
 Palliative care 
 Care planning 
 Supervision and leadership. 

 

Following each audit a comprehensive action plan 
is developed to address any concerns identified. 
Follow up review visits are undertaken as 
appropriate, to monitor the provider’s progress 
against the action plan. These are then shared 
with our partner agencies, the Care Quality 
Commission and the Local Authorities. The main 
themes and trends identified through this 
approach are then used to inform commissioning 



Performance, quality and finance analysis 

43 
 

and to support improvements in areas such 
healthcare documentation, staff training, 
medication management and the on-going 
monitoring of residents’ needs.  

Healthcare associated infection (HCAI) 

The Clostridium difficile infection challenge 
continues and requires constant vigilance by all. 
To ensure we can focus on improving our 
performance in this area we have further 
enhanced our approach by increased integrated 
working with multiple health partners and CCGs. 
This has resulted in the development of a Tees 
Valley Infection Prevention and Control 
collaborative. This will bring health trusts and 
CCGs from across the Durham, Darlington and 
Tees area, together with Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby, to learn, share and 
spread good practice. 

An indication of the strength and value of this 
collaborative approach is seen in the recent 
invitation for the CCG to join South Tees 
Hospitals NHs Foundation Trust’s Infection 
Prevention Action Group. This helps us to work 
together to support improvements in infection 
control processes both within the Trust and in 
primary care. 

One of the success indicators of this integrated 
and focussed approach is the improvement of 
antibiotic prescribing in primary care (more 
information on page 22). The rates of prescribing 
of those medications that are thought to 
specifically increase the risk of Clostridium 
difficile, has now reduced to below the England 
average.  

Achievements 

Our achievements this year in terms of quality can 
be described as follows: 

 Increased scrutiny and rigour around quality 
surveillance informs targeting of support for 
any areas of concern. 

 Further development of relationships with our 
neighbouring clinical commissioning groups 
which include NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-
On-Tees CCG and NHS Hambleton, 

Richmondshire and Whitby CCG. An example 
of this is seen in the development and 
implementation of a joint pressure ulcer peer 
review process and the establishment of a 
Clostridium difficile infection review panel. 

Groups and committees 

We continue to operate the following groups that 
play different roles in the quality assurance 
process: 

Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee 

This committee is a formal committee of the 
CCG’s Governing Body. Its role is to ensure that 
the services we commission are examined as to 
their quality, considering: clinical effectiveness; 
patient safety and patient experience and 
informed by quality metrics and ‘soft intelligence’. 

Information pertaining to the Francis work 
programme, Transforming Care and care homes 
has all been received by this committee. The 
committee receives bi-monthly Quality Exception 
Reports detailing the quality profiles of 
commissioned services. They identify quality 
issues, risks and actions and provide an 
opportunity for clinicians to seek assurance 
through further in-depth analysis of a specific 
issue, service or provider. 

Clinical Quality Review Groups 

We work with local providers to 
monitor, evaluate and drive 
forward quality standards, and 
we have held or contributed to 
regular Clinical Quality Review 
Group (CQRG) meetings. 
These meetings include 
clinicians from Foundation 
Trusts and are chaired by our 
Governing Body GP Dr Vaishali 
Nanda. This enables productive 
dialogue and provides an 
opportunity for the trusts to 

identify innovation; best practice; areas for 
improvement; and increasingly, evidence patient 
outcomes. It also enables us, through analysis of 

Dr Vaishali 

Nanda, 

CQRG Chair 
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specific quality indicators, to gain an insight into 
the quality of care delivered to local people as 
well as share and promote lessons learned from 
other parts of the health economy.  

Quality Surveillance Groups  

Local Quality Surveillance Groups are led by the 
Area Team of NHS England. They bring together 
regulators, commissioners and providers of 
services to explore quality by sharing intelligence, 
particularly that which could help identify early 
signs of service failure or poor quality. They also 
include primary care services such as GP 
practices, dentists, pharmacists and optometrists.  

Commissioner assurance visits 

During the year, our programme of announced 
and unannounced visits has been evaluated and 
subject to a substantial review and revision to 
enhance our approach. These visits take place 
with all NHS provider trusts. The visits assist with 
the validation and triangulation of evidence for 
assurance about standards of quality of care and 
patient experience. The programme now also has 
the additional benefit of deriving assurance for 
both commissioner and provider in relation to 
agreed national standards.  

The visits are integral to the comprehensive 
quality assurance and contract management 
processes, which also include:  

 Executive level review of quality metrics 
 Attendance at Trust assurance meetings 
 Routine executive liaison meetings including 

CCG Chief Officer and provider Chief 
Executives; and CCG Executive Nurse and 
provider Director of Nursing 

 Scrutiny of soft intelligence sources which 
includes information from Healthwatch, GP 
practices, patient complaints, voluntary 
organisations and carers. 

Safeguarding 

The CCG’s statutory safeguarding responsibilities 
are described in the NHS Accountability and 
Assurance Framework which was refreshed in 
July 2015. In addition to these statutory duties we 

must commission services which also promote 
the welfare of children and adults.   

To support the discharge of these duties we have 
increased our dedicated resource for 
safeguarding. This includes the appointment of a 
CCG specific Designated Nurse for Looked After 
Children and Safeguarding, and the employment 
of a Named GP for safeguarding children.  

Our team of designated safeguarding 
professionals continue to work with local 
authorities, NHS England and other partner 
agencies to discharge these collective duties. The 
designated professionals represent the CCG at 
Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB) for 
Middlesbrough and Redcar & Cleveland and the 
Tees-wide Safeguarding Adults Board.  The aim 
of the Safeguarding Boards is to co-ordinate 
activities undertaken by member agencies and 
receive assurances that services delivered 
effectively safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children and adults.  

The multi-agency approach to safeguarding is 
exemplified by a provider Trust’s recent 
development of a strategic safeguarding board, 
which now integrates adults and children. The 
CCG has been invited to become members of 
this, further enhancing opportunities for 
collaborative work. 

Adult safeguarding services were strengthened 
by innovative working practices with local 
authority partners. This ensured a constant focus 
on surveillance and enhanced support when 
required. The team continue to engage with 
routine information sharing meetings with the 
Local Authorities and CQC, enabling the timely 
sharing of intelligence and knowledge, leading to 
safer care for patients. These enhanced working 
practices demonstrate benefits for patients and 
families when nursing care providers experience 
difficulties and urgent additional support is 
needed.  
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Safeguarding children and looked after 

children (LAC) 

In our third year as a CCG, the enhanced team 
has made further progress in a number of areas 
to promote the safeguarding of children and care 
for looked after children (LAC).  

The appointment of a Named GP has been 
central to increasing the understanding of 
safeguarding challenges in primary care. This 
enables the delivery of increased support to 
practitioners with the aim of improving the delivery 
of services to vulnerable children and families.  
Working together with the CCG specific 
Designated Nurse and Designated Doctor this 
has further enhanced the awareness and 
understanding of this important agenda. 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) undertook a 
Children Looked After and Safeguarding (CLAS) 
review in June.  The focus of this centred on the 
experiences and outcomes for children receiving 
health services within the Middlesbrough Local 
Authority area. To do this, the CQC examined the 
performance of health providers serving the 
population, and included the commissioning of 
services by the CCG. The action plan to address 
the findings and recommendations of this review 
is monitored by the CCG and shared with 
providers, LSCBs and NHS England. 

Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 

The Child Death Overview Panel is now chaired 
by a Director of Public Health, and benefits from 
more streamlined administration support.  
Following on from the recommendation of the 
previous CCG Designated Nurse, a rapid 
response process for unexpected child deaths 
across the Tees area has now been introduced. 
This now enables a timely and responsive 
investigation into any sudden child deaths, which 
also benefits bereaved parents. 

Quality metrics 
We routinely use a wide variety of indicators to 
provide an accurate assessment of the quality of 
care of commissioned services delivered to local 
people. They also provide an insight into how 

services feel for our patients, their families and 
carers.  Our largest NHS providers of care are:  

 South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
(STHFT) providing the majority of physical 
secondary health services 

 Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 
Trust (TEWV) who provide most of our 
learning disability and mental health services 

 North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust (NEAS) who provide 
ambulance services as well as NHS 111 and 
999 telephone systems. 
 

Our aim is to work collaboratively with providers 
and patients, whilst gaining and validating 
assurance from providers. This occasionally 
includes targeted support to Trusts when 
challenges require a more systems based 
approach. 

Regulator actions 
 

Has any local provider been subject 
to local enforcement action by the 

CQC? 
CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

     
 

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspects 
and regulates health and some social care 
services in England, to ensure they meet national 
standards. They can use legal powers to make 
sure services improve, and in some serious cases 
this can be an enforcement action to protect 
people from harm.  The results of the local CQC 
inspections are publically available on the CQC 
website www.cqc.org.uk.  

In 2015/16 North East Ambulance Service NHS 
Foundation Trust remained under an enforcement 
action from April 2014 relating to staffing, and an 
improvement notice is in place for the quality and 
suitability of management. The CQC revisited the 
Trust at the end of March 2016 and at the time of 
writing the outcome was not yet available. 

http://www.cqc.org.uk/
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The CQC’s report for South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust was published in June 2015 and 
rated the Trust as ‘Requiring Improvement’ in the 
‘Safety’ and ‘Effectiveness of services’ domains. 
Using the recommendations from this report the 
Trust has produced an action plan to address 
these areas, and this is monitored by the senior 
leadership team of the Trust, the CCG and also 
CQC colleagues who meet with the Trust on a 
monthly basis. 

Has any local provider been flagged 
as a 'quality compliance risk' by 

Monitor and/or are requirements in 
place around breaches of provider 

licence conditions?  
CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    
 

Monitor, the independent regulator of Foundation 
Trusts, can direct action within Trusts that may be 
considered to be in breach of their licence to 
deliver services. South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust agreed undertakings with 
Monitor in July 2014 to address concerns around 
governance. The Trust continues to be rated 
‘Red’ for Governance and ‘2’ (continuity of 
services risk rating) as a result of a deterioration 
in its financial position. As such, the Trust remains 
subject to formal enforcement action in the form 
of an additional licence condition and 
enforcement undertakings. The Trust continues to 
successfully implement their Monitor approved 
financial recovery plan.  

Full details are available on Monitor’s website 
www.gov.uk/government/organisations/monitor.   

Patient experience 
 

 

Does feedback from the Friends and 
Family Test (or any other patient 

feedback) indicate any causes for 
concern for any provider?  

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    
 

The Friends and Family Test asks patients 
whether they would recommend NHS services to 
their friends and family if they needed similar care 
or treatment. In order to obtain an accurate 
interpretation of the information, Trusts must 
achieve a reasonably comprehensive response 
rate. This continues to be an area of challenge for 
South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as it 
has proved difficult to effectively communicate 
with the public regarding completion of the survey 
as part of discharge processes.  Ambulance trusts 
are piloting the Friends and Family Test during 
2015/16. 

Safety 

The CCG encourages an open and transparent 
approach to the identification and reporting of 
patient safety incidents, including those classed 
as serious incidents. This includes any events 
that may happen in primary or secondary care. 
The aim of this is to encourage investigation of 
causes and then implementation of preventative 
or corrective measures, with sharing of learning to 
all relevant organisations.   

Has any provider experienced any 
'never events' during the last year?  
CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    
 

Never events are serious, largely preventable 
patient safety incidents that should not occur if 
the available preventative measures have been 
implemented by healthcare providers. The CCG 
continues to work with providers to identify and 
implement the learning derived from the 
investigations of these incidents. 

 

 

 

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/monitor
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Healthcare Associated Infection 
 

Do provider-level indicators from the 
National Quality Dashboard show that 
Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus 

Aureus (MRSA) cases are above 
zero?  

CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    
 

Hospitals are set a standard of zero cases of 
hospital acquired MRSA infection. During the 
year, two cases of MRSA were reported by South 
Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, exceeding 
this target, and the CCG had five community 
attributed cases.   

 

Do provider level indicators from the 
National Quality Dashboard show that 
Clostridium Difficile cases are above 

trajectory?  
CCG STHFT TEWV NEAS 

    

 

The Department of Health sets an annual 
trajectory, specific to each Trust, and also 
separately for the CCG for the number of hospital 
acquired Clostridium Difficle (C. difficile) cases. 

The CCG trajectory for this year was 91 and there 
were 114 actual cases reported. This year 
represented a challenging improvement trajectory 
based upon the previous year’s performance.  

During the year, 61 cases of hospital aquired C. 
difficle  were reported by South Tees Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust against an annual 
trajectory of 50. These cases include patients 
living within the boundaries of other CCG areas.  

Clostridium difficile infections are a challenging 
patient safety issue for both the CCG and partner 
Trusts. As such, there continues to be a 
collaborative Tees wide approach to addressing 
the underlying factors which can increase the risk 
of developing this.  
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Finance analysis  
Our annual accounts have been prepared under a direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board 
under the National Health Service Act 2006 as amended and are set out on pages 123 to 156 of this report. 

We achieved our financial duties in 2015/16 for the third year running.  We had a planned surplus target of 
£4.15 million which was 1% of our overall resources.  In addition to this we were required to re-provide the 
returned surplus brought forward in relation to the central risk pool for continuing healthcare claims.  This 
increased our target surplus by £0.88 million.  Our 0.5% contingency was used to increase our surplus by a 
further £2.25 million to a total of £7.28 million (1.7%). 

Commissioned services 

We commission healthcare services from a range of providers: 

 67% from NHS providers 
 18% with a range of non NHS organisations (including GP Practices and Local Authorities) 
 13% on primary care medicine prescriptions 
 2% on other areas 

All CCG  commissioned services spending by sector 

 
 

NHS services 2015/16 

The cost of services provided by our biggest NHS healthcare provider, South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust represented 52% of our overall commissioned services expenditure in 2015/16 and 76% 
of our expenditure on NHS services.  Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust is our biggest 
provider of mental health and learning disabilities services and accounted for 15% and North East 
Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust 4%. 

2014/15 2015/16

Prescribing £51.92 £53.81

Non-NHS Services £57.02 £75.59

NHS Services £278.86 £275.56

Other Services £5.41 £6.49

Total: £393.21m Total: £411.44m 
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CCG spending on NHS services  

 
 

Non-NHS services 2015/16 

Non NHS services include expenditure with our two local authorities and care homes and accounted for 
10.7% of our overall commissioned services expenditure and 57.3% on non-NHS services.  The cost of 
care for patients with specific complex care needs was 2.4%; acute and community care provided by 
independent sector organisations 2.5%; and our local walk in centre and out of hours doctor service 0.8% 
of our total expenditure. 

CCG spending on non-NHS services 

 
 

2014/15 2015/16

South Tees Hospitals FT £213.87 £210.14

North Tees and Hartlepool FT £2.73 £2.73

North East Ambulance FT £11.56 £11.71

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys FT £42.60 £42.04

Other Providers £6.02 £8.94

Total: £276.78m  Total: £275.56m 
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2014/15 2015/16

Commercial Providers £9.67 £9.90

Local Authorities & Care Homes £29.21 £43.26

Care Packages £6.86 £9.84

Walk-In & Out of Hours £3.42 £3.33

Other £7.86 £9.25

 Total: £57.02m 

 Total: £75.59m 
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South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 2015/16 

Planned care services provided by South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust include all day cases and 
non-emergency inpatient and outpatient services, as well as diagnostic services like x-ray and pathology.  
These services accounted for 35.9% of our costs.  Emergency care was 32.9% and includes accident and 
emergency as well as unplanned admissions and maternity services 2.9%.  Other costs include high cost 
drugs, intensive care and high dependency unit, audiology, wheelchair services and other smaller services. 

CCG spending on South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust by type 

 
 

Mental health and learning disabilities 2015/16 

Our expenditure for the purchase of mental health and learning disabilities services this year, excluding 
continuing healthcare, was £50.98 million. Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) 
accounted for 82.3% of this for the provision of inpatient and community services to children, adults and 
older people, including Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT). 

In total, IAPT services accounted for 5.2% of the expenditure in this area.  Complex packages of care in 
both mental health and learning disabilities accounted for 12.2% of the expenditure.  The majority of these 
care packages are provided by the independent sector, with one package provided by TEWV.  A risk share 
arrangement continues with Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG for these complex cases where we 
jointly share the total costs of our two CCGs. 

Overall, expenditure on mental health and learning disabilities services accounted for 12.4% of the CCG’s 
commissioned services. 

2014/15 2015/16

Emergency Care £70.59 £69.07

Planned Care £78.87 £75.51

Community £33.15 £31.06

Maternity £5.87 £6.14

Other Services £25.38 £28.36

 Total: £210.14m  Total: £213.86m 
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CCG spending on mental health and learning disabilities services 

 
 

Continuing Healthcare 2015/16 

Continuing healthcare costs are in relation to the care of patients with complex care needs provided in a 
residential home, day care facility or in a patient’s own home.  Payments made to our two local authorities 
for fully funded and shared care packages accounted for 80.9% of continuing healthcare only costs. 

Funded nursing care accounted for 9.6% of the total annual costs, packages of care for children 3.8% and 
Personal Health Budgets 4.4%. 

Overall, Continuing healthcare accounted for 7.4% of the CCG’s commissioned services.

CCG spending on Continuing Healthcare 

 

2014/15 2015/16

Specific Care Packages £4.08 £5.59

TEWV Packages £1.44 £0.64

TEWV IAPT £0.80 £0.55

IAPT £1.17 £2.12

TEWV £40.25 £40.78

Other £0.85 £1.30

Total: £48.59m  Total: £50.98m  
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2014/15 2015/16

Children's Continuing Healthcare £1.47 £1.15

Funded Nursing Care £2.86 £2.93

Personal Health Budgets £1.19 £1.35

Continuing Healthcare £19.96 £25.13

Total: £25.48 

 Total: £30.56 
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Sustainable Development Reporting  
We are an organisation with a small number of staff but we have worked to embed sustainable principles in 
our work. 

Policy Information   

Does your organisation have a current Board-approved Sustainable Development Management Plan 

(SDMP) or Carbon Reduction Management Plan (CRMP)? 

Yes 

Was the SDMP reviewed or approved by the Board in the last 12 months? No 

Does your organisation have a healthy or green transport plan? No 

Does your organisation promote healthy travel? Yes 

Do your commissioning, tendering and procurement processes include:  

An assessment of the environmental impacts? No 

An assessment of the social impacts? Yes 

A consideration of the suppliers' sustainability policies? No 

Are you in a strategic partnership with other organisations on sustainability? Yes 

Does your organisation use the Good Corporate Citizenship (GCC) tool? No 

Does your organisation promote sustainability to its employees? Yes 

Do you use eClass for procurement? Yes 

Performance Information   

Does your organisation have its own carbon reduction target? No 

Is there a Board Level lead for Sustainability on your Board? Yes 

Does your Board consider sustainability issues as part of its risk management process? No 

Does your Board approved plans address the potential need to adapt the delivery of your organisation's 

activities and organisation's infrastructure as a result of climate change and adverse weather events? 

No 

Our consumption* and spend on utilities and waste 
 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

 Consumption  Cost £ Consumption  Cost £ Consumption  Cost £ 

Gas kw/h 62,069.18 Data not 

available 

61,753.02 3,290.52 265934 8,689.46 

Electricity 

kW/h 

23,632.29 6,136.21 37,259.01 4,735.29 143318 17,808.95 

Water (m3) 207.80 531.34 403.31 1,031.25 Data not 

available 

Data not 

available 

Confidential 

Waste 

(Tonnes) 

9.41 2,323.17 7.68 1,896.43 Data not 

available 

Data not 

available 

Total carbon 

emissions 

from 

electricity and 

gas 

23,161.88 Not 

applicable 

29,838.47 Not 

applicable 

Data not 

available 

Data not 

available 

*Figures estimated by NHS Property Services from total building consumption based on proportion of building occupied by the CCG.  
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Explanatory Notes  

This 2015/16 report has used the most recent 12 months of data in the NHS Property Services (PS) system 
at the time of reporting. 

NHS South Tees CCG occupies only part of the building; therefore the report has calculated the figures 
based on the organisation’s percentage of occupancy.  

Caveats 

Leasehold Properties - Please note that where NHS Property Services do not own the building, but rather 
hold a lease with a Superior Landlord, information on both finance and consumption may be part of a larger 
superior service charge. NHS Property Services has, and continues to make all reasonable efforts to 
acquire the full breakdown, but this may not be available at the time of reporting. 

Water Consumption Calculation - Most sites where NHS Property Services holds the water supply 
contracts, there is billing information captured in the NHS Property Services system. These figures will still 
be subject to periods where the meter hasn't been read and the supplier has used an estimate. Where 
there are charges from a Superior Landlord, the water consumption has been calculated from costs on the 
basis of using a conversion factor of £3.78 per cubic meter. This conversion figure is an average of the 
invoices that are invoiced directly to us by the water suppliers. 

Electric Consumption Calculation - Where no details are available for electric consumption the consumption 
figures have been estimated using a conversion factor of 12.38 pence per unit. This conversion figure is 
based on an average taken from a representative sample (NHH supplies) of NHS PS properties, and 
includes all charges, not just the unit rate per kWh. 

Gas Consumption Calculation - Where no details are available for gas consumption the consumption 
figures have been estimated using a conversion factor of 3.244 pence per KWh. This conversion figure is 
based on an average taken from a representative sample of NHS PS properties, and includes all charges, 
not just the unit rate per kWh. 

Waste Weight - 2015/16 data not available for NHS South Tees CCG. 

Finance information - The financial information included in this report is provided on the understanding that 
it is based on the information available at the time of the report’s release. 

Utilities Data Report March 2016          
NHS Property Services Limited 
Skipton House 
London 
SE1 6LH         
   

 

Amanda Hume 
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer for NHS South Tees CCG 
26 May 2016 
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Investing in mental health: crisis 

assessment suite
In July 2015, along with Hartlepool and Stockton-
on-Tees CCG we supported the opening of a 
ground-breaking Crisis Assessment Suite at 
Roseberry Park Hospital in Middlesbrough, 
provided by our main mental health provider, 
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation 
Trust. 

A mental health crisis can happen to anyone, at 
any time, and in any place. In line with the 
recommendations of the Mental Health Crisis 
Care Concordat, the Crisis Assessment Suite 
provides a health-based place of safety available 
24 hours a day, 7 days a week. It aims to provide 
a rapid, prompt assessment by suitably trained 
staff in the least restrictive environment possible. 

The service builds on the previous Section 136 
suite, where the police could bring people in crisis 
for a clinical assessment. However, the service is 
now also open access, meaning anyone suffering 
a mental health crisis can present themselves for 
assessment - and this is the first service of its 
kind in the country to act as a walk-in assessment 
service. The majority of people are either 
discharged and given a follow-up appointment 
with a community mental health team, or 
signposted on to another service. 

“Great service for the population of Teesside and also 

for A&E; patients now have an appropriate place to 

see the mental health team in a timely way when they 

are in crisis” 

Dr Alex Scott, A&E Consultant at James Cook 

University Hospital on the Crisis Assessment Suite 

More help for 

people in crisis 
This year we have continued to work with 
partners across the Police, local authorities, 
healthcare providers and the voluntary sector with 
the support of NEMHDU (North of England Mental 
Health Development Unit) to improve services for 
people in mental health crisis. A main focus of our 
work has been on Mental Health Act conveyance. 

The Concordat group facilitated the development 
of frameworks from which to make spot 
purchases of private ambulance transport. These 
are used in the event that a person being 
detained under the Mental Health Act would have 
to wait over an hour for an ambulance to convey 
them to hospital, and the cost is re-charged to the 
CCG’s System Resilience budget. Since the 
introduction of the framework, the number of long 
waits for ambulance conveyance has reduced 
significantly in South Tees. 

We are also developing plans to put in place 
additional support to people who frequently use 
urgent care services (999, 111, A&E, Mental 
Health Crisis) because of complex crisis in their 
lives. This will draw on evidence from Blackpool, 
where proactive contact from an advanced 
paramedic practitioner has successfully 
supported people in frequent crisis to engage with 
services appropriately. 

Chief Officer Amanda Hume cutting the ribbon for 
the Crisis Assessment Suite with David Brown, 
Director of Operations (Tees) for Tees, Esk and 

Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust. 



 

 

 
 
 Accountability Report  
The Accountability Report contains the following: 

4. Corporate Governance Report 

 Members’ Report 
 Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities 
 The Governance Statement  

5. Governing Body report and reports from its committees 

6. Risk management and internal control framework 

7. Economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources 

8. Remuneration and staff reports 
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Corporate Governance Report  
Amanda Hume, Chief Officer  

This report explains the composition and organisation of our governance structures and 
how they support the achievement of our objectives. This report contains: 

 Members’ Report 
 Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities 
 The Governance Statement including Remuneration Report  

             

Members’ Report  
This year we have continued to deliver on our statutory duties which include improving quality; involving 
local people in the decisions we make and enabling choice; reducing health inequalities; and promoting 
research and innovation.  Some significant areas of work for us this year have been: monitoring quality in 
our commissioned services; strengthening our arrangements and partnership working to deliver on our duty 
to tackle health inequalities; managing winter pressures; talking with the public about our plans to improve 
urgent care services; and the ongoing implementation of our IMProVE programme, responding to what 
local people told us and bringing care closer to people’s homes. 

This report shares details of our membership and Executive Group, as well as details of the requirements 
placed upon us with regards to finance, accounting and corporate social responsibilities. 

The members of NHS South Tees CCG are:  
Practice Location Locality Date of Visit 

Albert House Low Grange Health Village,  
Middlesbrough  

Eston 11 December 
2014 

Bentley Medical Practice* Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar Langbaurgh 21 May 2015 

Borough Road and Nunthorpe Medical 
Group 

Borough Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 14 April 2015 

Brotton Surgery Alford Road, Saltburn Langbaurgh 1 February 2016 

Cambridge Medical Group Cambridge Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 18 June 2015 

Coatham Surgery Coatham Health Village, Redcar Langbaurgh 30 January 2015 

Coulby Medical Practice Cropton Way,  Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 17 March 2015 

Crossfell Health Centre Berwick Hills, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 3 February 2015 

Discovery Practice Cleveland Health Centre,  
Middlesbrough 

Middlesbrough 14 May 2015 

Erimus Practice Cleveland Health Centre,  
Middlesbrough 

Middlesbrough 29 January 2016 

Eston Grange Health Centre Low Grange Health Village, 
Middlesbrough 

Eston 7 April 2015 

Eston Surgery Low Grange Health Village, 
Middlesbrough 

Eston 8 January 2015 
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Fulcrum Medical Acklam Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 12 March 2015 

Garth Surgery Rectory Lane, Guisborough Langbaurgh 15 January 2016 

Haven Medical Centre Harris Street, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 30 June 2014 

Hemlington Health Centre Viewley Centre, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough To be visited 

Hillside Practice Windermere Drive, Skelton Langbaurgh 10 February 
2015 

Hirsel Medical Centre North Ormesby Health Village, 
Middlesbrough 

Middlesbrough 2 June 2015 

Huntcliff Surgery Bath Street, Saltburn Langbaurgh 7 July 2015 

Kings Medical Centre North Ormesby Health Village, 
Middlesbrough 

Middlesbrough 15 April 2015 

Lagan Surgery Kirkleatham Street, Redcar Langbaurgh 26 January 2016 

Linthorpe Surgery Linthorpe Road, Middlesbrough  Middlesbrough 24 March 2016 

Manor House Surgery Braidwood Road, Middlesbrough Eston 3 March 2016 

Marske Medical Centre Hall Close, Marske by the Sea Langbaurgh To be visited 

Martonside Surgery  Martonside Way, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 24 February 
2015 

Newlands Medical Practice Borough Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 31 March 2015 

Normanby Medical Centre Low Grange Health Village, 
Middlesbrough 

Eston 22 April 2015 

Oakfield Medical Practice North Ormesby Health Village, 
Middlesbrough 

Middlesbrough 9 April 2015 

Park Avenue Surgery* Park Avenue, Redcar Langbaurgh 21 May 2015 

Park Surgery One Life, Linthorpe Road, 
Middlesbrough 

Middlesbrough 11 February 
2016 

Parkway Medical Centre Cropton Way, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 8 November 
2013 

Prospect Surgery Cleveland Centre, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 19 June 2014 

Rainbow Surgery* Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar Langbaurgh 21 May 2015 

Ravenscar Surgery Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar Langbaurgh 28 January 2016 

Resolution Health Centre North Ormesby Health Village, 
Middlesbrough 

Middlesbrough 12 February 
2016 

Saltscar Surgery Kirkleatham Street, Redcar Langbaurgh 17 March 2016 

South Grange Medical Centre Trunk Road, Middlesbrough Eston 23 April 2015 

Springwood Surgery Rectory Lane, Guisborough Langbaurgh 27 February 
2015 

The Endeavour Practice Cleveland Health Centre Middlesbrough 6 June 2014 

The Green House Surgery Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar Langbaurgh 10 June 2014 

The Village Medical Centre Linthorpe Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 4 March 2015 

Thorntree Surgery Beresford Buildings, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 11 February 
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2016 

Westbourne Medical Centre North Ormesby Health Village,  
Middlesbrough 

Middlesbrough 5 December 
2014 

Woodlands Road Surgery Woodlands Road, Middlesbrough Middlesbrough 26 May 2015 

Woodside Surgery High Street, Loftus Langbaurgh 14 January 2016 

Zetland Medical Practice Windy Hill Lane, Marske Langbaurgh 16 June 2015 

 

*Denotes merged practices in 2015/16 

In 2015/16 there were 46 member practices in Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland. During the year 
three of our practices merged delivering services to all registered patients at the three practices across two 
sites; therefore, the number of practices in Middlesbrough and Redcar and Cleveland is now 44.  

Committee membership 

The members of our Governing Body are: 

 Dr Janet Walker, Clinical Chair and Eston Locality Lead  
 Mrs Amanda Hume, Chief Officer 
 Dr Rajesh Khapra, GP Member, Middlesbrough Locality  
 Dr Mike Milner, GP Member, Langbaurgh Locality 
 Dr Vaishali Nanda, GP Member and Middlesbrough Locality Lead 
 Dr Nigel Rowell, GP Member, Middlesbrough Locality 
 Dr Ali Tahmassebi, GP Member and Langbaurgh Locality Lead 
 Ms Jean Golightly, Executive Nurse  
 Mr Simon Gregory, Chief Finance Officer 
 Dr John Drury, Secondary Care Doctor 
 Mr Peter Race MBE, Lay Member 
 Mr David Brunskill, Lay Member 
 Mrs Karen Dales, Lay Member (from 14 September 2015) 

The members of our Audit Committee for the year and the period up to the signing of the accounts were: 

 Mr Peter Race MBE, Lay Member (Audit Committee Chair)  
 Dr John Drury, Secondary Care Doctor 
 Mr David Brunskill, Lay Member 
 Mrs Karen Dales, Lay Member (from 14 September 2015) 

 

Further details of the Governing Body members including details of their roles on all committees are 
contained in the Governing Body section, on pages 79-82. 

Declarations of interest are recorded in the Remuneration and Staff Report on pages 110-118. 
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The Executive Group 

The Executive Group addresses operational issues and is responsible for implementing CCG strategies 
and policies, day-to-day management and performance monitoring. They review business cases, draft 
plans and commissioning intentions prior to their presentation to the formal corporate meetings. With the 
exception of the Chair, the inclusion of all of our Governing Body GPs in the Executive Group means that 
all our meetings retain a clinical focus. The Governing Body members and senior managers who regularly 
attend the Executive Group are shown below. 

 

Amanda Hume 

Chief Officer 

 

Simon Gregory 

Chief Finance Officer 

 

Jean Golightly 

Executive Nurse 

 

Dr Rajesh Khapra 

Middlesbrough Locality 

 

Dr Vaishali Nanda 

Middlesbrough Locality 

 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 

Langbaurgh Locality 

 

Dr Nigel Rowell 

Middlesbrough Locality 

 

Dr Mike Milner 

Langbaurgh Locality 

 

 

Craig Blair 

Associate Director of 
Commissioning, Delivery 

and Operations 

 

Alex Sinclair 

Head of Programmes 
and Delivery 

 

Heather Corlett 

Strategic Lead – 
Transformation 

 

 

In addition to our own staff, the Executive Group is supported on a regular basis by members of our 
commissioning support unit staff who are subject matter experts for specific issues. 

The remainder of this report provides details on further requirements placed upon us with regards to 
finance, accounting and corporate social responsibilities.  
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Relevant Disclosures 

Since the end of the financial year there have been no major new developments that will have any impact 
or change our plans for 2016/17.  

The significant issues for the future were already known at the end of March. These include the plans for: 

 The need to transform primary care services, particularly in light of delegated commissioning 
responsibilities from 1 April 2016 and the successful bid for Prime Minister’s Challenge Fund monies to 
establish the South Tees Access and Response (STAR) service 

 Working with all care providers to transform urgent care services locally, making the most of our 
opportunities for integration of services using the Better Care Fund 

 Sustained focus on our plans to deliver integrated care working with our key partners, particularly with 
regards to rehabilitation, better support for care homes and the single point of access  

 Continuation of the implementation of the IMProVE programme to modernise the provision of 
community services for the benefit of our most vulnerable and elderly people.  
 

It is important that the areas above are not seen as discrete programmes. They all form part of the 
integration and modernisation agenda for 2016/17. 

Contractual information 

The CCG holds contracts with a range of commissioned service providers who deliver NHS care to the 
local population. A summary of our significant contracts negotiated is set out below. 

Category Provider 
Acute South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  
Mental Health & Learning 
Disability  

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 

Community Health South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust  
Acute North East Ambulance Services Foundation Trust – 999 and NHS111 
Acute Ramsay  Health Care UK 
Acute North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust  
Primary Care Northern Doctors Urgent Care  - Out of Hours 
Acute Nuffield Health 
Acute Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals Foundation Trust   
Acute BMI Woodlands 
Mental Health & Learning 
Disability 

Specialist packages of care  - Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 

Community Health Teesside Hospice  

Employee consultation 

At the end of March 2016 there were 26 directly employed staff (including two members of staff shared with 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton–on-Tees CCG and two on secondment to other organisations) involved in 
the administration of the CCG. With a small team we are still able to meet with the entire CCG office staff 
on a fortnightly basis to: 
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 be briefed on any relevant issues; 
 raise key issues; and 
 be involved in decisions that directly involve themselves. 

The scale of the organisation also means that all office staff can have regular contact with the CCG’s 
Governing Body members.  

Disabled employees 

Our Equality Report set out details of our policy in relation to disabled employees on pages 95-98 of this 
report. 

Sickness absence data 

Days lost to sickness are shown in the staff sickness absence note 4.3 to the financial statements on page 
139. Staff sickness absence is managed in line with our policy on absence management. 

Health and safety  

South Tees CCG has legal obligations under the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 and subsequent 
regulations to ensure the Health, Safety and Welfare of its employees and those visiting its premises. To 
ensure compliance with health and safety, fire and security South Tees CCG has a Health and Safety 
Strategy which sets out the framework for health and safety within the organisation; annual health and 
safety audits to ensure compliance against all relevant legislation; and policies and procedures in place 
detailing organisational and individual responsibilities as well as processes for seeking assurance on the 
requirements.  The CCG is compliant with legal and statutory obligations under the Health and Safety at 
Work Act 1974 and subsequent regulations. 

Serious untoward incidents involving data 

There have been no serious untoward incidents involving data loss and breaches of confidentiality during 
2015/16 or since the end of the financial year. There were also no incidents in 2014/15. 

Preventing fraud 

We have a specific counter-fraud policy – its overall aims are to: 

 Outline the CCG’s responsibilities in terms of delivering a comprehensive approach to managing related 
risks 

 Improve collective understanding of engaged work undertaken at the CCG to systematically counter 
economic crime 

 Support a broadly based, transparent and supportive anti-fraud culture where staff feel able to raise 
legitimate concerns sensibly and responsibly 

 Ensure that all suspected economic crime is referred appropriately in accordance with specified 
reporting lines and that substantiated enquiries are always conducted solely by professionally 
accredited NHS Counter Fraud Specialists or the police 

 Enable all parallel criminal, disciplinary and civil sanction disposal options to be properly and 
consistently considered in the course of investigations; as an essential pre-requisite for fairness and 
optimising deterrence. 
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Emergency preparedness, resilience and response 

We have undertaken a self-assessment against required areas of the NHS England core standards for 
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response. In this self-assessment we demonstrated substantial 
compliance against the core standards. We collaborate with other local CCGs in the Local Health 
Resilience Partnership (LHRP) where NHS Darlington CCG represents us. Actions required for full 
compliance with core standards include more training for senior staff within the organisation, and we will be 
working with the LHRP on this. 

Pension liabilities 

Our pension liabilities are reported within the Remuneration and Staff Report (pages 110 to 118), and in the 
accounting policy note on page 140 of the financial statements in this report. 

Exit packages and severance payments 

During 2015/16 one member of staff was made redundant due to the closure of a service; detail can be 
found in the accounts section 4.4 on page 139. 

Off-payroll engagements 

A summary of ‘off-payroll’ engagements is included in the Remuneration and Staff report on page 115. 

Cost allocation and setting of charges for information 

We certify that the CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and the setting of 
charges for information. 

Better payments practice code 

The CCG signed up to the Better Payments Practice Code in March 2014. As a signatory to the Code we: 

1. Pay suppliers on time:  
 within the terms agreed at the outset of the contract 
 without attempting to change payment terms retrospectively 
 without changing practice on length of payment for smaller companies on unreasonable grounds. 

2. Give clear guidance to suppliers:  
 providing suppliers with clear and easily accessible guidance on payment procedures 
 ensuring there is a system for dealing with complaints and disputes which is communicated to 

suppliers  
 advising them promptly if there is any reason why an invoice will not be paid to the agreed terms.  

3. Encourage good practice: 
 by requesting that lead suppliers encourage adoption of the Code throughout their own supply 

chains.  

Details of compliance with the Code are given in note 6.1 to the accounts on page 142.  

Principles for remedy 

Our Complaints Policy, available on the CCG website reflects the Parliamentary Health Services 
Ombudsman’s Principles for Remedy. 
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External audit 

Our appointed external auditors are Ernst & Young LLP; the cost of the work performed by the auditors for 
2015/16 is £63,750 (£102,000 2014/15). We have not purchased any other services from Ernst & Young 
LLP. 

Disclosure to auditors 

Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members’ Report was approved 
confirms: 

 So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s external auditor is unaware; and 

 That the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in order to make 
them self-aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Clinical Commissioning 
Group’s auditor is aware of that information. 

 

 
Amanda Hume 
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer for NHS South Tees CCG 
26 May 2016 
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A Member’s Perspective  
Dr Bill Beeby, GP at Parkway Medical Centre in Middlesbrough shares 
his personal reflection on the year  

 

Or to put it another way this is 
the “view from the bottom”.  
Despite being a membership 

organisation, most practices do not have direct 
involvement in the day to day running of the CCG, 
and rely on our colleagues for their work 
undertaken on our behalf.  CCGs have been 
around long enough in this ever changing world to 
be considered mature organisations, so perhaps 
it is not unreasonable to be expecting them to 
perform well on our behalf.  Or is that on our 
patients’ behalf?  After all, if it benefits practices, 
it will also benefit those that we strive to care for 
as well. 

My personal background over the last decade has 
seen me closely involved with the BMA and 
professional representation at both a local and 
national level, so I have kept my relationship with 
the CCG to one of a “critical friend”.   You have to 
be careful not to be too critical though, but if you 
are too friendly perhaps that causes as much 
trouble!  Conflicts of interest have always been a 
risk inherent in the Health and Social Care Act, a 
risk that grows significantly as the CCG matures 
and evolves into an organisation accepting fully 
devolved commissioning of primary care.  Like 
many of my colleagues, I have reservations about 
how much freedom this new development will 
bring with it, but the enthusiasm within the CCG 
for the move was significant and not to be 
ignored.  For all of our sakes, I hope it proves to 
be real and not an illusion. 

Dr Tony Chahal, in last year’s report from the 
member practices, described the CCG as 
“evolving” and without wishing to steal most of his 
report, almost everything he wrote remains as 
true today as it did then.  We have seen the 
Clinical Council of Members meetings change for 
the better as the CCG matures.  They are a little 
less frequent, with a better structure and more 

time for focused discussion on important topics.  
Some of the old locality themes have been left 
behind as we aim to provide equitable care for all 
across the whole of the South Tees area, whilst 
recognising the diverse needs in the population.  
Meetings have felt more productive when pre-
reading cuts down the oral reports in favour of 
discussion, and being able to discuss contentious 
topics in the practice before you attend has 
allowed key decisions to be made rather than be 
deferred. 

Of course, it isn’t just the CCG that is evolving.  
The world outside changes so quickly as well, 
and the NHS seems to get tighter targets, and 
more initiatives, than it can sometimes cope with.  
The landscape of austerity and value for money 
brings its own challenges with year on year 
expectations of efficiency savings.  The 
challenges for commissioners of care are 
immense.  The Five Year Forward View seems to 
introduce the new themes of integration and 
joined up care, though most GPs would probably 
regard them as great old fashioned ideals dusted 
off with a new label attached.  With the new (old) 
ideas come the new organisational structures that 
might deliver these models of care, so the CCG 
has to contend with all these external pressures 
whilst trying to keep the ship afloat.  I seriously do 
not envy their task, and commend their 
enthusiasm and optimism. 

But what of last year’s plans?  The Prime 
Minister’s Challenge funding for the South Tees 
Access and Response (STAR) scheme improving 
access for all practices came on line during the 
year, and has started to deliver towards the end.  
The CCG supported this scheme in its pilot 
phase, recognising the benefits and were 
committed to securing funding to sustain beyond 
its initial fiscal limits. However, I understand NHS 
England nationally are realising the benefits from 
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such services and have now awarded further 
funding. This was always going to be needed as 
getting new innovative ways of working was never 
deliverable before the end of the year, so we all 
look to develop the scheme for the benefit of 
patients and practices alike.  Also to be 
commended is the work done on producing a 
review of urgent and out of hours care in the area.  
Brave decisions sometimes need to be made to 
stop one mode of provision in order to ensure 
overall continuity and quality of services, and we 
look to the CCG to ensure that care pathways for 
patients are clear, logical and effective. 

There are many projects vital to the development 
of general practice in the area that the CCG has 
supported by putting bids through, though some 
are still waiting for the approval of the funding 
before they can start.  As an example, there is a 
desperate need for a GP career start scheme to 
encourage people to work in this area, yet the 
process cannot commence until a funding stream 
is authorised.  Practices find this frustrating, and 
though the administrative burden is not 
particularly new, I am sure it is a barrier to greater 
involvement in CCG work for many individuals. 

I feel I should close with a focus on the positives.  
The commitment to recruitment and retention 
recognises the difficulties that some practices 
already experience, and many more may face in 
the near future.  There seems to be a 
determination to break down some of the artificial 
barriers between primary and secondary care, 
which should lead to commissioning more 

effective pathways with fewer artificial divisions of 
care.  The support for training across primary care 
through the provision of education sessions 
delivering updates on key clinical topics with out 
of hours cover enabling practice teams to attend. 
Sessions have included dementia, diabetes and 
heart failure. We have also seen the fourth time 
that South Tees has had its own venue for a 
whole day of GP knowledge and skills updates 
using well organised external providers.  And 
finally, we are starting to see the formation of a 
federation across South Tees.  It is still in its 
infancy but has benefited from the CCG support 
towards its formation, and whilst mindful of those 
conflicts of interest we spoke about earlier, 
practices will look to the CCG to be constructive 
with the Federation. 

We all recognise that general practice is in a crisis 
but it is resilient, and with the right sort of help will 
be able to get back up off its knees and stand tall.  
It is a big ask of our CCG, but it is the very reason 
they have taken on full responsibility for 
commissioning primary care.  It will be an 
interesting year. 

 

Dr Bill Beeby 
GP, Parkway Medical Centre  
26 May 2016 
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Statement of Accountable Officer's 

responsibilities  
Amanda Hume, Chief Officer

 

 

 

 

 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical Commissioning Group shall 
have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS 
England). NHS England has appointed the Chief Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 

The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and regularity of 
the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper accounting records 
(which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the 
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each Clinical 
Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the form and on the basis 
set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of 
the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and in particular to: 

 observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis; 
 

 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
 

 state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts issued by the 
Department of Health have been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the 
financial statements; and 
 

 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out in my 
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

I also confirm that:  

 as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the entity’s auditors are unaware, 
and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to make himself or 
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the entity’s auditors are aware of 
that information 
 

 that the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and that I take 
personal responsibility for the annual report and accounts and the judgments required for determining 
that it is fair, balanced and understandable. 
 
 

 
 
 
Amanda Hume  
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer 
for NHS South Tees CCG  
26 May 2016   
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The Governance Statement  
Annual Governance Statement 

Introduction and context 

The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced 
from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended 
the National Health Service Act 2006. 

As at 1 April 2015, the Clinical Commissioning 
Group was licensed without conditions. 

Scope of responsibility 

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for 
maintaining a sound system of internal control 
that supports the achievement of the clinical 
commissioning group’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds 
and assets for which I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned 
to me in Managing Public Money. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my 
Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical 
commissioning group is administered prudently 
and economically and that resources are applied 
efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial 
propriety and regularity. 

Compliance with the UK Corporate 

Governance Code 

Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code are not mandatory for public 
sector bodies, compliance with relevant principles 
of the code is considered to be good practice.  
This Governance Statement is intended to 
demonstrate how the CCG had regard to the 
principles set out in the code considered 
appropriate for CCGs for the financial year ended 
31 March 2016. 

This guidance has enabled a detailed review of 
Governing Body effectiveness against the 
following criteria: leadership, effectiveness, 

accountability, remuneration and relations with 
stakeholders on a ‘comply or explain’ basis. This 
review has been supported by an external 
assessment of our governance arrangements for 
the Governing Body.  

In particular, having reviewed the effectiveness of 
our governance framework and arrangements in 
relation to The UK Corporate Code of 
Governance, I consider that the organisation 
complies with the appropriate principles and 
standards of best practice contained within the 
guidance on a ‘comply or explain’ basis. I can 
confirm that the arrangements in place for the 
discharge of statutory functions have been 
checked for any irregularities, and that they are 
legally compliant. 

The Clinical Commissioning Group 

governance framework 

The National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended), at paragraph 14L(2)(b) states: 

The main function of the governing body is to 
ensure that the group has made appropriate 
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with 
such generally accepted principles of good 
governance as are relevant to it. 

Information about the Membership Body (the 
Clinical Council of Members) and Governing 
Body, their committees, including membership, 
attendance records and coverage of their work, is 
set out on pages 86-94 of this report. 

The Clinical Commissioning Group 

risk management framework 

The Governing Body is responsible for 
determining the nature and extent of the 
significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the 
CCG’s strategic objectives, and for maintaining 
sound risk management and internal control 
systems. The Governance and Risk Committee 
has overall responsibility for reviewing the CCG 
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Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk 
Registers together with the Audit Committee.  

As a CCG our risks are influenced by the system 
changes within the health service and these 
environmental factors are set out below. 

There is still an ongoing process of change in the 
overall NHS commissioning and social care 
landscape. In 2015/16 the CCG started to ‘co-
commission’ GP primary care services in 
partnership with NHS England; in addition a small 
number of specialised services became the 
responsibility of the CCG. The CCG has to assure 
itself that contracts identify the correct 
commissioner as much by the nature of the 
service as by the patient’s GP practice.  

In April 2013, the estate that was previously 
owned by Primary Care Trusts was transferred to 
a new organisation, NHS Property Services Ltd. 
The CCG is still currently required to provide 
additional funds for these premises in our area 
where costs exceed the revenues received from 
tenants. This is effectively the same position as 
the former Primary Care Trusts, but presented in 
a more transparent manner. 

The CCG, like most CCGs nationally, has a 
significant amount of our administrative services 
delivered by a commissioning support unit. These 
services are in their own early years of operation 
and we continue to review and evaluate which 
specific functions are best delivered directly by 
ourselves or the support unit. 

Our approach to risk management is set out on 
pages 99-100 of this report.  

The Clinical Commissioning Group 

internal control framework 

A system of internal control is the set of 
processes and procedures in place in the clinical 
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its 
policies, aims and objectives.  It is designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be 
managed to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. Our internal control framework is 
set out on pages 101-104 of this report. It 
describes the overarching controls of the CCG, 
including how we maintain a system of 
information governance and manage our 
obligations for staff pensions, equality, diversity, 
human rights and sustainability. 

Information governance 

The NHS Information Governance (IG) 
Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about 
patients and employees, in particular personal 
identifiable information.   

The NHS Information Governance Framework is 
supported by an Information Governance Toolkit 
and the annual submission process provides 
assurances to the CCG, other organisations and 
to individuals that personal information is dealt 
with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively. 

Our Governing Body delegates the monitoring of 
information governance to the Governance and 
Risk Committee. Two Governing Body members 
have specific responsibilities; Dr Rajesh Khapra is 
the Caldicott Guardian, and Mr Simon Gregory is 
the Senior Information Risk Owner. 

We place high importance on ensuring that there 
are robust information governance systems and 
processes in place to help protect information.  
We have an Information Governance Framework 
in place comprising an approved strategy and a 
set of approved policies and procedures in line 
with the Information Governance Toolkit.   We 
ensure that all staff undertake annual information 
governance training and have reviewed our staff 
information governance handbook to ensure that 
staff are aware of their information governance 
roles and responsibilities.  We carry out 
‘confidentially audits’ and  ‘spot checks’ so we 
can understand staff’s understanding of key IG 
issues and provide support, advice and additional 
training as required. This approach has resulted 
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in the production of fact sheets, one-to-one 
coaching and focussed attention to key issues 
within team meetings.  

We use the Health and Social Care Information 
Centre’s (HSCIC) ‘Checklist for Reporting, 
Managing and Investigating Information 
Governance and Cyber Security Incidents 
Requiring Investigation’. We use a suite of 
policies to mitigate data security breaches 
including, Information Governance Risk Policy, 
Information Access Policy, Information Security 
Policy and Acceptable Use of Email and Internet 
Policy. 

There is a process for incident reporting and 
investigation of serious incidents. The process 
outlines the scope of responsibilities and details 
the reporting procedures to be used in the event 
of a data security breach. We are continuing to 
review and develop information risk assessment 
and management procedures and we continue to 
further instil an information risk culture throughout 
the organisation. 

The Information Governance Toolkit is provided 
by the HSCIC to monitor progress on Information 
Governance in the NHS.  The CCG has published 
its latest HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit 
and has been self-assessed as being 75% 
compliant (71%,  2014/15), which demonstrates 
that the CCG is continuing to improve its systems 
and embed good information governance practice 
resulting in the organisation’s rating as overall 
‘satisfactory’ in this regard. The CCG believe 
there are a number of areas where we could have 
scored ourselves higher; however, it is important 
that we ensure our processes and systems are 
fully embedded and that supporting processes 
within the commissioning support unit are equally 
robust. We have therefore continued to take a 
cautious approach to scoring in 2015/16.  Our 
internal audit plan for 2015/16 included an audit 
of the IG Toolkit self-assessment to provide 
assurance that the process for determining 
scores against individual requirements was 
adequate. Significant assurance has been given 
in respect of the CCG’s Information Toolkit 
submission following a review by Internal Audit. 

Our contracts for the health care services with 
hospital trusts and other providers use the NHS 
Standard Contract. This contract requires them to 
achieve level 2 of the NHS Information 
Governance Toolkit standards ensuring 
satisfactory levels of data quality and data 
protection.  

There have been no reportable information 
governance breaches in year 2015/16.  

The CCG complies with its statutory duty to 
respond to requests for information. During the 
year, the CCG received 236 requests for 
information under the Freedom of Information Act 
2000 and 27 requests for information under the 
Data Protection Act 1998.  All but two of the 
requests were responded to within statutory 
timescales. For the two requests not responded 
to within the timescale, a root-cause analysis was 
carried out to identify the weaknesses and this 
was followed by a Rapid Process Improvement 
Workshop to review the whole of the FOI process 
and resulted in a more streamlined system. 

Review of economy, efficiency & 

effectiveness of the use of 

resources 

The key processes that we have applied to 
ensure that resources are used economically, 
efficiently and effectively are set out on pages 
105-109 of this report. 

Feedback from delegation chains 

regarding business, use of 

resources and responses to risk 

In 2015/16 the CCG entered into two separate 
Section 75 agreements (‘pooled budget 
arrangements’) with Middlesbrough and Redcar 
and Cleveland Local Authorities. These were for 
£12M and £11.6M respectively and related to the 
Better Care Fund plans of both Health and 
Wellbeing Boards. The agreements clearly 
described the governance process for these 
pooled budgets.  
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During 2015/16 the pooled budgets have been 
operationally managed by a local integration 
executive group comprising of officers from the 
two councils, the CCG, South Tees Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust and Tees Esk and Wear 
Valleys NHS Foundation Trust. This group reports 
to an Integration Programme Board consisting of 
all the organisations’ chief executives. 

This is the first full year of Better Care Fund 
pooled budgets on this scale, and many schemes 
only started to progress fully in the latter part of 
the year. The fund has delivered its target 
reduction for emergency hospital admissions in 
2015 and no significant risks other than some 
project delays have been raised by the 
programme board. 

Review of the effectiveness of 

governance, risk management & 

internal control 

As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for 
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control within the clinical commissioning 
group. 

Capacity to handle risk 

Our staff are trained and equipped to manage risk 
in a way appropriate to their authority and duties. 
Our Risk Management Strategy sets out our 
approach and our small management team 
reviews all risks on a regular basis. 

Review of effectiveness 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control is informed by the work of the 
internal auditors and the executive managers and 
leaders within the CCG who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control framework. I have drawn on 
performance information available to me. My 
review is also informed by comments made by the 
external auditors in their management letter and 
other reports. 

The Governing Body Assurance Framework itself 
provides me with evidence that the effectiveness 

of controls that manage risks to the CCG 
achieving its principal objectives have been 
reviewed. I have been advised on the implications 
of the result of my review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control by the Governing 
Body, the Audit Committee and the Governance 
and Risk Committee. These committees reflect on 
their role each year and amend their terms of 
reference and membership to reflect changing 
requirements. 

The process of maintaining and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control is 
set out in this report on page 107. In addition, the 
section on the work of the Governing Body and its 
committees include an assessment on how they 
have developed during the year and what is 
expected to be improved in the future. 

Data and business critical models 

Our approach to data quality, data security and 
the validation of critical modelling tools is set out 
in the internal control framework section of this 
report on pages 101-104. 

Internal audit reports 

During the year, Internal Audit issued the 
following audit reports which identified 
governance, risk management and/or control 
issues which were significant to the organisation: 

 Governance & risk management 
 Information Governance Toolkit 
 Financial planning and budget setting 
 NECS re-procurement process 
 Financial management and performance 

reporting. 

  



Annual Governance Statement 

72 
 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

Following completion of the planned audit work 
for the financial year for the clinical 
commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit 
issued an independent and objective opinion on 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical 
commissioning group’s system of risk 
management, governance and internal control. 
The Head of Internal Audit concluded that: 

The purpose of our annual HoIA Opinion is to 
contribute to the assurances available to the 
Accountable Officer and the Governing Body 
which underpin the Accountable Officer’s own 
assessment of the effectiveness of the 
organisation’s system of internal control. This 
opinion will, in turn, assist the Accountable Officer 
in the completion of the Annual Governance 
Statement. 
 
Our opinion is set out as follows: 
 
1. Overall opinion; 
2. Basis for the opinion; 
3. Commentary. 
 
Our overall opinion is that Significant 
Assurance can be given that there is a generally 
sound system of internal control, designed to 
meet the organisation’s objectives, and that 
controls are generally being applied consistently. 
However, some weakness in the design and 
inconsistent application of controls put the 
achievement of particular objectives at risk.  
 
The basis for forming our opinion is as follows: 
 
1. An assessment of the design and operation of 

the underpinning Assurance Framework and 
supporting processes;  

  
2. An assessment of the range of individual 

opinions arising from risk based audit 
assignments, contained within internal audit 
risk-based plans that have been reported 
throughout the year. This assessment has 
taken account of the relative materiality of 
these areas and management’s progress in 
respect of addressing control weaknesses; 

 
3. Any reliance that is being placed upon third 

party assurances. 

 
The commentary below provides the context for 
our opinion and, together with the opinion, 
should be read in its entirety. 
 
The design and operation of the 
Assurance Framework and associated processes 

 
The CCG assurance framework was reviewed and 
updated during the year, and been presented and 
reviewed regularly at the Audit Committee and 
Governing Body meetings. Although the CCG did 
not take part in our benchmarking exercise we 
have shared the results, and the CCG has 
undertaken a comparison against the outcomes to 
ensure that the BAF remains relevant and up to 
date.  Our review of the CCG’s governance and 
risk management arrangements identified no 
issues of concern and was assigned ‘significant 
assurance’. On this basis we are content that the 
Board Assurance Framework provides a 
reasonable basis to support the CCG’s Annual 
Governance Statement. 

  
The range of individual opinions arising from risk-
based audit assignments, contained within risk-
based plans that have been reported during the 
year 

 
During the year 2015/16 we have undertaken our 
work in accordance with the Internal Audit annual 
plan. Throughout the year we have reported our 
findings to the Chief Finance Officer and Chief 
Officer (and other Executive colleagues where 
applicable). Our internal audit progress reports to 
the Audit Committee have set out the areas 
covered by internal audit work during the year, 
our results and matters arising.  

 
The majority of this work would indicate that 
significant assurance opinions have, or will be 
assigned to the majority of the CCG’s systems 
and processes. The CCG should review our 
findings in order to satisfy itself that any 
significant control issues have been recognised 
and appropriately disclosed in its Annual 
Governance Statement.   

 
At the time of compiling this report a number of 
draft reports had been completed or issued to 
management, and are being progressed in 
accordance with the Internal Audit Protocol.  
These draft reports have been considered as part 
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of the Head of Internal Audit Opinion and are 
shown in appendix 1 of our annual report. 
Assignments in progress and where the audit field 
work has been satisfactorily completed have also 
been considered as part of this process. 
By way of commentary it should also be noted 
that there have been no ‘no assurance’ final 
reports issued for 2015/16.  

 
In undertaking our duties we have identified 
some weaknesses in the design or effectiveness 
of controls in certain systems. We have reported 
these issues during the year, and post the year 
end, and have specifically brought these to the 
Accountable Officer’s attention for potential 
disclosure within the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

Third party assurances  
As a result of the support service arrangements 
provided by NECS under a signed service level 
agreement, the CCG received the following 
assurance reports covering the 1st April 2015 to 
31st March 2016. 

 
 Two reports on Internal Controls Type II 

(Finance Controls) – for the periods April 2015 
to September 2015 and October 2015 to 
February 2016.  

 A bridging letter for Internal Controls Type II 
(Finance Controls) for March 2016. 

 Report on Internal Controls Type II 
(Information Technology) – 1 October 2014 to 
30 September 2015. 

 
The outcomes of these reports are noted below: 

 
Internal Controls Type II (Finance Controls) – for 
the periods 1 April 2015 to 30 September 2015 
and 1 October 2015 to 29 February 2016 

 
In relation to those services provided to the CCG 
by NECS, this report by Deloitte covered the 
financial controls relating to key control objectives 
in Accounts Payable, Accounts Receivable, 
Treasury and Cash Management, Financial 
Ledger, Financial Reporting and Payroll. The 
Deloitte audit opinion was a qualified one, and 
with the exception of noted weaknesses the 
report provides reasonable assurance that the 
specified control objectives would be achieved if 
the described controls operated effectively 
throughout the period. 

Internal Controls Type II (Finance Controls) – 
period 1 March 2016 to 31 March 2016 – Bridging 
letter 

 
This letter, provided by NECS, confirms that there 
have been no material changes in control 
environment and procedures operated by NECS 
during the period 1 March 2016 to 31 March 2016 
that would adversely affect the recently issued 
Service Auditors Opinion, and they have indicated 
that it should be read in conjunction with the 
Deloitte report for the period 1 October 2015 to 
29 February 2016.    

 
Report on Internal Controls Type II (Information 
Technology) – period 1 October 2014 to 30 
September 2015 

   
In relation to those services provided to the CCG 
by NECS, this report by Deloitte covered the 
Information Technology systems relating to key 
control objectives in Business Information Quality, 
Information Technology and Information 
Governance. The Deloitte audit opinion was a 
qualified one, and with the exception of the noted 
weaknesses, the report provides reasonable 
assurance that the specified control objectives 
would be achieved if the described controls 
operated effectively throughout the period. 

 
An assurance letter was also received from 
Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust on 
3 May 2016 which provided significant assurance 
with no issues of note on the payroll processes 
that are undertaken on behalf of the CCG. 

 
In forming our overall opinion we have only taken 
into account these outcomes, and where they 
specifically relate to the financial year 2015/16. 
We have therefore not taken into account any 
unpublished reports, or for systems provided by 
third parties where no assurance has been 
provided for the financial year. The CCG will need 
to consider the significance of the lack of 
assurance from its service provider in respect of 
these areas as part of its Annual Governance 
Statement. 

 
Managing Director 
Audit North 
May2016 
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Discharge of statutory functions 

During establishment, the arrangements put in 
place by the CCG and explained within the 
Corporate Governance Framework were 
developed with extensive expert external legal 
input, to ensure compliance with all relevant 
legislation. That legal advice also informed the 
matters reserved for Membership Body and 
Governing Body decision and the scheme of 
delegation. 
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has 
reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers 
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended) and other associated 
legislation and regulations. As a result, I can 
confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative 
requirements associated with each of the 
statutory functions for which it is responsible, 
including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been 
clearly allocated to a lead Governing Body 
member. Senior officers have confirmed that their 
structures provide the necessary capability and 
capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory 
duties. 

Conclusion 

My review confirms that NHS South Tees Clinical 
Commissioning Group has a generally sound 
system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of its policies, aims and objectives.  
We continue to reflect and assess our own 
progress. Where weaknesses have been 
identified, actions have been put into place for 
2016/17. 

 
 
Amanda Hume 
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer for NHS 
South Tees CCG 
26 May 2016 
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Governing Body Report and reports 

from its committees  
Dr Janet Walker, CCG Chair 

Where does NHS South Tees CCG 

commission health services and 

which rules apply to it? 

NHS South Tees CCG is an NHS Clinical 
Commissioning Group established under 
provisions enacted in the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012, which amended the NHS Act 2006. The 
CCG commissions a range of health services for 
the population registered with GP practices within 
the boundaries of both Middlesbrough Council 
and Redcar and Cleveland Council. 

We have a Constitution based on the Department 
of Health’s model template.  A review of our 
Constitution confirms that it complies with the 
elements of the self-certification checklist, 
including: 

 Specifying the arrangements made by the 
CCG for the discharge of its functions 

 Specifying the arrangements made by the 
CCG for the discharge of the functions of the 
Governing Body 

 The procedures to be followed by the CCG in 
making decisions 

 The arrangements it has made to secure that 
individuals to whom health services are being 
or may be provided pursuant to its 
commissioning arrangements are involved 

 Arrangements made by the CCG for 
discharging its duties in respect of registers of 
interests and management of conflicts of 
interests 

 Arrangements made by the CCG for securing 
that there is transparency about the decisions 
of the group and the manner in which they are 
made. 
 

Any changes to the Constitution must be 
approved by NHS England having first been 

approved by the Clinical Council of Members and 
the Governing Body. The Constitution was 
reviewed once in 2015/16 to ensure it remained 
legally compliant and reflected latest guidance.  

The most significant changes in 2015/16 were an 
amendment that allows the CCG to enter into 
creating a Joint Committee with other CCGs in 
Durham and Tees to provide an agreed 
governance framework and process for the Better 
Health Programme. This is a project reviewing 
health services across the broader Tees and 
Durham health economy. In addition the 
Constitution has been amended to reflect the 
introduction of delegated commissioning of GP 
primary care in 2016/17 and the appointment of 
an Auditor Panel.  

What is NHS South Tees CCG’s 

governance structure? 

The CCG has continued to operate with a 
committee structure which reflects guidance and 
best practice, including: Quality, Performance and 
Finance Committee, Governance and Risk 
Committee, Audit Committee, Remuneration 
Committee and a Funding Panel.  Terms of 
reference have been agreed for these committees 
which support the organisation in the delivery of 
effective governance.  In 2015/16 a new Primary 
Care Co-commissioning Committee was formed 
as a joint committee with NHS England. The 
organisational structure including key committees 
is set out below.   

Committees of the Governing 

Body 

Details of the NHS South Tees CCG Governing 
Body and committee governance structure are set 
out in this report. The terms of reference for each 
of the committees of the Governing Body, which 
have been approved by the Governing Body are 
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available on our website. Membership and 
activities of the various committees are 
summarised on pages 88-94 of this report. 
Provided below is an overview of our key 
committees. 

Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee 

Quality, Performance and Finance Committee 

Chaired by Dr John Drury  

Number of meetings in the year: 6 

Role of the committee 

The Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee has responsibility for overseeing and 

monitoring the overall performance of the CCG 

and its contracts. 

For more information see page 89 

Audit Committee 

Audit Committee 

Chaired by Mr Peter Race MBE 

Number of meetings in the year: 5 

Role of the committee 

The Audit Committee reviews our financial 

reporting and internal control principles and 

ensures an appropriate relationship with both 

internal and external auditors is maintained. 

For more information see pages 90 to 93 

Remuneration Committee 

Remuneration Committee 

Chaired by Mr David Brunskill 

Number of meetings in the year: 2 

Role of the committee 

The Remuneration Committee advises the 

Governing Body about pay, other benefits and 

terms of employment for the Chief Officer and 

other senior staff. 

For more information see page 93 

Governance and Risk Committee 

Governance and Risk Committee 

Chaired by Mrs Karen Dales  

Number of meetings in the year: 4 

Role of the committee 

The Governance and Risk Committee is 

responsible for the development, 

implementation and monitoring of integrated 

risk and governance. 

For more information see page 94 

Funding Panel 

Funding Panel 

Chaired by Mr Peter Race MBE 

Number of meetings in the year: 12 

Role of the committee 

The Funding Panel approves the funding of 

specific treatments in exceptional circumstances 

working jointly with other CCGs. 

For more information see page 94 

Primary Care Co-Commissioning 

Committee 

Primary Care Co-Commissioning Committee 

Chaired by Mr David Brunskill 

Number of meetings in the year: 5 

Role of the committee 

The Primary Care Co-Commissioning Committee 

is a joint committee with NHS England with the 

primary purpose of commissioning primary 

medical services for the people of South Tees. 

For more information see page 88 

 

Clinical Council of Members 

The Clinical Council of Members is established by 
NHS South Tees CCG in accordance with its 
Constitution, standing orders and scheme of 
delegation.  The Clinical Council of Members is 
made up of the 44 member practices and is the 
mechanism through which the member practice 
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representatives come together for collective 
decision making as a member organisation, 
ensuring active participation by each practice. 

The Clinical Council of Members holds our 
Governing Body to account through 
communication about the overall performance of 
the CCG. In line with the Constitution, the Clinical 
Council of Members determines how it operates; 
sets the process of appointment and dismissal of 
Governing Body members through the 
Nominations Panel; elects GP Governing Body 
members; considers and approves changes to 
the Constitution; determines the overarching 
scheme of delegation; determines delegation of 
powers to localities and determines any matter in 
full session of the Council.  

The Clinical Council of Members has met on five 
occasions during 2015/16 and the main areas of 
discussion are summarised on page 21. 

Our Governing Body 

This body is appointed under the NHS Act 2006; 
with the main function of ensuring that the CCG 
has made appropriate arrangements for ensuring 
that it complies with its obligations under the NHS 
Act 2006 and the generally accepted principles of 
good governance that are relevant to it. 

As at 31 March 2016, the Governing Body was 
made up of 13 members consisting of the Chair 
and five other GP Members, three Executive 
Directors (including the Chief Officer), three Lay 
Members and a Secondary Care Doctor.  

The six GP members of the Governing Body are 
elected by the member practices. The Chair is 
elected from within the six elected GPs by the 
Governing Body members. The Chief Officer is 
appointed by NHS England following nomination 
by the CCG. The other officers, Lay Members and 
Secondary Care Doctor are recruited to the 
Governing Body. Biographical details for each of 
the Governing Body members in office as at 31 
March 2016 are shown on pages 79-82. 

The Lay Members and Secondary Care Doctor 
are each considered by the Governing Body to be 
independent and free of any relationship which 

could materially interfere with the exercise of their 
independent judgement. 

Who attends Governing Body 

meetings? 

Each Governing Body member is required to 
attend all meetings of the Governing Body and 
committees of which they are a member. In 
addition, other senior management of the CCG 
and advisors attend some of the meetings for the 
discussion of specific items in greater depth. 

The Governing Body met regularly during the 
year. There were eight Governing Body meetings 
held during the year ended 31 March 2016. The 
attendance record of the Governing Body is 
shown in the table below:  

Member Attended 
 
Dr Janet Walker, CCG Chair 
 
Amanda Hume, Chief Officer 
 
Dr John Drury, Secondary Care Doctor  
 
Peter Race MBE, Lay Member 
 
David Brunskill, Lay Member 
 
Karen Dales, Lay Member       
 
Dr Ali Tahmassebi, GP Member 
 
Dr Mike Milner, GP Member  
 
Dr Vaishali Nanda, GP Member  
 
Dr Nigel Rowell, GP Member 
 
Dr Rajesh Khapra, GP Member 
 
Jean Golightly, Executive Nurse 
 
Simon Gregory, Chief Finance Officer 
 

 
7/8 

 
8/8 

 
8/8 

 
8/8 

 
7/8 

 
4/6 

 
6/8 

 
7/8 

 
4/8 

 
5/8 

 
7/8 

 
5/8 

 
8/8 
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Most of our Governing Body meetings are held in 
public, seven of our eight meetings last year were 
held in public. Details of meetings in public are 

available on our website 
www.southteesccg.nhs.uk    

 

 

How does the Governing Body operate and how are 

decisions made? 
Certain strategic decision making powers are reserved to the Governing Body.  

The formal schedule of these powers is within the CCG Constitution. The principal matters reserved for the 
Governing Body are set out on pages 82-83. 

Where appropriate, matters are delegated to a committee that will consider them in accordance with its 
terms of reference. Details of each of these committees’ membership and terms of reference are set out on 
pages 88-94 of this report. 

Day-to-day operational decisions are managed by the Executive Group, led by the Chief Officer, Amanda 
Hume.  

The Governing Body members and senior managers who regularly attend the Executive Group meetings 
are listed on page 59 of this report.  

 

 

 

http://www.southteesccg.nhs.uk/


Governing Body Report and reports from its committees 

79 
 

Dr Janet Walker 

Chair 

Reappointed as Governing Body 

member 9 October 2015 and elected 

as Governing Body Chair in November 

2014. Dr Walker’s term of office 

expires in November 2017. 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Walker has specialist interests in medicines optimisation, 

palliative care and children and young people. Since 

becoming Chair she has been working to increase patient 

and public engagement, with amongst  others, the locality 

Patient Participation Groups (PPG) and the newly formed 

Patient and Public Advisory Group (PPAG).  She is 

passionate about partnership working.  

Experience 

Dr Walker has been a Teesside GP  working in Eston since 

1998.  She played an active role in Practice Based 

Commissioning (PBC) as group chair, before becoming the 

lead for the Greater Eston Pathfinder.  

Other committee membership 

Member of Remuneration Committee; Tees Medicines 

Governance Group, Non-voting member of Primary Care 

Co-Commissioning Committee. Locality Lead for Eston. 

Redcar and Eston, and Midldlesbrough PPGs.  Dr Walker 

also attends the Patient and Public Advisory Group (PPAG) .  

Dr Raj Khapra 

GP Member 

Appointed on 2 January 2015. Dr 

Khapra’s term of office expires in 

December 2018. 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Khapra has worked in the NHS since 1997 and has 

worked in hospitals across the country within surgical 

specialities. His particular area of interest is 

musculoskeletal conditions.  

Experience 

Dr Khapra has been a GP since 2005 and has spent a 

number of years working in South Tees.  He  was 

appointed as a Governing Body GP in January 2015.  Dr 

Khapra is passionate about improving patient care and 

maintaining and developing good relationships with 

colleagues. He is the CCG Caldicott Guardian. 

Other committee membership 

Member of Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee; Governance and Risk Committee, Non-

voting member of Primary Care Co-Commissioning 

Committee. 

 

 

Dr Vaishali Nanda 

GP Member  

 

Appointed on 9 October 2015. Dr 

Nanda’s term of office expires in 

October 2018. 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Nanda is ready to adapt to change and strives to 

improve services for patients. She has a good 

understanding of challenges facing primary care and has a 

commitment to understanding and improving the quality of 

care. She works with colleagues to improve the morale of 

staff delivering care. 

Experience 

Dr Nanda is a GP at Discovery Practice, Middlesbrough and 

has practiced as a GP since 2005. She is passionate about 

improving services; this passion has led to working beyond 

her own practice and she is the GP Quality Lead for the 

CCG.  Within this role she works with the CCG’s major 

providers, the two local authorities, NHS England’s Area 

Team and primary care.    

Other committee membership 

Locality Clinical Lead for Middlesbrough; Member of Health  

Inequalities Steering Group and Co-Chair of the Clinical 

Executive Steering Group; Chair of Clinical Quality Review 

Groups. 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 

GP Member 

 

Appointed on 9 October 2015. Dr 

Tahmassebi’s term of office expires 

in October 2018. 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Tahmassebi has a specialist interest in improving 

quality in primary care, and providing challenge to 

ensure quality is a leading driver for change. He 

encourages innovation and promotes a culture of joint 

working between organisations and practices. He also 

has extensive knowledge of service redesign. 

Experience 

A GP since 1999, Dr Tahmassebi has led the Langbaurgh 

locality since 2006, engaging closely with practices and 

clinicians in making Practice Based Commissioning (PBC) 

and later the CCG successful. He has played a key role in 

the development of services including community 

services, MSK integration, medicines management and 

the role of pharmacists. He is also the clinical lead for 

the CCG’s IMProVE programme. 

Other committee membership 

Chair of Health Inequalities Steering Group and Co-

Chair of the Clinical Executive Steering Group, Locality 

Lead for Langbaurgh.  
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Amanda Hume 
Chief Officer 
 

Appointed on 1 April 2013 

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Mrs Hume has significant experience working within 

commissioning, workforce development, organisational 

development and HR. Mrs Hume’s skills include strategic 

planning and expertise in contracting and performance. 

Experience 

Mrs Hume has over 20 years NHS experience, having 

worked across primary and secondary care, mental health 

and education. Her roles have included Director of 

Commissioning, planning and performance, strategy, 

workforce, HR and OD. She has managed a number of 

major change programmes across the North East health 

system. She graduated with joint honours in Management 

and Psychology from Leeds University, is a chartered fellow 

of the Institute of Personnel Development and has an MBA 

from Durham University.  Mrs Hume is passionate about 

partnership and collaborative working.  

Other committee membership 

Chair of Executive Group;  Member of IMProVE Advisory 

Group; Quality, Performance and Finance Committee and 

Primary Care Co-Commissioning Committee. 

 

Dr Mike Milner 
GP Member 
 

Appointed on 9 October 2015. Dr 

Milner’s term of office expires in 

October 2018. 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Milner has extensive experience in out of hours care 

services and general medical practice. 

Experience 

Dr Milner has been a GP since 1982 and has special 

interests in epilepsy and urgent care. Involved in the 

Langbaurgh Pathfinder and PCG for many years, he is the 

Clinical Lead for the NHS South Tees CCG Systems 

Resilience Group workstream and is actively involved in the 

development of the Urgent Care Strategy.  

Other committee membership 

Member of Urgent Care Chairs’ Network; Chair of Systems 

Resilience Group (SRG) and member of Quality, 

Performance and Finance Committee. 

 

 

Dr Nigel Rowell 
GP Member  
 

Appointed on 9 October 2015. Dr 

Rowell’s term of office expires in 

October 2017. 

 

 

Key strengths 

Dr Rowell is the National Clinical Lead in Heart Failure 

for NHS Improvement and is a GP with a specialist 

interest in cardiology. He was the founding member of 

Cardio Vascular General Practitioners and is an 

undergraduate teacher. 

Experience 

Qualified in 1988 and a GP in the same Middlesbrough 

practice since 1989, Dr Rowell has had several lead roles 

in the Tees area including Chair of Middlesbrough PBC 

Group, Chair of the Service Development Committee of 

the PCG and non-executive Director and Vice Chair of 

Tees Health Authority. Other roles within the NHS are as 

Primary Care Lead for the Northeast Cardiovascular 

Network; clinical champion for the Living Longer Lives 

team and GP with a Special Interest in Heart Failure.  

Other committee membership 

Member of Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee; Member of Clinical Quality Review Group; 

and is the Urgent Care Workstream Executive Sponsor. 

 

 

Jean Golightly 
Executive Nurse  
 

Appointed on 25 April 2013 

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Ms Golightly has extensive healthcare experience 

including management of clinical services, clinical 

governance, risk management and education.  

Experience 

Ms Golightly has over 20 years’ experience in a variety of 

healthcare and geographic settings, including Europe 

and the United States. More recently she was working in 

acute hospital trusts prior to joining the CCG. She is the 

Executive Lead for Learning Disability.  

Other committee membership 

Member of Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee; Governance and Risk Committee and 

Primary Care Co-Commissioning Committee. 
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Simon Gregory 
Chief Finance Officer  
 

Appointed on 1 April 2013  

 

 

 

 

Key strengths 

Mr Gregory has extensive knowledge of NHS finance, with 

expertise in NHS tariff mechanisms, contracting and funding 

systems. 

Experience 

Mr Gregory is a qualified accountant with over 30 years’ 

experience in the NHS. 

He trained as an accountant at a London teaching hospital 

and has previously worked in district general hospitals, large 

trusts and Middlesbrough PCT. He previously worked at 

South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as the finance 

lead for commissioning.  Mr Gregory is the Governing Body 

lead for mental health for the CCG and the Senior 

Information Risk Owner (SIRO). 

Other committee membership 

Member of Quality, Performance and Finance Committee, 

Governance and Risk Commitee and Primary Care Co-

Commissioning Committee.  

 

Dr John Drury       
Secondary Care Doctor 
 

Reappointed in March 2015 for a 

second term and may serve for 

two to three years. 

 

 

Key strengths 

Extensive experience at management and board level in 

healthcare and broad knowledge of NHS landscape.   

Experience 

Dr Drury is retired, having previously worked for South 

Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust as a Consultant. 

John came to Middlesbrough in 1983 as Consultant 

Chemical Pathologist. He was General Manager of 

Middlesbrough General Hospital and was Medical 

Director of South Tees Hospitals Trust from 1992 to 

1997; other NHS roles included Chair of Policy Advisory 

Group – NHS Litigation Authority and the local research 

ethics committee. 

Other committee membership 

Member of Audit Committee; Chair of Clinical 

Professional Forum; Member of Remuneration 

Committee, Primary Care Co-Commissioning 

Committee.and Chair of Quality, Performance and 

Finance Committee. 

 

Mr David Brunskill 
Lay Member 
 

Reappointed in March 2015 for a 

second term and will serve for two 

years. 

 

 

Key strengths 

Mr Brunskill has extensive knowledge of public partnership 

working and executive level management experience.  

Experience 

Mr Brunskill was a police officer for 30 years working mainly 

in uniform in Redcar and Middlesbrough and in the force 

Communications Department.   Having attained the rank of 

Superintendent he retired in 2010 as District Commander 

for Stockton-on-Tees having previously been the Head of 

the force Professional Standards Department.   Mr Brunskill 

has extensive experience working within public sector 

organisations as well as the voluntary and community 

sector. He is the Lay Member for Patient and Public 

Involvement. 

Other committee membership 

Chair of Patient and Public Advisory Group; CCG Vice Chair; 

Chair of Remuneration Committee; Member of Audit 

Committee; Member of Governance and Risk Committee, 

Chair of Primary Care Co-Commissioning  Committee. 

Mr Peter Race MBE 
Lay Member 
 

Reappointed in March 2015 for a 

second term and will serve for two 

years. 

 

 

Key strengths 

Mr Race has extensive senior management experience in 

the public and private sector. 

Experience 

Mr Race joined the NHS after retiring from the gas 

industry in 2005 after 35 years’ service. He joined Redcar 

and Cleveland PCT as a Non-Executive Director, and 

was appointed Audit Chair. He contributed to and 

witnessed the evolving health service and supported the 

single management team concept when initially, Redcar 

and Cleveland and Middlesbrough PCTs shared their 

Board meetings and finally when all four PCTs shared 

their resources within Tees. Mr Race is Lay Member for 

Governance. 

Other committee membership 

Chair of Audit Committee; Chair of Funding Panel;  

Member of Quality Performance and Finance 

Committee; Remuneration Committee and Primary Care 

Co-commissioning Committee. 
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Mrs Karen Dales 
Lay Member 
 

Appointed in September 2015 and will 

serve for three years. 

 

 

Key strengths 

Mrs Dales has 30 years’ experience of working in the public 

sector including Health, Social Care, Local Government and 

Education 

Experience 

A qualified accountant, her roles have included Finance 

Director, planning, policy development, performance, 

governance, procurement and contract management as 

well as managerial responsibility for HR, data services, 

facilities and IT. 

She is currently Assistant Principal: Corporate Services at 

Hartlepool College of Further Education. 

Other committee membership 

Chiar of Governance and Risk Committee and Member of 

Primary Care Co-commissioning Committee, Audit 

Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

Principal matters reserved 

for the Governing Body 
The member practices form our Clinical Council of 
Members and hold the Governing Body to 
account for its fulfilment of the following duties 

Strategy, commissioning plan and 

budgets 

Our Governing Body sets the strategic aims and 
objectives for the CCG. It identifies the key 
strategic risks and ensures adequate responses 
are in place and are monitored, including 
approval of our strategy for the management of 
risk. It also approves our annual commissioning 
plan and the application of the CCG’s financial 
resources to meet the plan’s objectives and 
formally sets our budget for each year. Capital 
plans, organisational development proposals and 
the Annual Report and Accounts have to be 
approved by the Governing Body. 

Policy determination 

Management policies, including human resource 
policies, are approved by one of the Governing 
Body’s sub-committees (Governance and Risk). 
Proposals for ensuring quality and developing 
clinical governance in services provided by the 
CCG or its constituent practices are also subject 
to the Governing Body’s approval. In addition, it 
will also approve any proposals for action on 
litigation against or on behalf of the CCG. 

Regulation and control 

Our Governing Body approves amendments to 
our Constitution, Standing Orders and Scheme of 
Delegation. It also adopts the organisation 
structures, processes and procedures including 
the approval of the establishment of its sub 
committees, their terms of reference and reporting 
requirements.  Where a committee does not have 
executive powers, the Governing Body will 
confirm its recommendations, including proposals 
of the Remuneration Committee regarding senior 
employees. 
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We also have processes for managing conflicts of 
interests and complaints that are established and 
monitored by the Governing Body. Urgent 
decisions taken by the Chair of the CCG and 
Chief Officer are ratified by the Governing Body. 

Finance and audit 

There are some specific areas of finance that are 
reserved to the Governing Body in addition to 
setting the annual budget. These are the opening 
of bank accounts and approval of contracts and 
payments above the limits of the Chief Officer and 
Chair, as well as any individual compensation 
payments. The body also authorises the use of 
the CCG seal. The appointment and dismissal of 
External Auditors is approved by the Governing 
Body. 

Appointments or dismissal 

The Governing Body appoints its Chair and Vice 
Chair as well as other committees (and individual 
members) that are directly accountable to the 
Governing Body. It also has the authority to 
appoint or dismiss officer members. It may 
discipline members of the Governing Body or 
employees who are in breach of statutory 
requirements or standing orders. We also confirm 
the appointment of members of any committee of 
the CCG as representatives on outside bodies at 
the Governing Body. 

How do we maintain an 

effective Governing Body? 

Governing Body relationships 

The effective working of the Governing Body is 
crucial to the strategic aims of the CCG. This is 
achieved through strong and open working 
relationships between Governing Body members, 
whose roles are agreed and set out in writing. In 
addition to the core six GP Members of the 
Governing Body there are six other roles. A short 
summary of all roles is set out below 

Chair 

 Responsible for overall leadership and 
governance of the Governing Body 

 Ensures that the Governing Body Members 
have an understanding of the views of the 
CCG’s major stakeholders 

 Ensures a healthy culture of challenge and 
debate at Governing Body and committee 
meetings. 

Chief Officer 

 Responsible for the effective leadership of the 
CCG 

 Implementation of the CCG’s objectives and 
strategy agreed by the Governing Body 

 Maintaining good relationships and 
communications with GP practices and other 
stakeholders 

 Working closely with the Chief Finance Officer 
to ensure prudent financial controls 

 Developing and implementing policies integral 
to improving the business, including in relation 
to health and safety and sustainability. 

Lay Members 

 Lay members bring specific expertise and 
experience, as well as their knowledge as a 
member of the local community, to the work of 
the Governing Body. 

GP Members 

 Give a strategic clinical view on all aspects of 
CCG business 

 Clinical leader, beyond the boundaries of a 
single practice or profession – demonstrably 
able to think beyond their own professional 
viewpoint 

 In-depth understanding of a specific locality 
 Take a balanced view of the clinical and 

management agenda and draw on their 
specialist skills to add value 

 Contribute a generic view from the 
perspective of a member practice in the CCG, 
whilst putting aside specific issues relating to 
their own practice circumstances. 
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Secondary Care Doctor 

 This clinical member of the Governing Body 
brings a broader view, on health and care 
issues to underpin the work of the CCG. In 
particular, they bring to the Governing Body 
an understanding of patient care in the 
secondary care setting. 

 

Executive Nurse 

 This clinical role of Registered Nurse includes 
bringing a broader view from their perspective 
as a registered nurse, on health and care 
issues to underpin the work of the CCG 
especially the contribution of nursing to 
patient care. 

 

Chief Finance Officer 

 The Governing Body’s professional expert on 
finance and ensuring, through robust systems 
and processes, the regularity and propriety of 
expenditure is fully discharged 

 Advise the Governing Body on the effective, 
efficient and economic use of the CCG’s 
allocation to remain within that allocation and 
deliver required financial targets and duties. 
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What has the Governing Body done during the year? 
During the year 2015/16 our Governing Body met on eight occasions; of which one was not in public and 
seven were in public, and for which there was an annual cycle of business. 

There was detailed planning throughout the year with the CCG’s governance team to consider and review 
the Governing Body’s annual rolling agenda programme. This ensured that all matters reserved for the 
Governing Body and other strategic issues were discussed at the appropriate time.  

 

Quality 
 Regular quality reports which include:  

o quality performance including 
health care acquired infections; 

o safeguarding; 
o Francis II; 
o Winterbourne Review; 
o Transforming Care; 
o incidents and 
o complaints. 

 Winter preparedness and systems 
resilience assurance 

 Patient Stories 
 Complaints Annual Report  
 CQC Report – Children Looked After and 

Safeguarding 
 Learning Disability Fast Track Plans 
 Healthwatch reports 

 

Governance 
 Register of Interests 
 Constitution updates 
 Annual Cycle of Business 
 Standards of Business Conduct and 

Declarations of Interest Policy 
 Governing Body Assurance Framework 
 Minutes of other committees 
 Renewed Terms of Reference for 

committees 
 Value Based Commissioning Policy Review 

and decision making framework 
 Contract extensions for out of hours and 

walk in centres 
 

Strategy 
 Strategic vision and aims 
 Corporate objectives for 2015/16 and progress 

reports 
 IMProVE updates  
 Planning guidance for 2016/17-20/21 
 Commissioning Intentions for 2016/17 
 Mental Health Strategy 
 Joint presentation from the Directors of Public 

Health on Tackling Health Inequalities across 
South Tees 

 Carers’ Strategy for Middlesbrough, 2015-19 
 Information Governance Strategy 
 Urgent Care Strategy development 
 Better health programme (formerly Securing 

quality in health services) 
 Joint working with partner organisations. 
 Collaboration Agreement for Commissioners – 

Lead Provider Framework 
 Provision of services from the Life Store 

 

Performance and Finance 
 Operational finance and activity plan for 

2016/17 
 Regular reports on the CCG’s financial position 
 Regular reports on performance monitoring 
 Annual reports and accounts 
 Contracting updates 

 
Engagement 
 360 stakeholder survey results and action plan 
 Feedback from the Clinical Council of Members 
 Locality issues 
 Feedback from public engagement events 
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Refreshment and 
development of the 
Governing Body 
 

In 2015/16 the CCG appointed an additional Lay 
Member. This was in response to the additional 
demand for Lay Member roles created by the new 
Primary Care Co-Commissioning Committee. Our 
new Lay Member now chairs the Governance and 
Risk Committee. 

During the summer of 2015 we worked closely 
with the Local Medical Committee to carry out an 
election process for the positions of 6 of our 
Governing Body GPs as they came to the end of 
their terms of office.  All the existing post holders 
had expressed a willingness to re-stand for the 
positions; however, all GPs in the South Tees 
area were invited to express their interest in 
standing for election.  The existing Governing 
Body GPs were fully supported by their GP 
colleagues and were subsequently reappointed 
into their roles, including that of the CCG Chair, 
Dr Janet Walker. 

The external review of governance arrangements 
in 2014/15 highlighted some potential 
improvements relating to the membership and 
chairmanship of our Committees and Executive 
Group so that there would be greater opportunity 
for challenge and debate in order to further 
strengthen the CCG’s decision making processes.  
We implemented these proposals during 2015/16. 

Governing Body Development 

Sessions 

The Governing Body is committed to ensuring 
that sufficient time is dedicated to allow members 
to discuss key strategic issues as well as being 
able to reflect on its own performance and ensure 
that arrangements are in place to allow for further 
development and improvement. 

During 2015/16, our Governing Body reviewed its 
effectiveness to ensure that it is composed of the 
right people, had strong and effective leadership, 

demonstrated effective behaviours and values 
and also promoted constructive relationships with 
management and stakeholders.  One of the key 
requirements of our Governing Body is the ability 
for members to challenge thinking and critically 
analyse decisions.  Work was undertaken to 
ensure our Governing Body is developing and 
promoting our collective vision of the CCG 
including our purpose, our culture, our values and 
our behaviours.    

During the year we have held seven development 
sessions with the Governing Body members. The 
focus of these sessions included: 

 Two sessions reviewing and clarifying the 
roles of Governing Body members to ensure 
that the CCG was able to focus appropriately 
on key issues 

 The development of a Primary Care Strategy 
and an educational session covering technical 
aspects of the primary care commissioning 
agenda 

 Development of the Urgent Care Strategy 
 Broad discussion of the Durham and Tees-

wide programme for securing quality in health 
services 

 Learning Disabilities and the Transforming 
Care programme 

 Reviewing key issues throughout the year and 
consideration of learning points to improve 
upon during 2016/17 

 External review of governance with a 
particular emphasis on the quality of 
information provided and how we can ensure 
that the Governing Body and our Committees 
are able to make informed decisions based on 
the best possible evidence and information. 

Other bodies  

Members of the Governing Body are also 
members of other boards and bodies related to 
health. 

Amanda Hume 

Member of Middlesbrough Health and Wellbeing 
Board  
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Member of Redcar and Cleveland Health and 
Wellbeing Board  

Member of Northern Clinical Commissioning 
Group Forum  

Chair of Integration Programme Board  

Chair of Mental Health Crisis Care Task Group 

Member of Tees Valley Strategic Forum 

Dr Janet Walker 

Member of Tees Medicines Governance Group 

Member of Northern Clinical Commissioning 
Group Forum 

Board member Macmillan Integration Cancer 
Care Project. 

Dr Nigel Rowell 

Primary Care Lead for the North of England 
Cardiovascular Network 

Dr Vaishali Nanda 

Member of Middlesbrough Health and Wellbeing 
Board 

Member of Durham, Darlington and Tees Primary 
Care Quality Surveillance Group 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 

Member of Redcar and Cleveland Health and 
Wellbeing Board  

Director of Slaters’ Bridge; a social enterprise 
looking at the quality of general practice 

Member of the North East Community Health 
Network (NECHN) social enterprise of General 
Practices in Langbaurgh 

Dr Mike Milner 

Member of Urgent Care Chairs’ Network   

Dr Rajesh Khapra 

Member of Academic Health Science Network 
Back Pain Network 

Ms Jean Golightly 

Executive Nurse for Hartlepool and Stockton-on-
Tees Clinical Commissioning Group 

Member of Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 
CCG Governing Body 

Member of Primary and Secondary Care Quality 
Surveillance Groups  

Member of Local Safeguarding Boards 

Dr John Drury 

Partnership Governor for Tees, Esk and Wear 
Valleys NHS Foundation Trust 

Mr Peter Race MBE 

Partnership Governor for South Tees Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust 

Mrs Karen Dales 

Assistant Principal: Corporate Services at 
Hartlepool College of Further Education 

What are the Governing 
Body’s priorities for 
2016/17? 
Membership 

The terms of office for two of our Lay Members 
come to an end in March 2017 and we will, 
therefore, be reviewing roles and advertising for 
new post holders. 

Strategy  

The Governing Body will continue to develop 
strategy and provide leadership in 2016/17. In 
addition to the delivery of core national strategies, 
there will also be a focus on specific local issues. 

A significant area for 2016/17 will be the focus on 
how better integration and system transformation 
can reduce the historical levels of unplanned 
emergency care within local health and social 
care services. The principal components will be: 
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 Better Health Programme 
 Better Care Fund  
 Urgent Care Review 
 South Tees Access and Response Service 

(STAR)  
 The completion of the IMProVE programme 

modernising community services, bringing 
care closer to home 

 Mental health and learning disabilities 

Development 

The CCG will be responsible for the delegated 
commissioning of GP primary care services in 
2016/17. Part of the Governing Body’s response 
to this change will be to enhance our approach to 
handling any additional conflicts of interest of 
Governing Body members and other staff 
including GPs. 

We will continue identifying additional ways of 
ensuring greater levels of challenge and debate 
within the Governing Body; this includes 
redefining the roles of our GPs, Lay Members and 
Secondary Care Doctor. 

The Governing Body and its committees will again 
review their terms of reference and membership 
structures in 2016-17. These reviews will ensure 
that the CCG maintains its focus on the quality 
and relevance of its governance.  

Governing Body 
Committee Reports 
Primary Care Co-Commissioning 

Committee Report 

Committee members during the year ended 31 
March 2016 

Member Attended 
David Brunskill, Chair        
  
Dr John Drury, Secondary Care 
Doctor 
 
Jean Golightly, Executive Nurse 
 

5/5 
 

5/5 
 
 

4/5 
 

Member Attended 
Simon Gregory, Chief Finance 
Officer 
 
Amanda Hume, Chief Officer
  
Peter Race MBE, Lay Member
   
Craig Blair, Associate Director 
of Commissioning, Delivery and 
Operations  
 
Dr Raj Khapra, GP Member 
(non-voting) 
 
Dr Janet Walker, GP Member 
and CCG Chair (non-voting) 
 
NHS England representative 

4/5 
 
 

2/5 
 

4/5 
 

5/5 
 
 
 

5/5 
 
 

5/5 
 

5/5 

What has the Committee done 

during the year? 

2015/16 was the first year of the Committee and it 
met on five occasions.  In addition to agreeing its 
working arrangements for its first year, the 
Committee approved: 

 Primary Care Strategy 
 Primary Care Infrastructure Fund – Business 

Case for Urgent Care Centre 
 Quality engagement schemes and practice 

enhanced treatment schemes 
 Delegation Agreement for the CCG to move to 

fully delegated primary care commissioning 
from April 2016. 

The Committee also received updates and 
assurances relating to: 

 NHS England and CCG contracting positions 
 Updates on reviews of individual Practices 
 CQC processes and responsibilities as well as 

feedback on visits 
 Feedback from the public engagement 

exercise regarding the CCG’s Urgent Care 
Strategy 

 South Tees Access and Response Scheme 
 Healthwatch reports on GP access 
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 Primary care infrastructure and estates 
 General Practice IT  
 Overviews of work being undertaken to 

improve quality in primary care and the 
related commissioning intentions 

The Committee fulfilled its responsibilities outlined 
in its Terms of Reference.  

Quality, Performance and Finance 

Committee Report 

Committee members during the year ended 31 
March 2016 

Member Attended 
Dr Ali Tahmassebi (until 
November 2015) 
 
Dr John Drury, Chair (from 
August 2015) 
  
Jean Golightly, Executive Nurse
  
Simon Gregory, Chief Finance 
Officer 
 
Dr Raj Khapra, GP Member
  
Peter Race MBE, Lay Member
   
Amanda Hume, Chief Officer
    
Dr Nigel Rowell, GP Member
    
Dr Vaishali Nanda, GP Member 
(Until November 2015) 
 
Dr Mike Milner, GP Member
    
Craig Blair, Associate Director 
of Commissioning, Delivery and 
Operations  

3/4 
 
 

4/4 
 
 

5/6 
 

4/6 
 

6/6 
 

3/6 
 

5/6 
 

3/6 
 

2/4 
 
 

4/6 
 

6/6 

What has the Committee done 

during the year? 

During 2015/16 the QPF Committee met on six 
occasions, for which there was an annual cycle of 
business to ensure it carried out all of its duties as 

outlined in its Terms of Reference.   Agendas are 
structured to deal with quality, performance and 
finance issues at each meeting.   

In addition to reviewing its terms of reference and 
minutes of other groups (e.g. Contract 
Management Board and the Individual Funding 
Request Panel), the Committee’s work has 
included: 

Quality 

 Quality and safety monitoring reports 
 Commissioning for quality and innovation 

(CQuIN) 
 Medicines optimisation 
 Continuing health care 
 Healthcare associated infections 
 Quality risk profiling  
 Learning disability standard assurance 

framework 
 Foundation Trusts’ Quality Accounts 
 Quality impact of cost improvement plans in 

provider organisations 
 Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 

Prevention (QIPP) Plans 
 Provider quality information supporting 

assurance visits 
 Compliance with recommendations from 

national inquiries (e.g. Winterbourne and 
Francis 2) 

 Serious untoward incidents 
 Complaints 
 Patient and public involvement 
 Updates on National Audit Report 

Performance 

 Clinical workstreams 
 Performance monitoring reports including 

referral analysis and Better Care Fund 
updates 

 Constitutional indicators including ambulance 
response times and cancer waiting times 

 Payment by results 
 Planning – strategic and operational plans, 

Better Care Fund, financial plan. 
 Reports on GP variations 
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Finance 

 Financial position and risks 
 Prescribing budgets 

Audit Committee Report 

Committee members during the year ended 31 
March 2016 

Member Attended 
Peter Race MBE, Committee 
Chair   
 
Dr John Drury, Secondary Care 
Doctor   
 
David Brunskill, Lay Member
  
Karen Dales, Lay Member 
From November 2015  

5/5 
 
 

4/5 
 
 

4/5 
 

2/2 

What has the Audit Committee 

done during the year? 

During the year 2015/16 the Audit Committee met 
on five occasions and for which there was an 
annual cycle of business to ensure it complied 
with its Terms of Reference.   

During the year the Audit Committee has 
included: 

Audit Committee 

 Terms of Reference and Audit Committee 
effectiveness 

 Updates on the Audit Committee Handbook 
 Agreed the Audit Committee’s annual report 

to the Governing Body 
 Received the Annual Accounts 
 Received assurances from process overview 

presentations/discussions relating to: the 
Better Care Fund and quality and CQUIN 

 Received the Service Auditor Report and 
Action Plan for the commissioning support 
unit 

 Conflicts of Interests 
 Received information relating to the transfer of 

equipment from the Life Store. 

External Audit 

 External Audit annual plan for previous year 
 Progress report including consideration of 

emerging findings for external audit work 
 Approval of External Audit plan and fees 
 2014/15 Annual Audit Letter. 

Internal Audit 

 Review of Internal Audit provision 
 Advice on the Internal Audit strategy and the 

work plan for the beginning of the new 
financial year 

 Approval of Internal Audit Plan 
 Consider mid-year report on emerging 

findings from Internal Audit 
 CCG Assurance Framework Benchmarking 

Report 
 Counter Fraud. 

Counter Fraud progress report 

 Counter Fraud annual report. 
 Counter Fraud annual plan for 2015/16. 

Governance 

 Annual Governance Statement 
 Reviewed CCG Annual Report 
 Reviewed Assurance Framework 
 Statutory duties 
 Assurance report from Governance and Risk 

Committee regarding compliance with 
statutory duties and effectiveness of policies. 

 Review of losses and special payments 
 Use of company seal 
 Aged Debtors and Creditors 
 Ensure systems for financial reporting to the 

Governing Body including budgetary control, 
are subject to review regarding completeness 
and accuracy of information 
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Audit Committee-Annual Report 

2015/16 
Peter Race MBE, Audit Committee Chair

Introduction 

This report to the Governing Body covers the year 
1 April 2015 – 31 March 2016 and is submitted as 
a requirement under the terms of reference of the 
Audit Committee.  

The principal purpose of the report is to give the 
Governing Body assurance as to the work carried 
out to support the Annual Governance Statement 
given by the Accountable Officer on its behalf. 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee is established under 
Governing Body delegation with approved terms 
of reference that are aligned with the NHS Audit 
Committee Handbook, published by the HFMA 
and Department of Health. The Committee 
consists of two Lay Members (three from 
November 2015) and the Secondary Care Doctor 
and has met on five occasions formally in the 
period 2015/16, and has discharged its 
responsibilities for scrutinising the risks and 
controls which affect all aspects of the CCG’s 
business.  During the year, the appointment of an 
additional Lay Member to the Governing Body 
has allowed the CCG to succession plan for the 
future Chairmanship of the Audit Committee. 

The work programme of the Audit Committee is 
guided by a cycle of business agreed annually by 
the committee. The programme enables the Audit 
Committee to carry out its key objectives of 
ensuring that adequate assurances are provided 
to the CCG and that these assurances have been 
subject to challenge.   This, in turn, provides the 
assurances required for the Annual Governance 
Statement. 

Principal review areas 

This annual report is divided into five sections 
reflecting the five key duties of the Committee as 
set out in the terms of reference. 

Governance, risk management and internal 

control 

 The Committee has reviewed relevant 
disclosure statements, in particular the Annual 
Governance Statement together with the 
Head of Internal Audit Opinion, external audit 
opinion and other appropriate external 
independent assurances and considered that 
the Annual Governance Statement was 
consistent with the Committee’s view on the 
CCG’s system of internal control. Accordingly 
we supported the Governing Body’s approval 
of the Annual Governance Statement for 
2015/16 

 The Committee reviewed the Assurance 
Framework and believe that it was fit for 
purpose and has reviewed evidence to 
support this. The Framework is in line with 
Department of Health expectations and has 
been reviewed by internal and external audit 
to give additional assurance for our opinion 

 The Chief Finance Officer provides regular 
updates to the Committee on the work of the 
Governance & Risk Committee, including the 
G&R Committee’s role in reviewing the entire 
Risk Register.   This has also included 
discussions on the completeness of the risk 
management system and the extent to which 
it is embedded within the organisation   

 The Audit Committee has implemented a 
series of process overview discussions to 
understand areas of actual or potential risk.  
These have included presentations and 
discussions around the Better Care Fund, 
quality and CQUIN. 
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Internal audit    

Throughout the year the Committee has worked 
effectively with internal audit to review and 
strengthen the CCG’s internal controls and in 
particular has: 

 Reviewed and approved the internal audit 
strategy, operational plan and detailed 
programme of work. The formal meetings 
always include at least one member of the 
Internal Audit team. The Committee considers 
their reports, agree their programmes and 
consider their effectiveness  

 Considered the findings of internal audit and 
sought assurance that management had 
responded in an appropriate way and that the 
Head of Internal Audit Opinion and Annual 
Governance Statement reflected any 
significant control weaknesses and that these 
had been acted upon appropriately 

 Received and followed up any 
recommendations made by Internal Audit to 
ensure that the CCG strengthens its internal 
controls 

 considered the fraud protection programme 
reports in order to be aware of any issues 
requiring further action. In this connection 
there were no major incidents which required 
additional investigation.   The CCG has 
worked with Internal Audit on the development 
of a Counter Fraud action plan to further 
strengthen the CCG’s arrangements. 

External audit 

External Audit are standing attendees of the 
Committee.  We review their work and findings, 
follow up their management requests, and agree 
their fee proposals. They keep us informed in 
respect of Department of Health requirements.  
 
There has been a change of external auditor for 
2015/16 and work was carried out with the CCG 
and the Chair of the Audit Committee to ensure a 
smooth transition and handover.   With regard to 
the work of external audit, the Committee has: 

 reviewed and agreed external audit’s annual 
plan 

 reviewed and commented on the reports 
prepared by external audit 

 received the External Audit annual report and 
the External Audit letter 

 reviewed the External Audit Independence 
Report and satisfied itself as to their 
independence and objectivity. 

  
The Audit Committee again met with the auditors 
(both Internal & External) on at least one 
occasion without management present. Following 
examples of best practice the committee also 
meets with the auditors immediately prior to each 
of the formal meetings without a management 
presence. 

Management 

Whilst the Committee meets formally five times a 
year we also have informal meetings with the 
Chief Finance Officer (CFO).   These are mainly 
educational and contain briefings on the monthly 
accounts including comparatives to budget, 
outlining future budget plans, risk management, 
and consideration of areas requiring further in-
depth discussion at the Committee. The Audit 
Committee greatly values these discussions, 
which also give the CFO an informal setting to 
highlight issues and concerns. We are able as a 
result to give the Governing Body assurances of 
independent scrutiny of items submitted to it.  

 
As a public body, ensuring best value for money 
is important to the organisation and recognises 
the importance of outside monitoring. We take our 
responsibilities seriously and are involved in 
scrutiny of both the external auditors report and in 
helping the CFO formulate his plan and budgets. 
The time allocated to these meetings permits a 
greater degree of scrutiny and understanding 
than is possible at a full meeting of the Governing 
Body and has helped inform the reporting of 
progress to make this more readily accessible.   

Financial Reporting 

The CFO continues to co-operate and share 
information in order that the Committee is able to 
understand and appropriately challenge the 
financial statements. 
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The Committee reviewed the annual financial 
statement for 2015/16 prior to their submission to 
the Governing Body and considered them to be 
accurate. 

Other matters worthy of note 

In addition to reviewing in detail the Annual 
Accounts in order to give assurance to the 
Governing Body, we also reviewed the Annual 
Accounts process in detail. Linked to this we also 
reviewed and approved the CCG’s Annual 
Report. 

Self-assessment of effectiveness 

We have completed our self-assessment and will 
report the findings into the Audit Committee. 

Conclusion  

We trust the Governing Body will accept that this 
report demonstrates that the work we have 
carried out is consistent with opinions on the 
Annual Governance Statement and that the 
Committee has complied with its terms of 
reference.  
 
Finally, I am pleased to record that members of 
the Audit Committee are grateful for the openness 
and commitment of all the management team, 
and on a personal note, I must thank my 
colleagues on the Audit Committee for their 
willing support and expertise. 
 
Mr Peter Race MBE 
Chair, Audit Committee 
19 April 2016 

Remuneration Committee Report  

The Remuneration Committee was established in 
accordance with NHS South Tees Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s constitution, standing 
orders and scheme of delegation by the 
Governing Body to advise on pay, other benefits 
and terms of employment for the Chief Officer and 
other senior staff.  It has delegated authority from 
the Governing Body to make recommendations 
on determinations about pay and remuneration 

for employees of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and people who provide services to the 
Clinical Commissioning Group. 

The committee is made up as follows: 

Member Attended 
Mr David Brunskill, Lay Member 
and Committee Chair 
 
Dr John Drury, Secondary Care 
Doctor 
 
Peter Race MBE, Lay Member 
 
Dr Janet Walker, CCG Chair 
 
Mrs Karen Dales, Lay Member 
(from September 2015) 

2/2 
 
 

2/2 
 
 

2/2 
 

2/2 
 

1/1 

 

During the year 2015/16 the Committee has met 
on two occasions and has considered: 

 The Chief Officer’s performance against 
objectives 

 Consideration of pay awards for Chief Officer, 
Chief Finance Officer and GPs 

 Very Senior Managers Pay Letter from 
Jeremy Hunt 

 Appointment of additional Lay Member 
 Updates on HMRC audits 
 Consultancy spending controls 
 Guidance for employers relating to severance 

payments 
 Life Store staffing arrangements 
 Reviewing of terms of reference  

Governace and Risk Committee 

Report 

Committee members during the year ended 31 
March 2016 
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Member Attended 
Mrs Karen Dales (Committee 
Chair from Feb 2016) 
 
Mr Simon Gregory (former 
Committee Chair) 
 
Mr David Brunskill (interim 
Committee Chair)  
 
Dr Raj Khapra, Caldicott 
Guardian 
 
Ms Jean Golightly                            
(*a representative from the 
Quality team was present in her 
absence) 
 
Mrs Jacqui Keane, Governance 
Manager 
 
Mrs Liane Cotterill, Senior 
Governance Officer, CSU 

2/2 
 
 

4/4 
 
 

4/4 
 
 

3/4 
 

0/4* 
2/4 

 
 
 

2/4  
 
 

3/4 

What has the Governance & Risk 

Committee done during the year? 

During the year the Committee met on four 
occasions, for which there was an annual cycle of 
business to ensure compliance with its terms of 
reference.  The Committee has considered: 

 Horizon scanning and review of new 
legislation and its implications for the CCG 

 Development of an overarching legislation 
mapping framework 

 Assurance on equality, diversity and human 
rights arrangements and the review of key 
equality objectives and associated action plan 

 Regular reviews of the CCG’s Risk Register 
and Assurance Framework 

 Information Governance Strategy and 
associated policies, processes and 
documentation to support the embedding of 
information governance practice in the CCG, 
together with regular updates on progress 
towards the submission of the IG Toolkit 

 Business continuity planning, emergency 
preparedness, resilience and response 
arrangements 

 Research governance updates and 
assurances 

 Standards of Business Conduct and 
Declarations of Interest Policy 

 Policy reviews and renewals. 

Funding Panel Report  

Panel members during the year ended 31 March 
2016 

Member Attended 
Peter Race MBE, Lay Member 
Panel Chair 
Dr Tony Chahal, GP  

11/12 
 

6/12 
The Group comprises clinical representatives 
from a number of local CCGs with specialist 
advice from public health colleagues.  Despite not 
being in attendance at all meetings, Dr Chahal 
clinically reviews all cases relating to the NHS 
South Tees CCG population. 

What has the Funding Panel done 

during the year? 

During the year the Funding Panel has met on 12 
occasions and has considered individual funding 
requests for treatment not routinely delivered 
within current NHS contracts.  It decides whether 
to support the request based on the information 
provided to the Panel and from discussions with 
clinical colleagues.  This is done in line with the 
policies agreed by all CCGs in the northern 
region. 

The Panel formally received 26 completed 
applications throughout the year.  Of the 26 
applications reviewed 19% (5) of the requests 
were supported, with 81% (21) not supported. 
There are a wide range of requests considered by 
the Panel; however, some of the most frequently 
requested procedures include 
abdominoplasty/apronectomy and breast 
asymmetry and reduction. 

The Panel also develops and agrees protocols for 
accessing services or treatments not within 
existing contracts either for NHS or non-NHS 
providers where a service level agreement or 
contract does not exist.
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Equality and Diversity
NHS South Tees CCG complies with the Equality 
Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty.  

We have demonstrated our commitment to taking 
Equality, Diversity and Human Rights into account 
in everything we do, whether that is 
commissioning services, employing people, 
developing policies, communicating, consulting or 
involving people in our work as shown below. 

The Equality Delivery System 2 

(EDS2) 

Equality Delivery System (EDS2) 

The EDS has been designed by the NHS for the 
NHS, to deliver better outcomes for patients and 
better working environments for staff which are 
personal, fair and diverse. The EDS was 
refreshed on 4th November 2013 and renamed 
EDS2. The EDS2 has been streamlined, 
simplified and uses clearer language. The EDS2 
covers nine protected characteristics:  

 Age  
 Disability  
 Gender reassignment  
 Marriage and civil partnership 
 Pregnancy and maternity  
 Race including nationality and ethnicity  
 Religion or belief 
 Sex  
 Sexual orientation.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The CCG has implemented the EDS2 and has an 
action plan against which significant progress has 
been made. 

The EDS2 provides a structure for organisations 
(commissioners and providers) to follow. It 
enables organisations to interrogate the 
appropriateness of health care services for 
different equality groups that improve health 
outcomes, access and experience for all patients; 
for the CCG this enables us to identify future 
priorities and actions.  Additionally it allows us to 
assess how well we are developing a 
representative and supported workforce and 
inclusive leadership. 

EDS2 is not a self-assessment tool. Performance 
should be assessed and graded by NHS 
organisations in discussion with local people and 
the workforce. As a CCG, EDS2 encourages the 
use of independent third parties to help with the 
assessment and grading. Our patient and public 
advisory group (PPAG), PPGs and public 
engagement locally supports us in delivering our 
equality delivery system. 

The CCG is committed to continuing to implement 
the EDS2 throughout the organisation in order to 
achieve our objectives and to embed the 
principles of equality and diversity within the 
everyday work of the CCG. 

This will include working with providers, partners, 
local people alongside voluntary and community 
groups, to improve commissioned services for 
protected groups and staff. 

Our equality objectives have been reviewed, 
updated and published on our website. The 
CCG’s Governance and Risk Committee has 
approved plans detailing the actions we will take 
to ensure that individuals, communities and staff 
are treated equitably. Progress against these 
action plans is reported to the committee 
regularly. The CCG Team in rainbow colours                                                                                          

participating in International Day against 
Homophobia 2015 
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Workforce Race Equality Standard 

(WRES) 

In accordance with the Public Sector Equality 
Duty, the NHS Equality and Diversity Council has 
agreed measures to ensure employees from 
black and ethnic minority (BME) backgrounds 
have equal access to career opportunities and 
receive fair treatment in the workplace. 

One of these measures (alongside EDS2) is the 
Workforce Race Equality Standard. The WRES 
asks NHS organisations to demonstrate progress 
against workforce equality by collecting and 
analysing their workforce data in relation to 9 
specific indicators. 

The CCG  has taken “due regard” to the metrics 
contained in the Workforce Race Equality 
Standard to help improve workplace experiences 
and representation at all levels for black and 
minority ethnic staff. 

The CCG will continue to engage with NHS 
England on the development and completion of 
the WRES once the guidance has been finalised.  

Equality analysis   

Our Equality Analysis (EA) Toolkit and Guidance 
covers all equality groups offered protection 
under the Equality Act 2010 (Race, Disability, 
Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, 
Marriage and Civil Partnership and Gender Re-
assignment) in addition to Human Rights and 
Carers.  The EA documentation has been 
refreshed for 2016 to enable a clear and robust 
process for the CCG work programmes. 

Our EA process ensures that we can consider the 
impact or effect, either positive or negative, of our 
policies, procedures and functions on various 
sections of the population we serve. For any 
negative impacts identified we will take immediate 
steps to deal with such issues as part of the 
action plan set out in the tool to ensure equity of 
service delivery is available for all as well as the 
opportunity to continuously monitor progress 
against challenges identified. 

The tool also includes checks in relation to the 
Accessible Information Standard to aid 
compliance with the Standard when 
commissioning services to ensure that information 
is provided to all service users and patients in a 
way they can understand and access. 

Members of staff have undertaken interactive 
training on how to complete the document as well 
as process guidance within the equality analysis 
document which includes frequently asked 
questions, impact assessment questions and a 
process flow chart.    

Governance 

Equality and Diversity is governed and reports 
into the CCG’s Governance & Risk Committee. 
The Governance & Risk Committee ensures we 
are compliant with legislative, mandatory and 
regulatory requirements regarding equality and 
diversity, develops and delivers national and 
regional diversity-related initiatives within the 
CCG, provides a forum for sharing issues and 
opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for 
information dissemination and escalation, 
monitors progress against the Equality Strategy 
and supports us in the achievement of key 
equality and diversity objectives. 

A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is 
submitted to the CCG outlining relevant updates 
in relation to equality, diversity and human rights 
(EDHR). 

The CCG has an approved Equality and Diversity 
Policy. 

Staff training 

Equality and diversity training is a mandatory 
requirement for all our staff.  Induction training on 
EDHR is provided for new starters and mandatory 
refresher training carried out every three years. 
This includes online training assessments as well 
as face to face workshops. 

Staff involved in the recruitment of new staff are 
also required to undertake recruitment and 
selection training which includes awareness of 
equality and diversity legislation in relation to the 
recruitment process.  
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Engagement and partnership 

working  

We work in partnership with local NHS Trusts, 
Local Authorities as well as local voluntary sector 
(VCS) organisations and community groups to 
identify the needs of the diverse local community 
we serve to improve health and healthcare for the 
local population.  

We seek the views of patients, carers and the 
public through individual feedback/input, 
consultations, working with other organisations 
and community groups, attendance at community 
events and engagement activity including patient 
surveys, focus groups and Healthwatch. 

As the local commissioners of health services, we 
seek to ensure that the services purchased on 
behalf of our local population reflect their needs. 
We appreciate that to deliver this requires 
meaningful consultation and involvement of all 
our stakeholders.  We aim to ensure that 
comments and feedback from our local 
communities are captured and, where possible, 
acted upon and give local people the opportunity 
to influence local health services on their terms 
and enable people to have their say using a 
variety of methods; from completing surveys to 
attending events and providing feedback either 
online, via post, text or telephone. We invite 
people to be involved as little or as much as they 
like, enabling them to help shape and influence 
the way NHS health services are commissioned.  

This year, through our commissioning support 
unit, we have continued to work closely with other 
local NHS organisations to support the regional 
working that has been a legacy of the equality, 
diversity and human rights regional leads 
meetings.  

Accessibility and communications 

We ensure that our public buildings are 
accessible for people with a disability by ensuring 
all buildings have had disability access audits.  

When an interpreter or translation is required we 
access these on behalf of individuals and groups.  

Information for patients and the general public is 
available in other languages or formats such as 
large print or Braille and audio, upon request.  

Accessible information standard 

The Accessible Information Standard advises 
organisations how they should ensure that 
patients receive information in formats that they 
can understand and they receive appropriate 
support to help them to communicate. 

The CCG understands that by 1 April 2016 all 
organisations that provide NHS or publicly funded 
adult social care must identify and record 
information and communication needs with 
service users: 

 At the first interaction or registration with their 
service 

 As part of on-going routine interaction with the 
service by existing service users. 
 

We have acknowledged this commitment and 
included the Accessible Information Standard in 
our revised Equality Analysis Toolkit. This 
ensures that the standard is considered and we 
are compliant when an equality analysis is 
completed on all new and existing services. 

Compliments and complaints 

We welcome feedback, positive or negative, 
about people’s experience of local NHS services 
as this helps us to improve services for patients. 

Equal opportunities for staff 

We can demonstrate fair and equitable 
recruitment, workforce engagement and 
employment terms and conditions to ensure 
levels of pay and related terms and conditions are 
fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing 
equal work, and work rated as of equal value, 
being entitled to equal pay. 

Two Tick Disability Symbol  

The CCG has successfully renewed its 
accreditation as a Two Tick disability employer for 
2016. The symbol, awarded by Jobcentre Plus, 
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demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain 
and develop the abilities of disabled staff.  

As a Two Tick Disability Symbol employer we 
have displayed five commitments regarding 
recruitment, training, retention, consultation and 
disability awareness: 

 To interview all disabled applicants who meet 
the minimum criteria for a job vacancy and to 
consider them on their abilities 

 To discuss with disabled employees, at any 
time but at least once a year, what both 
parties can do to make sure disabled 
employees can develop and use their abilities 

 To make every effort when employees 
become disabled to make sure they stay in 
employment 

 To take action to ensure that all employees 
develop the appropriate level of disability 
awareness needed to make these 
commitments work 

 To review these commitments each year and 
assess what has been achieved, plan ways to 
improve on them and let employees and 
Jobcentre Plus know about progress and 
future plans. 

Leadership 

Our CCG Equality & Diversity lead is a member of 
the Executive Group and the Governing Body. A 
quarterly Governance Assurance Report is 
submitted to the Governance and Risk Committee 
outlining relevant updates in relation to EDHR. 
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Risk Management Framework 
Identifying the risks that matter

As we respond to new challenges and the 
continually changing demands of the local health 
economy, so does our system of risk 
management and internal control.  

Our risk appetite has been developed by our 
Governance and Risk Committee, responsible for 
the oversight of risk management within the CCG, 
and approved by the Governing Body. It is the 
view of the Committee that there is a level of 
normal risk inherent within healthcare 
commissioning. Risks that are regarded as 
normal business, such as any individual budget 
may become overspent, are not recorded on our 
risk register. Specific issues that arise either 
internally or externally that would lead to 
significant financial pressure or damage our 
reputation are recorded on our risk register. 

How are risks identified and 

reported? 

Our risk management strategy was reviewed 
during the year to ensure continued compliance 
with good practice and legislation. The training 
plan, procedures for the operation of the risk 
register and the work plan were also updated. 

The strategy sets out our organisation wide 
approach to managing risk at all levels within the 
CCG. Our aims are: 

 To ensure that risks to the achievement of our 
objectives are understood and effectively 
managed 

 To maintain a risk management framework to 
assure the Governing Body that strategic and 
operational risks are being effectively 
managed 

 To ensure that risk management is a cohesive 
element of the internal control systems within 
our corporate governance framework 

 To ensure that risk management is an integral 
part of our culture and our operating systems 

 To ensure that we meet our statutory 
obligations including those relating to health 
and safety and data protection 

 To assure all stakeholders, staff and partner 
organisations that we are committed to 
managing risk appropriately.  

Risk management system 

Our risk management system is used to 
categorise risk against nine domains. 

 

 

 

Risks are rated on a matrix that measures the 
combination of the impact of a risk with its 
likelihood. 
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1 Negligible 1 2 3 4 5 

2 Minor 2 4 6 8 10 

3 Moderate 3 6 9 12 15 

4 Major 4 8 12 16 20 

5 Catastrophic 5 10 15 20 25 

 

Risks are scored by multiplying the impact by the 
likelihood, and scores in the range of 15 to 25 are 
considered to be high risk. However, as agreed 
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by the Governing Body, all risks scored at 12 or 
above are included on the Governing Body 
Assurance Framework in order that they are 
aware of them before they reach the high risk 
threshold. 

Reviewing the risk register also includes the 
process of assessing the effectiveness of the 
identified controls. The residual level of risk is 
then derived from the combination of initial risk 
and control effectiveness. 

Risks are reviewed at four levels within the CCG. 
The first level is during the day-to-day operations 
of the CCG, where our staff work within the 
policies of the CCG. Risks are identified within 
departments, work streams and the CCG 
management team. Our Governance Manager 
and Chief Finance Officer meet with the CCG 
senior team to assess risks at this level. 

The second level is a full review of the risk 
register with the CCG’s Executive Group. This 
review allows Governing Body GPs the 
opportunity to consider the range and severity of 
the risks the CCG is assessing. This is an 
important step in the consideration of risks as it 
gives the opportunity for a broader discussion on 
the risks, controls and actions. 

The third level is the corporate oversight provided 
by the Governance and Risk Committee. This 
committee reviews the CCG’s risk register and 
Assurance Framework at each meeting, validating 
the scoring identified and seeking further 
assurances if required. 

The fourth level of review is at the Governing 
Body where the Governing Body Assurance 
Framework is considered at each meeting. Risks 
with a residual level score of 12 are automatically 
included in the Assurance Framework. 

In addition, it has been agreed that greater 
emphasis will be placed on developing the skills 
of our workstreams in their development and 
scoring of risks.   This will ensure that risks that 
come from them will have been assessed using 
the same methodology and scoring framework as 
in the strategic risk register; providing greater 

levels of control and a more robust approach.  
Training has been provided to workstream 
members to help embed this. 

Alongside this process, the Audit Committee 
continues to receive updates from the Chief 
Finance Officer on the processes in place for the 
management of risks. They also regularly receive 
the Assurance Framework. 
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Internal Control 

Framework 
Our system of internal control is the set of policies 
and procedures in place to ensure that we deliver 
our strategic aims and objectives. Combined with 
the risk management framework described we 
ensure that we manage risk to a reasonable level. 
Internal control is driven by our policies and 
procedures and embedded in our programme of 
mandatory staff training.  

A significant feature of our organisational 
structure continues to be the 60% of the 
administrative function of the CCG that is 
provided via a contract with a commissioning 
support unit (North of England Commissioning 
Support). Our policies and procedures are 
designed to reflect this organisational 
arrangement, as well as the service level 
agreement with the North of England 
Commissioning Support unit containing 
performance metrics relevant to their performance 
of this role. The commissioning support unit works 
with NHS Shared Business Services who provide 
the transaction processing services and financial 
ledger facilities for NHS England and all CCGs. 

We work closely with the commissioning support 
unit to ensure tight budgetary control, where we 
gain a good understanding of debtors and 
creditors to facilitate accurate cash-flow 
forecasting and to ensure the NHS Shared 
Business Services financial ledger is accurate to 
enable NHS England to carry out their reporting 
requirements. We achieve this through twice 
monthly meetings between the CSU and the 
CCG’s CFO, monthly reconciliation sign off 
controls by the CCG and the production of clear, 
concise and accurate reporting. 

We contract with other support service providers 
and their sub-contractors. The CCG’s payroll 
services are provided by Northumbria Healthcare 
NHS Foundation Trust using the electronic staff 
record service provided by McKesson UK. 

These support services commission service 
auditor reports that are available to their clients’ 
auditors to assess internal control risk for the 
purposes of planning and executing their financial 
audit. We will not receive our final service auditor 
report until late May 2016. The CCG itself 
continually reviews its financial performance and 
it is subject to monthly reviews of its ledgers by 
NHS England.  

We also work in partnership with other CCGs in 
the North East. These collaborations are: 

 Arrangements with the CCGs with regard to 
coordinating commissioning arrangements for 
contracts with NHS healthcare providers in 
the North of England 

 Joint arrangements with the CCGs to 
determine commissioning for health gain 
policies and to review and approve individual 
funding requests, including conducting an 
appeals process 

 Joint arrangements with the CCGs to advise 
upon and make recommendations to CCGs 
on high cost cancer drugs and high cost 
treatments 

 Joint arrangements with the commissioning 
support unit to provide a HR Partnership 
Forum through which the CCGs work together 
with Trade Union and Professional 
Organisation representatives to discuss 
issues relating to employment matters 
affecting their employees. The forum also 
advises and makes recommendations on 
employment policies and procedures   

 The Better Health Programme  

Data Quality 

We rely on a significant number of data and 
information flows. These include: 

 Activity information from providers’ 
submissions into the NHS Secondary Uses 
Service 

 Performance and quality information directly 
received from providers 

 Financial information managed within the 
national Integrated Single Financial 
Environment 



Internal Control Framework 

102 
 

 National performance and quality 
measurement systems. 
 

These systems are reviewed by our internal and 
external auditors as part of their routine work. 
Additional scrutiny comes from NHS England as 
part of their assurance process. The Governing 
Body and its committees are satisfied these 
systems are sufficiently robust and can be relied 
upon. 

Complaints 

The Chief Officer’s private office team responds 
to enquiries, comments and concerns from our 
local population. This service includes working 
with the complaints and communications 
departments which handle complaints in 
accordance with the NHS Complaints Regulations 
and MP enquiries on behalf of the organisation. 

NHS South Tees CCG is responsible for 
managing complaints received from our local 
population in respect of commissioned services. 
The day-to-day management of the complaints 
process is undertaken by the commissioning 
support unit on behalf of the CCG, with overall 
responsibility remaining with the CCG. There 
were 36 complaints received in 2015/16 (34 in 
2014/15) that required our intervention. Of these, 
19 were CCG-led. The remaining 17 were passed 
to provider organisations for investigation and 
response. Complaints are managed in 
accordance with the NHS Complaints 
Regulations.  

The CCG’s Complaints Policy was reviewed and 
updated in 2015 to reflect the recommendations 
of the report ‘A Review of the NHS Hospitals 
Complaints System Putting Patients Back in the 
Picture’ published by the Right Honourable Ann 
Clwyd MP and Professor Tricia Hart (2013). 

Business critical models 

In partnership with our commissioning support 
unit we operate a small number of business 
critical models. These include systems that 
calculate our liabilities for expenditure against our 

contracts with healthcare providers. Critical 
features of these systems are: 

 The calculation of the correct tariffs for the 
service 

 The correct application of algorithms that are 
responsible for checking that the appropriate 
commissioner has been assigned on the basis 
of service provided, as well as which GP the 
patient is registered with. 
 

Systems managed by the NHS Business Services 
Authority are used to assess our liabilities for the 
costs of primary care drugs. 

These systems have not been fully assessed 
against the five recommendations of the 
Macpherson report; however they have been 
subject to reconciliation with the calculations of 
our healthcare providers and associate 
commissioners to assure ourselves that they are 
robust and fit for purpose. 

Data security 

The legal and regulatory environment that we 
operate in does not permit the CCG to have direct 
access to patient identifiable information.  We 
only deal with information at this level when 
handling patients’ complaints and with the explicit 
permission of the patient. 

We do need to be assured that the healthcare 
that we fund is being correctly charged to the 
CCG. We achieve this with data checks that are 
run directly under the control of the Health and 
Social Care Information Centre and supplied to 
our commissioning support unit. 

Pension obligations 

As an employer with staff entitled to membership 
of the NHS Pension Scheme, control measures 
are in place to ensure all employer obligations 
contained within the scheme regulations are 
complied with. This includes ensuring that 
deductions from salary, employer’s contributions 
and payments into the scheme are in accordance 
with the scheme rules, and that member pension 
scheme records are accurately updated in 
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accordance with the timescales detailed in the 
regulations. 

Equality, diversity and human 

rights obligations 

Control measures are in place to ensure that all of 
our obligations under equality, diversity and 
human rights legislation are complied with. The 
Governance and Risk Committee receives regular 
updates on progress against our equality duties 
and objectives. Further information is contained 
on pages 95-98. 

Sustainable development 

obligations 

The CCG is required to report its progress in 
delivering against sustainable development 
indicators. We have implemented plans to assess 
risks, enhance our performance and reduce our 
impact, including against carbon reduction and 
climate change adaptation objectives. This 
includes establishing mechanisms to embed 
social and environmental sustainability across 
policy development, business planning and in 
commissioning. Further information is contained 
on pages 52-53. 

We will ensure the CCG complies with its 
obligations under the Climate Change Act 2008, 
including the Adaptation Reporting power, and 
the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. 

We are also setting out our commitments as a 
socially responsible employer. 

Risk assessment 

Principal risks and uncertainties 

A key challenge for any organisation is to identify 
the principal risks it faces and to develop and 
monitor appropriate controls.  The CCG maintains 
a risk register of the principal risks we face, 
including the likelihood and impact of risks and 
the controls and procedures implemented to 
mitigate them.  We have a robust process for the 
identification, discussion and monitoring of risks 
and their mitigations; this is set out in more detail 
on pages 99-100. 

In addition to our own risks, there are additional 
factors that the Governing Body has agreed 
should be considered and are, therefore, included 
on the risk register.   These include the 
reputational risk to the CCG of the actions or 
performance of other organisations, and 
uncertainty of the impact of changes in national 
policies in the early days of their implementation.  
Both of these factors are reflected in our principal 
risks.  

The table below gives an overview of the risks 
that the Governing Body considers being the 
most significant and gives some examples of the 
actions that have been taken to mitigate against 
them. 

 

Principal Risks Key actions, controls and mitigating factors 
 

Adverse impact on quality 
of care and system 
resilience if providers 
cannot address and 
manage the issues 
affecting prevalence of  C. 
difficile, together with the 
CCG’s contribution to 
reducing C. difficile via 
primary care. 

 The CCG’s Governing Body met with the Trust’s Board to focus on the 
reduction of C.difficile 

 Throughout the year the CCG has worked closely with the main 
providers to seek assurances on the delivery of the action plans and 
external review recommendations 

 Announced and unannounced visits are carried out on wards and 
departments and working practices observed 

 Developed closer working relationships between primary care and 
secondary care clinicians 

 Provision of specialist advice to GPs about C. difficile and the links to 
antimicrobial prescribing 
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 Monitoring of primary care antimicrobial prescribing 
 Development of Tees-wide Infection Control Group led by the CCG in 

order to share knowledge and provide robust peer review 
 Close working with Trust Infection Control consultant re prescribing 

patterns. 

Reduction in national 
funding for GP IT may 
result in financial risk to the 
CCG and/or the need for 
greater prioritisation of IT 
available to GP Practices 

 Close working between the CCG, CSU and GP Practices to 
understand and review IT expenditure 

  Bridging funding secured for 2015/16 
 Continued liaison with the Clinical Council of Members and Primary 

Care Co-Commissioning Committee 
 CCG investment in medicines advice software. 

 

Risk of inadequate 
ambulance service, 
particularly in rural areas, if 
ambulance provider is 
unable to deliver 
operational standards in 
relation to emergency 
provision. 

 CCG investment in two additional ambulances 
 Executive level discussions with the ambulance provider.  
 Undertook formal review of additional GP urgent capacity 
 Working with provider to ensure delivery of actions relating to: 

additional capacity; piloting additional patient transport services; 
revision of ambulance queuing processes; introduction of clinical triage 
and implementation of hospital ambulance liaison posts. 

 
Potential risk to quality of 
care for patients if 
providers are unable to 
achieve cancer 62 day 
operational standards. 

 Review and approval of all quarterly cancer action plans 
 CCG and Trust Task & Finish Group established to ensure a mutli-

disciplinary approach is taken by both organisations. 
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Economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 

the use of resources

Planning 

During the final quarter of 2014/15 we finalised 
our financial and activity plans for 2015/16.  

The plans were reviewed by NHS England. The 
financial plan set out: 

 The financial resources available to us 
 The anticipated expenditure programme 

based on historic trends and demographic 
information and delivering the commitments of 
the NHS Constitution 

 Planned quality, innovation, productivity and 
prevention measures that would release funds 
for new investment 

 Planned investments for the year based on 
our commissioning intentions 

 An assessment of the potential financial risks 
for the year and our options for their mitigation 

 The clear expectation that we would achieve 
our financial targets for 2015/16, delivering a 
1% surplus, committing no more than 98.5% 
of our funding to recurrent programmes and 
not spending more than £20.74 per head of 
population on our administrative costs. 
 

The CCG’s plans were reviewed by the Executive 
Group then the plan was agreed by our 
Governing Body in March 2015. The plans 
included reserves set aside that could be used to 
cover emerging risks in year. 

Commissioning and contracting 

During 2014/15 we worked with our workstreams 
and Governing Body GPs to produce a set of 
commissioning intentions for 2015/16 in line with 
the financial and activity plans.  

Contracts were negotiated and signed for nearly 
all commissioned services at the start of 2015/16. 

The majority of secondary care contracts were 
funded on a cost per transaction basis, using the 

national tariffs and locally agreed prices where 
there was no national tariff. The use of these 
tariffs means that we are effectively paying 
providers the national average cost of the service. 

Contracts for community services and mental 
health and learning disability services were 
mainly funded on fixed sum ‘block’ basis. We 
have commenced a programme of work with our 
main community services provider that is intended 
to realign the service lines in the contract with the 
new services as they are implemented in the 
IMProVE programme.  

We negotiated a quality incentive scheme for 
each NHS contract linking 2.5% of the contract 
value to the achievement of agreed quality 
standards. Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 
Prevention plans were agreed mainly focused on 
reductions in emergency admissions and 
potential reductions in medicine costs. 

We planned additional non-recurring investments 
during 2015/16. These investments included: 

 The double running costs of community 
services as they move from an inpatient 
setting to more care being provided in 
patients’ homes 

 Supporting projects in primary care that are 
focused on reducing the numbers of 
emergency admissions into hospital 

 Continuing to fund innovative community 
projects and introduced a project to fund 
innovations in primary care including a project 
to introduce CRP testing in GP Practices 

 Continued to support education projects in 
community and primary care. 
 

These investments were in line with our original 
plans or approved in year following a review of 
the business case by the Executive Group and 
Governing Body as appropriate to the level of 
investment. We maintained the process 
developed in our first year to assess bids for small 
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scale projects that involved local partner bodies, 
patient representatives and our executive. 

Performance monitoring 

Our Governing Body has delegated responsibility 
for monitoring performance to its Quality, 
Performance and Finance Committee. The 
membership and terms of reference for this 
committee are set out on page 89. 

The Quality, Performance and Finance 
Committee receive at each meeting reports on: 

 The activities of our clinical workstreams  
 A report on the quality metrics of 

commissioned services at CCG and provider 
level 

 A report on performance metrics and issues of 
commissioned services at CCG and provider 
level 

 A report on financial performance of 
commissioned services including where 
reserves were utilised to cover overspent 
plans. 
 

Provider contractual performance is reviewed in 
line with the processes contained in the NHS 
standard contract. The principal meeting for each 
contract is the Contract Management Board that 
includes members of the CCG’s and the 
Foundation Trust’s executive and senior 
management teams. Quality and performance 
issues are reviewed at Clinical Quality Review 
Group meetings with any significant issues 
escalated to the Contract Management Board. 

Additional operational meetings involve the 
CCG’s and Foundation Trust management teams 
and deal with routine data reconciliation issues. 
Any issues arising are escalated first to the 
Contract Management Board and then into our 
corporate governance system at the Quality, 
Performance and Finance Committee. Any 
significant issues raised may lead to an 
‘Executive to Executive’ meeting with the relevant 
provider and potentially lead to the application of 
contract penalties. 

Our Governing Body receives summary reports 
on quality and finance at each Governing Body 
meeting. 

Assurance 

Our performance is subject to review by our 
Internal Audit service and the oversight provided 
by NHS England’s assurance processes.  

For the year 2015/16 Internal Audit have 
reviewed and found significant assurance in the 
following areas: 

 Governance & risk management 
 Information Governance Toolkit 
 Financial planning and budget setting 
 NECS re-procurement process 
 Financial management and performance 

reporting. 
 

The following audits are currently in progress: 

 Better Care Fund 
 Safeguarding 
 Serious incidents 
 Continuing healthcare and funded nursing 

care. 
 

In addition, we submit monthly financial 
information to NHS England via the integrated 
single finance system.  

The plans and performance of the CCG are 
reviewed by the NHS England Area Team and 
their directors participate in quarterly assurance 
meetings with members of our Governing Body 
and Executive team. The NHS England 
Assurance Framework covers six domains: 

 Are patients receiving clinically 
commissioned, high quality services? 

 Can the CCG demonstrate active and 
meaningful engagement with patients, carers 
and their communities which is embedded in 
the way that the CCG works? 

 Is the CCG delivering improved outcomes 
within financial resources, supported by clear 
and credible plans which are in line with 
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national requirements (including excellent 
outcomes), and local Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategies? 

 Does the CCG have effective and appropriate 
constitutional, corporate, clinical and 
information governance arrangements in 
place, with the capacity and capability to 
deliver all its duties and responsibilities, 
including financial control, as well as 
effectively commission all the services for 
which it is responsible? 

 Does the CCG have strong collaborative 
arrangements in place for commissioning with 
other CCGs, local authorities and NHS 
England, as well as appropriate external 
commissioning support services and wider 
stakeholders including regulators? 

 Does the CCG have in place great leaders 
who individually and collectively make a real 
difference? 
 

Performance is assessed against lower level 
indicators within each domain. The final 
assessment for the CCG for 2015/16 will not be 
completed until Autumn 2016. 

Review of the 

effectiveness of 

governance, risk 

management and internal 

control 

Review of 2015/16 

In 2015/16 we were able to build on the good 
progress made in the early years of the CCG. We 
have better developed operational processes in 
place, and we have responded to newly emerging 
challenges. We have continued to review our 
internal capacity and capability, and developed 
more ‘in house’ capacity alongside closer working 
with the commissioning support team in our new 
offices. The balance of in-house versus bought in 
service remains a challenge. 

The Quality, Performance and Finance 
Committee met six times and received the three 
main performance reports at each meeting. From 
early in the year it was clear that the CCG faced 
one main area where expenditure was exceeding 
plan. This was additional expenditure on the costs 
of continuing health care packages for the CCG.  

The costs of acute hospital services have 
remained within the contract values for 2015/16. 

These pressures were reported to the Governing 
Body during the year and the CCG’s reserves 
were used to mitigate the costs.  

We originally planned for a surplus of £5.028 
million for 2015/16 (£4.152 million 1% target 
surplus and an additional £0.876 million 0.2% 
surplus related to the national continuing health 
care pool). During the year we had the 
opportunity to increase this figure by £2 million as 
it became clear that the CCG did not need to use 
reserves set aside a contingency for pressures in 
year. This amount will be returned to the CCG in 
2016/17. At the close of the year we approved an 
additional £0.250 million surplus that will be 
returned to the CCG in 2017/18. In total the CCG 
surplus for 2015/16 was £7.278 million, 1.75% 
(£8.3 million, 2.1% 2014/15). 

Our administrative budget for 2015/16 was 
£6.1 million; we only spent £5.9 million on our 
management costs. We were able to transfer the 
unspent funds to the commissioned services 
budget. 

Working with an NHS England framework the 
CCG reviewed its own financial controls 
environment during 2015/16. The review covered 
both long term and detailed financial planning, 
financial reporting and in year financial 
performance, systems of financial control and risk 
management as well as a self-assessment of 

 Finance team capability and capacity 
 Audit and finance committees. 

In this self-assessment the CCG has scored itself 
as ‘good’ or higher in all areas, apart from a 
‘moderate’ score  relating to the Audit Committee 
where our Audit Chair is not a qualified 
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accountant, however Mr Race is an experienced 
Audit Committee chair. 

Provider engagement 

We completed and submitted a balanced financial 
plan in March 2015 in line with NHS England’s 
timetable.  

We meet with the two Foundation Trusts where 
the CCG acts as lead commissioner.  During the 
year there were 11 Contract Management Board 
Meetings with South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust and 11 Contract Management 
Board meetings with Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys 
NHS Foundation Trust. There were also four 
Clinical Quality Review Group meetings with 
South Tees Hospitals and we participated in four 
equivalent meetings with Tees, Esk and Wear 
Valleys Trust. We also participated in the Clinical 
Quality Review Group meeting with the North 
East Ambulance NHS Foundation Trust. 

We have some smaller contracts with other health 
care providers in the region. Our interests in 
these contracts are represented by the local lead 
commissioner and managers from our 
commissioning support unit. 

Plans for the future 

As outlined in other parts of the annual report for 
2015/16 the big issues in the coming year are the 
integration and modernisation agenda. 

The CCG will be reviewing the GP STAR scheme 
pilot and in combination with the outcome of the 
Urgent Care review will be proposing redesigned 
services for urgent care 

We will continue with the actual implementation of 
the IMProVE programme modernising community 
services, bringing care closer to home. This also 
involves working with NHS Property Services Ltd 
to resolve the issues surrounding the legacy 
estate facilities on our patch. 

During the final period of 2015/16 the CCG has 
been selected to participate in the first wave of 
the national Right Care project. In 2016-17 all 
CCGs will use the Right Care approach to 

benchmarking commissioned services. The 
common aim is to improve the health and 
wellbeing of individuals and populations using the 
following principles:  

 Every decision and action has to be assessed 
with respect to its value, as determined by 
individuals and populations, with value being 
defined by the relationship between outcome 
and cost 

 Individual patients and residents of the wider 
community should both, equally, be at the 
centre of clinical decision making and care 

 Population health impact can be accelerated 
when all health promoting assets are 
identified and used appropriately and 
effectively  

 Access to robust knowledge and relevant 
information are equally important to patients 
and to providers, informing better choice, 
ownership, and decision making. 
 

The Right Care approach will significantly inform 
the CCG’s plans for 2016-17 and into the future. 

In 2016/17 the CCG will be a fully delegated 
commissioner of GP primary care under NHS 
England’s delegated commissioning 
arrangements. The CCG’s budget will be 
increased by £43.1 million to commission services 
from the 44 GP practices within our area. A new 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee has 
been established to ensure that appropriate 
governance controls are in place to manage the 
conflicts of interest that can arise from 
commissioning services from our member 
practices. 

Responding to the outcomes of the Better Health 
Programme public engagement activity, and 
subsequent public consultation, will be a major 
area of focus for us in 2016/17 and beyond.  

In early 2016/17 the CCG along with the CCGs in 
Durham, Darlington, Tees and Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby will work with our local 
providers to produce a single “Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan” for the area. This plan will 
be a five year plan showing how local services will 
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evolve and become sustainable over the next five 
years to deliver the Five Year Forward View 
vision of better health, better patient care and 
improved NHS efficiency. 

Sustainability and Social 

Responsibility  

Sustainability means meeting the needs of today 
without compromising the needs of tomorrow; in 
other words, using resources wisely in order that 
they will still be available in the long term.  As an 
NHS organisation, and as a spender of public 
funds, we have an obligation to work in a way that 
has a positive effect on the communities for which 
we commission and procure healthcare services.  

Sustainability means spending public money well, 
the smart and efficient use of natural resources 
and building healthy, resilient communities.  By 
making the most of social, environmental and 
economic assets we can improve health both in 
the immediate and long term even in the context 
of rising cost of natural resources. 

As a part of the NHS, public health and social 
care system, it is our duty to contribute towards 
the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the 
carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and 
social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) 
equivalent to a 28% reduction from a 2013 
baseline by 2020. An overview of our utilities 
consumption and spend can be found on pages 
52-53.   

Our aim is to create lasting social benefits, 
safeguard the health and safety of employees, 
patients and providers whilst commissioning safe, 
cost efficient services to the community.  We 
acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, 
local communities and the environment by 
working hard to minimise our footprint.  

We will ensure that we comply with our 
obligations under the Climate Change Act 2008, 
including the Adaptation Reporting Power, and 
the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012. We 
are also taking proactive steps to protect the 

environment by reducing carbon emissions, 
conserving energy and materials where possible 
and mitigating any negative effect our activities 
may have on the local environment. 

We are an organisation with a small number of 
staff but we have worked to embed sustainable 
principles in our work. We have a Governing Body 
lead for sustainability and a Sustainable 
Development Plan The plan sets out the actions 
we will take to deliver not only our legal duties 
regarding sustainability, but also our 
responsibilities as part of the Middlesbrough and 
Redcar and Cleveland communities as 
commissioner of a vast range of NHS services 
and as a local employer.   

The plan will ensure we focus on:  

 Commissioning and procuring sustainably 
 Reducing energy and waste 
 Reducing unnecessary transport and travel 
 Training enabling staff to be more sustainable. 

 

For example, where possible and proving good 
value for taxpayer’s money we use local 
organisations to supply our business services; we 
‘reduce, reuse and recycle’ where we can; and 
we car share, use teleconferencing, and promote 
active travel.   

This year we relocated our offices as there was a 
pressing need to work more closely and more 
effectively with GP and commissioning support 
colleagues; something impossible in our previous 
premises. This enabled us to embed sustainable 
principles in to the new space; this included 
shower facilities and cycle parking to promote 
active travel. We were also fortunate to benefit 
from motion sensor lighting, which means lights 
are not used more than necessary. We continue 
to work hard to minimise the creation of waste 
and we recycle where business facilities allow.  

On a broader scale we are also actively 
commissioning care closer to home and support 
home working opportunities where possible to 
reduce unnecessary NHS staff travel time.  
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Remuneration and Staff Report 
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is determined in accordance 
with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy.   

Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory performance. Performance in 
post and progress in achieving set objectives is reviewed annually. There were no individual performance 
review payments made to any senior managers during the year. This is in accordance with standard NHS 
terms and conditions of service and guidance issued by the Department of Health.  

Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the Clinical Commissioning Group 
are permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by either party. All CCG employee 
contracts are permanent in nature and notice periods are in line with Agenda for Change terms and 
conditions. A breakdown of our staff composition can be seen in Figure 1 over the page. There were no 
other staff engaged in the delivery of our objectives this year such as external consultants however there 
has been on occasion the need to utilise administrative agency staff for a fixed period.  

Lay Members and the Secondary Care Doctor are appointed for a period of two years in the first instance 
(up to three years for the Secondary Care Doctor), and can serve for a maximum of two terms. 

Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided for within NHS terms 
and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme Regulations for those who are members of 
the scheme.  No awards have been made during the year to past senior managers. 

During 2015/16 one member of staff was made redundant due to the closure of a service. Details are 
included within section 4.4 of the accounts (subject to audit), page 139. 

For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of senior managers is as per the Clinical 
Commissioning Group Annual Reporting Guidance published by NHS England:  

Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major 
activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group.  This means those who influence the decisions of the entity 
as a whole rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments. 

It is considered that the Governing Body members represent the senior managers of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group.  

The analsyis of staff numbers is shown in note 4.2 of the accounts (subject to audit) page 139. 

Days lost to sickness are shown in the staff sickness absence note 4.3 to the financial statements on page 
139. Staff sickness absence is managed in line with our policy on absence management. 

In order to meet the following responsibilities: 

 giving full and fair consideration to applications for employment by the company made by disabled 
persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities; 

 continuing the employment of, and for arranging appropriate training for, employees of the CCG who 
have become disabled persons during the period when they were employed by the CCG; 

 training, career development and promotion of disabled persons employed by the CCG; 
 

the CCG has successfully renewed its accreditation as a Two Tick Disability employer for 2016 which 
demonstrates the organisation’s commitment to employ, retain and develop the abilities of disabled staff. In 
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addition, all staff receive equality and diversity awareness information as part of the CCG’s corporate 
induction along with regular mandatory training and an agreed Equality and Diversity Policy as set out in 
the Equality and Diversity report on pages 95-98. 

The CCG staff gender profile for all employees is presented in the first (left to right) chart below. In addition, 
the second chart reflects the gender make up of our Very Senior Managers (VSM) and the final chart 
reflects the gender profile of Governing Body members 

Figure 1: Overview of CCG staff composition  
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NHS South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group Senior Officers 2015/16 

Declarations of Interests: 

Name Title Declaration detail 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi Governing Body 
Member Locality 
Lead (Langbaurgh) 

Partner Bentley Medical Practice. 

Partner Park Avenue Surgery. 

Director Slaters Bridge. 

Dr Mike Milner Governing Body 
Member, Urgent 
Care Lead 

Out of hours GP for Northern Doctors Out of hours GP service. 

GP Huntcliff Surgery. 

Mr David Brunskill PPI Lay Member None. 

Dr John Drury Secondary Care 
Doctor, Lay Member 

Wife undertakes voluntary work in Oncology Unit at South Tees 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Governor, Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust. 

Ms Jean Golightly 
(was Fruend) 

Executive Nurse Executive Nurse for NHS Hartlepool and Stockton on Tees CCG. 

Mr Simon Gregory Chief Finance 
Officer 

Partner works for Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust - 
Finance Team. 

Mrs Amanda Hume Chief Officer None. 

Mr Peter Race Lay Member 
Governance 

Governor, South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Brother is elected Governor with South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

Daughter works for NECS Communications (Temporary post). 

Niece works as Consultant TEWV. 

Dr Nigel Rowell Governing Body 
Member 

Director, Endeavour Practice Ltd. 

Primary Care Lead, North of England Cardio Vascular Network. 

CPSI in heart failure, South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. 

Live: Life study Principle Investigator, Servier Laboratories Ltd. 

AF Clinical Champion, Living Longer Lives Team. 

Dr Janet Walker Governing Body 
Member Locality 
Lead (Eston) 
Governing Body 
Chair 

Partner, Dr Royal and Partners Manor House Surgery, Normanby. 

Ms Karen Dales Lay Member Assistant Principal Governor & Chair of Hartlepool College of Further 
Education Audit Committee 

Dr Vaishali Nanda Governing Body 
Member Locality 
Lead 
(Middlesbrough) 

GP, Discovery Practice. 

Husband owns Nanda Medical Services for private Orthopedic work. 

Husband is a consultant in Orthopedics at North Tees & Hartlepool 
NHS Foundation Trust. 

Dr Rajesh Khapra Governing Body 
Member Locality 
Lead  

Partner Crossfell Medical Practice. 
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South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group Senior Officers Salaries & Allowances 2015/16: 

 
Name Title 2015/16 

Salary & Fees 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest £100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 

All Pension 
related 

benefits 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

£000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 
Governing Body  Member, Locality 
Lead (Langbaurgh) 75-80 N/A N/A N/A N/A 75-80 

Dr Mike Milner 
Governing Body Member, Urgent 
Care Lead 30-35 N/A N/A N/A 0-2.5 30-35 

Mr David Brunskill PPI Lay Member 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 
Dr John Drury Consultant 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 
Ms Jean Golightly Executive Nurse  40-45 N/A N/A N/A N/A 40-45 
Mr Simon Gregory Chief Finance Officer 95-100 N/A N/A N/A 7.5-10 105-110 
Mrs Amanda Hume Chief Officer 120-125 N/A N/A N/A 15-17.5 135-140 
Mr Peter Race Lay Member, Governance 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 
Dr Nigel Rowell Governing Body Member 35-40 N/A N/A N/A 0-2.5 30-35 

Dr Janet Walker Governing Body Member 
Governing Body Chair 95-100 N/A N/A N/A 25-30 125-130 

Dr Vaishali Nanda Governing Body Member 75-80 N/A N/A N/A N/A 75-80 
Dr Khapra Governing Body Member  30-35 N/A N/A N/A 30-35.5 60-65 

Subject to Audit 
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South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group Senior Officers Salaries & Allowances 2014/15: 

Name Title 2014/15 
Salary & Fees 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

Expense 
payments 

(taxable) to 
nearest £100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 

All Pension 
related 

benefits 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

Total 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dr Ali Tahmassebi 
Governing Body  Member, 
Locality Lead (Langbaurgh) 75-80 N/A N/A N/A N/A 75-80 

Dr Mike Milner 
Governing Body Member, Urgent 
Care Lead 30-35 N/A N/A N/A 0-2.5 30-35 

Mr David Brunskill PPI Lay Member 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 
Dr John Drury Consultant 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 
Ms Jean Freund Executive Nurse  40-45 N/A N/A N/A N/A 40-45 
Mr Simon Gregory Chief Finance Officer 95-100 N/A N/A N/A 5-7.5 100-105 
Mrs Amanda 
Hume 

Chief Officer 120-125 N/A N/A N/A 2.5-5 125-130 

Mr Peter Race Lay Member, Governance 10-15 N/A N/A N/A N/A 10-15 
Dr Nigel Rowell Governing Body Member 30-35 N/A N/A N/A 20-22.5 50-55 

Dr Janet Walker 

Governing Body Member (April – 
November 14) 
Governing Body Chairman 
(December – March 15) 

70-75 N/A N/A N/A 50-52.5 125-130 

Dr Henry Waters 
Governing Body Chairman (April 
– November 14) 65-70 N/A N/A N/A N/A 65-70 

Dr Vaishali Nanda Governing Body Member 75-80 N/A N/A N/A N/A 75-80 

Dr Khapra 
Governing Body Member 
(January – March 15) 5-10 N/A N/A N/A N/A 5-10 

                  Subject to Audit
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Notes: 

The following senior officers are not directly employed by the CCG. The amounts disclosed 
above are paid to the respective GP practices to provide the services of the individuals on a 
sessional basis (this only applies to Drs Nanda & Tahmassebi):  

Ms Jean Golightly is employed by NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG but also works 
for NHS South Tees CCG as part of a 50/50 staff sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed 
above shows the CCG’s share of remuneration. Their banded total remuneration in the financial 
year 2015/16 was £80,000 to £85,000. 

 

For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2016, for more than £220 per  
day and that last longer than six months: 

   
      Number 

  Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2015 2 
  Of which, the number that existed: 

     for less than one year at the time of reporting 0 
    for between one and two years at the time of reporting 2 
    for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 0 
    for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 0 
    for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0 
   

The CCG has carried out a risk based assessment for assurance the individual is paying the 
right amount of tax for the period 2015/16.
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Pay Multiples: 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid 
director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation's workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid member of the Governing Body in NHS South Tees Clinical 
Commissioning Group in the financial year 2015/16 was £120,000 - £125,000.  This was 3.4 times the 
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £36,005 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind.  It does 
not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of 
pensions.  2014/15 values have been recalculated after annualising the Governing Body members. 
 

 Pay Multiples 2015/16 
2014/15 

Restated 
  

 
 

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 120-125 120-125 
    
Median Total Remuneration (£) 36,005 35,862 
    
Ratio 3.4 3.5 
  

 
 

Subject to Audit 
 
The CCG employs GPs to provide clinical commissioning advice for a few sessions each month. They are 
included in the calculation above as well as our three lay members. In 2015/16, 5 (2014/15, 2) employees 
received annualised remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director/member. Remuneration ranged 
from £125,000 to £165,000 (2014/15 £154,000-£186,000) A version of the pay multiple calculations 
excluding these payments is shown below. 
 
A version of the pay multiple calculations excluding these payments is shown below. 
 
Revised Pay Multiples (excluding Lay Members and GP Clinical Leads) 
 

 Pay Multiples 2015/16 
2014/15 

Restated 
  

 
 

Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration (£'000) 120-125 120-125 
    
Median Total Remuneration (£) 37,038 40,811 
    
Ratio 3.3 3.03 
  

 
 

Subject to Audit
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South Tees CCG Senior Officers Pension Benefits 2015/16: 

Name and Title Real increase / 
(reduction) in 

pension at age 
60 (bands of 

£2500) 

 Real increase 
/ (reduction) in 
pension lump 
sum at aged 
60 (bands of 

£2500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2016 (bands of 

£5000) 

Lump sum at 
aged 60 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2016 
(bands of 

£5000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at  31 March 

2015 

Real increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2016 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Ali Tahmassebi 
Governing Body Member 
Locality Lead (Langbaurgh) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Dr Mike Milner 
Governing Body Member, 
Urgent Care Lead 

0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 25-30 187 7 196 N/A 

Mr David Brunskill 
PPI Lay Member 
 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Dr John Drury 
Consultant 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Ms Jean Golightly 
Executive Nurse  

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Mr Simon Gregory 
Chief Finance Officer 

0-2.5 2.5-5 35-40 110-115 626 21 655 N/A 

Mrs Amanda Hume 
Chief Officer 

0-2.5 0 40-45 110-115 645 21 675 N/A 

Mr Peter Race 
Lay Member, Governance 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Mr Nigel Rowell 
Governing Body Member 

0-2.5 0-2.5 15-20 55-60 405 19 429 N/A 

Dr Janet Walker 
Governing Body Member 
Governing Body Chair 

0-2.5 0-2.5 10-15 25-30 144 22 167 N/A 
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Name and Title Real increase / 
(reduction) in 

pension at age 
60 (bands of 

£2500) 

 Real increase 
/ (reduction) in 
pension lump 
sum at aged 
60 (bands of 

£2500)  

Total accrued 
pension at age 
60 at 31 March 
2016 (bands of 

£5000) 

Lump sum at 
aged 60 

related to 
accrued 

pension at 31 
March 2016 
(bands of 

£5000) 

Cash 
Equivalent 

Transfer Value 
at  31 March 

2015 

Real increase 
in Cash 

Equivalent 
Transfer Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2016 

Employer’s 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

Dr Vaishali Nanda 
Governing Body GP 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Dr Khapra 
Governing Body Member 
(January – March 15) 

0-2.5 2.5-5 15-20 50-55 349 47 401 N/A 

Subject to Audit 
 
Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in 
time.  The benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by 
a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to 
transfer the benefit accrued in their former scheme.  The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of 
their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension 
details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.  They 
also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their 
own cost.  CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
 
Real increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer.  It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid 
by the employee, (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the 
start and end of the period. 
 
 
 
Amanda Hume 
Chief Officer and Accountable Officer for NHS South Tees CCG 
26 May 2016 
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The Financial Statements contain the following: 

1. Independent auditors report to the Governing Body of NHS South Tees Clinical 

Commissiong Group  
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Independent auditor’s report to the 
members of the Governing Body of NHS 
South Tees Clinical Commissioning 
Group
We have audited the financial statements of NHS 
South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group for the 
year ended 31 March 2016 under the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014. The financial 
statements comprise the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement 
of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes 
in Taxpayers’ Equity, the Statement of Cash 
Flows and the related notes 1 to 43. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as 
adopted by the European Union, and as 
interpreted and adapted by the 2015-16 
Government Financial Reporting Manual (the 
“2015-16 FReM”) as contained in the Department 
of Health Group Manual for Accounts 2015-16 
and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS 
Commissioning Board with the approval of the 
Secretary of State as relevant to the National 
Health Service in England (the “Accounts 
Direction”). 

We have also audited the information in the 
Remuneration and Staff Report that is subject to 
audit, being:  

 the table of salaries and allowances of 
senior officers and related narrative notes 
on pages 113-115; 

 the table of pension benefits of senior 
officers on pages 117-118;  

 the analysis of staff numbers and related 
notes on page 110; and 

 the table of pay multiples and related 
narrative notes on page 116. 

This report is made solely to the members of the 
Governing Body of NHS South Tees Clinical 
Commissioning Group in accordance with Part 5 
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
and for no other purpose as set out in paragraph 

43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors 
and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector 
Audit Appointments Limited.  Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the 
members of the Governing Body of the CCG 
those matters we are required to state to them in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of the 

Accountable Officer and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of 
Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities set out on 
pages 66 to 67, the Accountable Officer is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements and for being satisfied that they give a 
true and fair view and is also responsible for 
ensuring the regularity of expenditure and 
income. Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those 
standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.  
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on 
the regularity of expenditure and income in 
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 
prepared by the Comptroller and Auditor General 
as required by the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 (the “Code of Audit Practice”). 
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As explained in the Governance Statement, the 
Accountable Officer is responsible for the 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of the CCG’s resources. 
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be 
satisfied that the CCG has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 
21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 requires that our report must not contain our 
opinion if we are satisfied that proper 
arrangements are in place. 

We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources are 
operating effectively. 

Scope of the audit of the financial 

statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:  

 whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed;  

 the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the 
Accountable Officer; and  

 the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.  

In addition, we read all the financial and non-
financial information in the Annual Report and 
Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with 
the audited financial statements and to identify 
any information that is apparently materially 
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of 
performing the audit. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for 
our report. 

 

In addition, we are required to obtain evidence 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
expenditure and income recorded in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes 
intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 

Scope of the review of 

arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in the use of 

resources 

We have undertaken our review in accordance 
with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to 
the guidance on the specified criterion issued by 
the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 
2015, as to whether the CCG had proper 
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve 
planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers 
and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor 
General determined this criterion as that 
necessary for us to consider under the Code of 
Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the 
CCG put in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 
2016. 

We planned our work in accordance with the 
Code of Audit Practice.  Based on our risk 
assessment, we undertook such work as we 
considered necessary to form a view on whether, 
in all significant respects, the CCG had put in 
place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. 

Opinion on regularity 

In our opinion, in all material respects the 
expenditure and income reflected in the financial 
statements have been applied to the purposes 
intended by Parliament and the financial 
transactions conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 
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Opinion on the financial 

statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of NHS South Tees Clinical 
Commissioning Group as at 31 March 
2016 and of its net operating costs for the 
year then ended; and 

 have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012 and the Accounts 
Directions issued thereunder. 

Opinion on other matters 

In our opinion: 

 the parts of the Remuneration and Staff 
Report to be audited have been properly 
prepared in accordance with the Annual 
Report Directions made under the 
National Health Service Act 2006 (as 
amended by the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012); and 

 the other information published together 
with the audited financial statements in the 
Annual Report and Accounts is consistent 
with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required 

to report by exception 

We are required to report to you if: 

 in our opinion the Governance Statement 
does not comply with the guidance issued 
by the NHS Commissioning Board; or 

 we refer a matter to the Secretary of State 
under section 30 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 because we have 
reason to believe that the CCG, or an 
officer of the CCG, is about to make, or 
has made, a decision which involves or 
would involve the body incurring unlawful 
expenditure, or is about to take, or has 
begun to take a course of action which, if 
followed to its conclusion, would be 
unlawful and likely to cause a loss or 
deficiency; or 

 we issue a report in the public interest 
under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or 

 we make a written recommendation to the 
CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014; or 

 we are not satisfied that the CCG has 
made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources for the year ended 31 
March 2016. 

We have nothing to report in these respects.  

Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of 
the accounts of NHS South Tees Clinical 
Commissioning Group in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit 
Practice. 

 

 

Nicola Wright 
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
26 May 2016 
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NHS South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2015-16 
    

     Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2016 
  

     
  

2015-16 
 
2014-15 

 
Note £000 

 
£000 

     Total Income and Expenditure 
 
  

  Employee benefits 4.1.1 1,542 
 

1,272 
Operating expenses 5 415,814 

 
398,217 

Other operating revenue 2 (5,753) 
 

(4,281) 
Net operating expenditure before interest 

 
411,603 

 
395,208 

  
  

  Investment Revenue 8 0 
 

0 
Other (gains)/losses 9 0 

 
0 

Finance costs 10 0 
 

0 
Net operating expenditure for the financial year 

 
411,603 

 
395,208 

  
  

  Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption 11 0 
 

0 
Total Net Expenditure for the year 

 
411,603 

 
395,208 

  
  

  Of which: 
 
  

  Administration Income and Expenditure 
 
  

  Employee benefits 4.1.1 1,361 
 

1,144 
Operating expenses 5 4,552 

 
5,149 

Other operating revenue 2 0 
 

0 
Net administration costs before interest 

 
5,912 

 
6,293 

  
  

  
  

  
  Programme Income and Expenditure 

 
  

  Employee benefits 4.1.1 181 
 

128 
Operating expenses 5 411,263 

 
393,068 

Other operating revenue 2 (5,753) 
 

(4,281) 
Net programme expenditure before interest 

 
405,691 

 
388,915 

     
     
     Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure 

 
2015-16 

 
2014-15 

  
£000 

 
£000 

Impairments and reversals 22 0 
 

0 
Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year 

 
411,603 

 
395,208 

     The notes on pages 128 to 156  form part of this statement 
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31 March 2016  
 
31 March 2015 

 
 

Note £000 
 

£000 
 Non-current assets: 

    Property, plant and equipment 13 0 
 

0 
 Intangible assets 14 0 

 
0 
 Investment property 15 0 

 
0 
 Trade and other receivables 17 0 

 
0 
 Other financial assets 18 0 

 
0 
 Total non-current assets 

 
0 
 

0 
       Current assets: 

     Inventories 16 0 
 

0 
 Trade and other receivables 17 1,269 

 
616 

 Other financial assets 18 0 
 

0 
 Other current assets 19 0 

 
0 
 Cash and cash equivalents 20 220 

 
78 

 Total current assets 
 

1,489 
 

694 
       Non-current assets held for sale 21 0 

 
0 
       

Total current assets 
 

1,489 
 

694 
       Total assets 

 
1,489 

 
694 

       Current liabilities 
     Trade and other payables 23 (21,868) 

 
(20,528) 

 Other financial liabilities 24 0 
 

0 
 Other liabilities 25 0 

 
0 
 Borrowings 26 0 

 
0 
 Provisions 30 (13) 

 
(13) 

 Total current liabilities 
 

(21,881) 
 

(20,541) 
 

      Non Current Assets less Net Current Liabilities 
 

(20,392) 
 

(19,847) 
 

      Non-current liabilities 
     Trade and other payables 23 0 

 
0 
 Other financial liabilities 24 0 

 
0 
 Other liabilities 25 0 

 
0 
 Borrowings 26 0 

 
0 
 Provisions 30 0 

 
0 
 Total non-current liabilities 

 
0 
 

0 
       Assets less Liabilities 

 
(20,392) 

 
(19,847) 

       Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity 
     General fund 
 

(20,392) 
 

(19,847) 
 Total taxpayers' equity: 

 
(20,392) 

 
(19,847) 

 
       The notes on pages128 to 156 form part of this statement 

    
  The financial statements on pages  to  were approved by the Governing Body on 25 May 2016 and signed 
on its behalf by: 
 
 

 
  Amanda Hume 

Chief Officer and Accountable Officer for NHS South Tees CCG 
26 May 2016 
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   Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended 31 March 2016 

    

  

General 
fund 

 

Total 
reserves 

  
£000 

 
£000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16 
   

   Balance at 1 April 2015 
 

(19,847) 
 

(19,847) 
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2015 (19,847) 

 
(19,847) 

    Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16 
   Net operating expenditure for the financial year 

 
(411,603) 

 
(411,603) 

    Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the 
Financial  Year (431,603) 

 
(431,603) 

Net funding 
 

411,059 
 

411,059 

Balance at 31 March 2016 
 

(20,392) 
 

(20,392) 

   
     
     
     
   

  

General 
fund 

 

Total 
reserves 

  
£000 

 
£000 

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15 
    

     Balance at 1 April 2014 
 

(16,781) 
 

(16,781) 
Adjusted NHS Commissioning Board balance at 1 April 2014 

 
(16,781) 

 
(16,781) 

     Changes in NHS Commissioning Board taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15 
   Net operating costs for the financial year 

 
(395,208) 

 
(395,208) 

     Net Recognised NHS Commissioning Board Expenditure  
for the Financial  Year (395,208) 

 
(395,208) 

Net funding 
 

392,142 
 

392,142 

Balance at 31 March 2015 
 

(19,847) 
 

(19,847) 

   
   
   The notes on pages 128 to 156 form part of this statement. 
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   Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2016 
  

   
  

2015-16 2014-15 

 
Note £000 £000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
  Net operating expenditure for the financial year 
 

(411,603) (395,208) 
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 17 (653) 1,039 
Increase in trade & other payables 23 1,339 1,878 
Provisions utilised 30 0 0 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 30 0 13 
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities 

 
(410,917) (392,277) 

  
  

 Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
 

  
 Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities 

 
0 0 

  
  

 Net Cash (Outflow) before Financing 
 

(410,917) (392,277) 

  
  

 Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
 

  
 Grant in Aid Funding Received 

 
411,059 392,142 

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities 
 

411,059 392,142 

    Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 20 142 (135) 

    Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 
 

78 213 

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the End of the Financial Year 
 

220 78 

   
   
   The notes on pages 128 to 156 form part of this statement. 
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   Notes to the financial statements 
 

   1 Accounting Policies 
 

 

NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups 
shall meet the accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the 
Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2015-16 issued by the Department of Health. 
The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical 
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial 
Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting 
policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular 
circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair 
view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical commissioning group 
are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered 
material in relation to the accounts. 

 
   1.1 Going Concern 

 

 
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis. 

 

 

Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the 
provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial 
provision for that service in published documents. 

 

 

Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its 
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity) 
in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial 
statements.  If services will continue to be provided, the financial statements are prepared on 
the going concern basis. 

 
   1.2  Accounting Convention 

 

 

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to 
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories 
and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

 
   1.3 Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations 

 

 

Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public 
sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely. They are not 
considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another. 

 
   1.4 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group 

 

 

Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting 
in line with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The 
Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior 
year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger accounting) have not been 
restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the 
period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions 
transfer within the public sector.  Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss 
resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed 
separately from operating costs. 

 

 

Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted 
for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries. 
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1.5 Charitable Funds 

 
 

The NHS South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group do not have any charitable funds. 
 

   1.6 Pooled Budgets 
 

 

The clinical commissioning group is party to a pooled budget arrangement in relation to the 
loan of community equipment.  The pool is hosted by Middlesbrough Council.  As a 
commissioner of healthcare services, the clinical commissioning group makes contributions 
to the pool that are then used to purchase healthcare services.  Annual contributions to the 
pool are £174,273. (2014/15 £165,000). 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group is also party to two pooled budgets, one with Redcar and 
Cleveland Council and one with Middlesbrough Council for the Better Care Fund. 
Contributions to Redcar and Cleveland Council in 2015/16 £10,416,000 (2014/15 nil), and 
contributions to Middlesbrough Council in 2015/16 £10,428,000 (2014/15 nil). 

 
   1.7 Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 

 

In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates 
and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods. 

 
   

 

•  determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative 
or programme expenditure;  
 
•  determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of 
certain potential future obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare. 

 
   1.7.1 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 

 

The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying 
the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

 

 

-           The key estimations the clinical commissioning group have made, are to estimate an 
accrual for two months of prescribing expenditure which was based on the information of ten 
months of actual prescribing charges, and to estimate a two month accrual for acute data 
based on ten months activity data. 

 
   1.8 Revenue 

 

 

Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, 
performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. 

 

 

Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, 
that income is deferred. 

 
   1.9 Employee Benefits 

 
   1.9.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 

 

 

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the 
service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken. 
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1.9.2 
 
Retirement Benefit Costs 

 

 

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. 
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General 
Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England 
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to 
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is 
accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical 
commissioning group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions 
payable to the scheme for the accounting period. 

 

 

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are 
not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged 
to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, 
regardless of the method of payment. 

 
   1.10 Other Expenses 

 

 

Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or 
services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
payable. 

 

 

Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning 
group has a present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions 
attached to the payment have been met. 

 
   1.11 Property, Plant & Equipment 

 1.11.1 Recognition 
 

 
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 

 
 

·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 
 

 

·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be 
supplied to the clinical commissioning group; 

 
 

·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 
 

 
·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and, 

 
 

·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or, 
 

 

·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have 
a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had 
broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates 
and are under single managerial control; or, 

 

 

·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward 
or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost. 

 

 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful economic lives. 

 
   
 

The clinical commissioning group does not have any Property, Plant and equipment. 
 

   1.12 Intangible Assets 
 1.12.1 Recognition 
 

 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of 
sale separately from the rest of the clinical commissioning group’s business or which arise 
from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only: 

 

 

·                When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential 
be provided to, the clinical commissioning group; 

 
 

·                Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and, 
 

 
·                Where the cost is at least £5,000. 
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1.12.1 
Cont’d 

 
Recognition continued 
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is 
integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as 
part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to 
the operation of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible 
asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating 
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, 
and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated: 

 

 

· The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for 
use; 

 
 

· The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it; 
 

 
· The ability to sell or use the intangible asset; 

 

 

· How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service 
potential; 

 

 

·  The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the 
intangible asset and sell or use it; and, 

 

 

·  The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during 
its development. 

    
 

The clinical commissioning group does not have any Intangible Assets. 
 

   1.13 Donated Assets 
 

 

The clinical commissioning group does not have any donated assets as at the 31st March 
2016 (2014/15 nil). 

 
   1.14 Government Grants 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group does not have any government grants as at the 31st 
March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

 
   1.15 Non-current Assets Held For Sale 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group has not held any non-current assets in 2015/16 (2014/15 
nil). 

 
   1.16 Leases 

 

 

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 
   1.16.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee 

 

 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a 
reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 
 

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 

 

Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated 
and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance leases. 

 
   1.17 Private Finance Initiative Transactions 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group has not held any private finance initiative transactions in 
2015/16 (2014/15 nil). 

  
1.18 Inventories 

 

 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out 
cost formula. This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to fair value due to the 
high turnover of stocks. 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group does not hold any stock as at 31st March 2016  (2014/15 
nil). 
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1.19 Cash & Cash Equivalents 
 

 

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on 
notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months 
or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

 
   1.2 Provisions 

 

 

Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical 
commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting 
period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using 
the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows: 

 
   
 

·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.55% (2014/15: minus 1.50%) 
 

 
·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1% (2014/15: minus 1.05%) 

 
 

·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 0.80% (2014/15: minus 2.20%) 
 

   

 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain 
that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured 
reliably. 

 
   1.21 Clinical Negligence Costs 

 

 

The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical 
commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority which in 
return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. 
Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical 
negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group. 

 
   1.22 Non-clinical Risk Pooling 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the 
Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the clinical 
commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in 
return, receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership 
contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims, are charged to 
operating expenses as and when they become due. 

 
    
1.23 Continuing healthcare risk pooling 

 

 

In 2014-15, a risk pool scheme was been introduced by NHS England for continuing 
healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013.  Under the scheme, clinical 
commissioning groups contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the 
claims. 

 

 

NHS South Tees clinical commissioning group contribution to this pool in 2015/16 is 
£873,000 (2014/15 £565,000). 

 
   1.24 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group does not have any Carbon Reduction Commitment 
Schemes. 
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 1.25 Contingencies 
 

 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a 
present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be 
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is 
remote. 

 

 

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will 
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is 
disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

 

 

Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present 
value. 

 
 

The clinical commissioning group has no contingencies as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
 

   1.26 Financial Assets 
 

 

Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the 
financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods or services 
have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have 
expired or the asset has been transferred. 

 
 

Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 
 

 
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss; 

 
 

·                Held to maturity investments; 
 

 
·                Available for sale financial assets; and, 

 
 

·                Loans and receivables. 
 

 

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition. 

 
   1.26.1 Loans & Receivables 

 

 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments which are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition, they are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  
Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

 

 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset. 

  
 

 
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any 
financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit and loss’ are impaired. 
Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
asset. 

 

 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed 
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised. 
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1.27 Financial Liabilities 
 

 

Financial liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the clinical 
commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument 
or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial 
liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has 
been paid or has expired. 

 
   

 

Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial 
liabilities are initially recognised at fair value. 

 
   1.27.1 Other Financial Liabilities 

 

 

After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, except for loans from the Department of Health, which are carried 
at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the financial 
liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method. 

 
   1.28 Value Added Tax 

 

 

Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, 
in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the 
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

 
   1.29 Foreign Currencies 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group’s functional currency and presentational currency is 
sterling. Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the 
exchange rate ruling on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the spot exchange rate 
on 31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses for either of these are recognised in the 
clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise. 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no foreign currency transactions as at 31st March 
2016 (2014/15 nil). 

  
1.3 Third Party Assets 

 

 

Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not 
recognised in the accounts since the clinical commissioning group has no beneficial interest 
in them. 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no third party assets as at 31st March 2016 (2014/15 
nil). 

 
   1.31 Losses & Special Payments 

 

 

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when 
it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items 
that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures 
compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different categories, which 
govern the way that individual cases are handled. 

 

 

Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure 
on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance 
cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance 
premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group has not made any losses and special payments during 
2015/16 (2014/15 nil). 
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   1.32 Subsidiaries 
 

 

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise 
control so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as subsidiaries and are 
consolidated. Their income and expenses; gains and losses; assets, liabilities and reserves; 
and cash flows are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines. 
Appropriate adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s accounting 
policies are not aligned with the clinical commissioning group or where the subsidiary’s 
accounting date is not co-terminus. 

 

 

Subsidiaries that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’. 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no subsidiary arrangement as at 31st March 2016 
(2014/15 nil) 

 
   1.33 Associates 

 

 

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has the power to exercise 
significant influence so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as associates 
and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s accounts using the equity method. 
The investment is recognised initially at cost and is adjusted subsequently to reflect the 
clinical commissioning group’s share of the entity’s profit/loss and other gains/losses. It is 
also reduced when any distribution is received by the clinical commissioning group from the 
entity. 

 

 

Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’. 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no associate arrangement as at 31st March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

    
1.34 Joint Ventures 

 

 

Material entities over which the clinical commissioning group has joint control with one or 
more other parties so as to obtain economic or other benefits are classified as joint ventures. 
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. 

 

 

Joint ventures that are classified as ‘held for sale’ are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount or ‘fair value less costs to sell’. 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no joint ventures arrangement as at 31st March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

 
   1.35 Joint Operations 

 

 

Joint operations are activities undertaken by the clinical commissioning group in conjunction 
with one or more other parties but which are not performed through a separate entity. The 
clinical commissioning group records its share of the income and expenditure; gains and 
losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows. 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group has no joint operations arrangement as at 31st March 
2016 (2014/15 nil). 

 
   1.36 Research & Development 

 

 

Research and development expenditure is charged in the year in which it is incurred, except 
insofar as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it 
can reasonably be regarded as assured. Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of 
future benefits expected and is amortised through the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit from the project. It 
should be re-valued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same 
basis as depreciation. 

 

 

The clinical commissioning group had no research and development expenditure during 
2015/16 (2014/15 nil). 
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1.37 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 
 

 

The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and 
Interpretations to be applied in 2015-16, all of which are subject to consultation: 

 
 

·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 
 

 
·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

 
 

·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contracts with Customers 
 

 

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the 
accounts for 2015-16, were they applied in that year.  
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 2 Other Operating Revenue 
   

 
2015-16 

 
2015-16 2015-16 

 
2014-15 

   
 

Total 
 

Admin Programme 
 

Total 
   

 
£000 

 
£000 £000 

 
£000 

   
   Non-patient care services to other bodies 5,453   0 5,453   3,981   

  Other revenue 300 
 

0 300 
 

300 
   Total other operating revenue 5,753 

 
0 5,753 

 
4,281 

   
          
          
          
   Administration revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or 
healthcare services. 

   
          Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into 
the bank account of the clinical commissioning group and credited to the General Fund. 

  

          

          

          
   3 Revenue 

   
 

2015-16 
 

2015-16 2015-16 
 

2014-15 
   

 
Total 

 
Admin Programme 

 
Total 

   
 

£000 
 

£000 £000 
 

£000 
   From rendering of services 5,753 

 
0 5,753 

 
4,281 

   Total 5,753 
 

0 5,753 
 

4,281 
   

 Revenue is totally from the rendering of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no revenue 
from the sale of goods.    
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                4. Employee benefits and staff numbers 

                                   4.1.1 Employee benefits 2015-16 
 

Total 
   

Admin 
   

Programme 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Employee Benefits 
                 Salaries and wages 1,277 

 
1,264 

 
13 

 
1,140 

 
1,129 

 
11 

 
137 

 
135 

 
2 

Social security costs 95 
 

95 
 

0 
 

88 
 

88 
 

0 
 

7 
 

7 
 

0 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 142 

 
142 

 
0 
 

134 
 

134 
 

0 
 

8 
 

8 
 

0 
Termination benefits 29 

 
29 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

29 
 

29 
 

0 
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,543 

 
1,530   13 

 
1,361 

 
1,351   11 

 
181 

 
179   2 

                  Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 1,543 

 
1,530   13 

 
1,361 

 
1,351   11 

 
181 

 
179   2 

                  Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 1,543 

 
1,530   13 

 
1,361 

 
1,351   11 

 
181 

 
179   2 

                  4.1.1 Employee benefits 2014-15 
 

Total 
   

Admin 
   

Programme 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 

Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Employee Benefits 
                 Salaries and wages 1,074 

 
1,064 

 
10 

 
964 

 
961 

 
3 

 
110 

 
103 

 
7 

Social security costs 82 
 

82 
 

0 
 

73 
 

73 
 

0 
 

9 
 

9 
 

0 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 116 

 
116 

 
0 
 

107 
 

107 
 

0 
 

9 
 

9 
 

0 
Termination benefits 0 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,272 

 
1,262   10 

 
1,144 

 
1,141   3 

 
128 

 
121   7 

                  Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 1,272 

 
1,262   10 

 
1,144 

 
1,141   3 

 
128 

 
121   7 

                  Less: Employee costs capitalised 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 1,272 

 
1,262   10 

 
1,144 

 
1,141   3 

 
128 

 
121   7 
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        4.2 Average number of people employed 
       

 
2015-16 

 
2014-15 

 
Total 

 

Permanently 
employed 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 
Number 

 
Number 

 
Number 

 
Number 

        Total 23 
 

21 
 

2 
 

20 

        There are no whole time equivalent people engaged on capital projects. 
 

4.3  Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements 
          

   
2015-16 

 
2014-15 

      
   

Number 
 

Number 
      Total Days Lost 

  
42 

 
94 

      Total Staff Years 
  

22 
 

18 
      Average Working Days Lost 

  
2 
 

5 
      

            The 2014/15 sickness figures are for the period January - December 2014 
        

            The 2015/16 sickness figures are for the period January - December 2015 
        

            The clinical commissioning group had no ill health retirement costs during 2015/16 (2014/15 nil). 
        

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year 

 
2015-16 

 
2015-16 

 
2015-16 

 

Compulsory 
redundancies 

 

Other agreed 
departures 

 
Total 

 
Number 

 
£ 

 
Number 

 
£ 

 
Number 

 
£ 

Less than £10,000 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
£10,001 to £25,000 0 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
£25,001 to £50,000 1 

 
29,412 

 
0 
 

0 
 

1 
 

29,412 
Total 1 

 
29,412 

 
0 
 

0 
 

1 
 

29,412 

            There were no exit packages in 2014/15. 
* As a single exit package can be made up of several components each of which will be counted separately 
in this table, the total number will not necessarily match the total number in the table above, which will be 
the number of individuals. 

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. 
Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the 
year of departure. 
Where NHS clinical commissioning groups have agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by 
NHS clinical commissioning groups and not by the NHS Pension Scheme, and are included in the tables. 
Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme and are not included in the tables. 
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 4.5 Pension costs 

 Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the 
benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions. 

 The Scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other 
bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The Scheme is not 
designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. 

 Therefore, the Scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical 
commissioning group of participating in the Scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the 
Scheme for the accounting period. 

 The Scheme is subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years (until 2004, every five years) and an 
accounting valuation every year. An outline of these follows: 

 4.5.1 Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

 The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the 
Scheme (taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates 
to be paid by employers and scheme members. The last such valuation, which determined current 
contribution rates was undertaken as at 31 March 2012 and covered the period from 1 April 2008 to that 
date. Details can be found on the pension scheme website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  

 For 2015/16, employers’ contributions of £141,297 were payable to the NHS Pensions Scheme (2014/15 
£115,740) were payable to the NHS Pension Scheme at the rate of 14.3% of pensionable pay.  The 
scheme’s actuary reviews employer contributions, usually every four years and now based on HMT 
Valuation Directions, following a full scheme valuation.  The latest review used data from 31 March 2012 
and was published on the Government website on 9 June 2014. These costs are included in the NHS 
Pension line of note 4.1. 
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       5. Operating expenses 
      

 
2015-16 

 
2015-16 2015-16 

 
2014-15 

 
Total 

 
Admin Programme 

 
Total 

 
£000 

 
£000 £000 

 
£000 

Gross employee benefits 
      Employee benefits excluding governing body members 938 

 
757 181 

 
657 

Executive governing body members 604 
 

604 0 
 

615 
Total gross employee benefits 1,542 

 
1,361 181 

 
1,272 

       Other costs 
      Services from other CCGs and NHS England 6,746 

 
3,604 3,142 

 
7,337 

Services from foundation trusts 271,712 
 

30 271,682 
 

274,948 
Services from other NHS trusts 736 

 
0 736 

 
664 

Services from other NHS bodies 1 
 

0 1 
 

0 
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 75,589 

 
0 75,589 

 
57,015 

Chair and Non Executive Members 174 
 

174 0 
 

158 
Supplies and services – clinical 1,205 

 
0 1,205 

 
1,138 

Supplies and services – general 488 
 

61 427 
 

187 
Consultancy services 0 

 
0 0 

 
0 

Establishment 263 
 

123 140 
 

353 
Transport 2 

 
2 0 

 
1 

Premises 3,804 
 

235 3,569 
 

3,463 
Audit fees 77 

 
77 0 

 
102 

Other non statutory audit expenditure 
      ·          Internal audit services 0 

 
0 0 

 
0 

·          Other services 0 
 

0 0 
 

0 
Prescribing costs 53,809 

 
0 53,809 

 
51,917 

Other professional fees excl. audit 250 
 

206 44 
 

317 
Grants to other public bodies 46 

 
0 46 

 
0 

Clinical negligence 6 
 

6 0 
 

6 
Education and training 35 

 
34 1 

 
33 

CHC Risk Pool contributions 873 
 

0 873 
 

565 
Total other costs 415,816 

 
4,552 411,264 

 
398,217 

       Total operating expenses 417,358 
 

5,913 411,445 
 

399,489 

       
       
       Administration expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of 
healthcare or healthcare services. 

       Other professional fees of £250,000 (2014/15 £317,000) relate to: 

        - GP clinical engagement £222,000 (2014/15 £306,000) 
       - Legal £27,000 (2014/15 £11,000) 
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  6.1 Better Payment Practice Code 
             

Measure of compliance 2015-16 
 
2015-16 

 
2014-15 

 
2014-15 

      
 

Number 
 

£000 
 

Number 
 

£000 
      Non-NHS Payables 

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the year 7,113 
 

81,046 
 

5,382 
 

63,881 
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 7,009 

 
79,887 

 
5,308 

 
63,027 

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 98.54% 
 

98.57% 
 

98.63% 
 

98.66% 
      NHS Payables 

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the year 1,980 
 

279,635 
 

2,015 
 

278,526 
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 1,962 

 
279,009 

 
1,997 

 
278,197 

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.09% 
 

99.78% 
 

99.11% 
 

99.88% 
      The target percentage for invoices paid is 95%. This excludes disputed items. 

         
  6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 

    During 2015/16, the clinical commissioning group had no late payment of Commercial Debts 
(2014/15 nil). 

      
      7 Income Generation Activities 

             The clinical commissioning group does not undertake any income generation activities (2014/15 nil). 

              8. Investment revenue 
             

      The clinical commissioning group does not have any investment revenue as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 
nil). 

      9. Other gains and losses 
     

      The clinical commissioning group does not have any other gains and losses as at 31 March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

      10. Finance costs 
     

      The clinical commissioning group does not have any finance costs as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

      11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption 
     

      The clinical commissioning group has no net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption as at 31 March 
2016 (2014/15 nil). 
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       12. Operating Leases 
       

       12.1 As lessee 
       12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 

         2015-16  2014-15 

 
Land 

 
Buildings 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 
Land 

 
Buildings 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Payments recognised as an 
expense 

               Minimum lease payments 0 
 

3,805 
 

13 
 

3,818 
 

0 
 

3,457 
 

17 
 

3,473 
Total 0   3,805   13   3,818 

 
0   3,457   17   3,473 

       
            The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to the lease of 
photocopying equipment, none of which are individually significant.  Specific lease terms vary by individual 
arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement involved. 

                The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited.  For 2014/15 and 
2015/16, the charges from NHS Property Services Limited are intended to reflect the actual cost of 
occupancy, or void space, attributable to the CCG.  This is reflected in Note 12.1.1.   

                The CCG has a lease with NHS Property Services Limited for the occupation of North Ormesby Health 
Village. In respect of all other properties, while our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall 
within the definition of operating leases, rental charges for future years have not yet been agreed. 
Consequently, this note only includes future minimum lease payments for North Ormesby Health Village 
and not for these other arrangements. 

                
       12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 

             2015-16  2014-15 

 
Land 

 
Buildings 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 
Land 

 
Buildings 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Payable: 
               No later than one year 0 

 
193 

 
6 
 

199 
 

0 
 
           -    

 
          -    

 
0 

Between one and five years 0 
 

676 
 

7 
 

683 
 

0 
 
           -    

 
          -    

 
0 

Total 0   869   13   882 
 

0   0   0   0 

       
       12.2 As lessor 

           
       The clinical commissioning group has no lessor arrangements as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
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                13 Property, plant and equipment 
                 

                  The clinical commissioning group does not have any property, plant or equipment as at 31 March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

           
                  13.1 Additions to assets under construction 

                 
                  The clinical commissioning group does not have any assets under construction as at 31 March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

          
                  13.2 Donated assets 

                 
                  The clinical commissioning group does not have any donated assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

          
                  13.3 Government granted assets 

                 
                  The clinical commissioning group does not have any government granted assets as at 31 March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

          
                  13.4 Property revaluation 

                 
                  The clinical commissioning group does not have any property revaluation as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 
nil). 

          
                  13.5 Compensation from third parties 

                 
                  The clinical commissioning group does not have any compensation from third parties as at 31 March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

          
                  13.6 Write downs to recoverable amount 

                 
              The clinical commissioning group does not have any assets which have been written down as at 31 March 
2016 (2014/15 nil). 

          
                  13.7 Temporarily idle assets 

                 
                  The clinical commissioning group had no temporarily idle assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

          
                  13.8 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets 

                 
                  The clinical commissioning group had no fully depreciated assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
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           14 Intangible non-current assets 
            

             The clinical commissioning group had no intangible assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
       

             14.1 Donated assets 
            

             The clinical commissioning group does not have any donated assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
       

             14.2 Government granted assets 
            

             The clinical commissioning group does not have any government granted assets as at 31 March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

      
             14.3 Revaluation 

            
             The clinical commissioning group does not have any intangible asset revaluation as at 31 March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

      
             14.4 Compensation from third parties 

            
         The clinical commissioning group does not have any compensation from third parties as at 31 March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

      
             14.5 Write downs to recoverable amount 

            
         The clinical commissioning group does not have any assets which have been written down as at 
 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

      
             14.6 Non-capitalised assets 

            
         The clinical commissioning group does not have any non-capitalised assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 
nil). 

      
             14.7 Temporarily idle assets 

            
             The clinical commissioning group had no temporarily idle assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

       
             14.8 Cost or valuation of fully amortised assets 

            
             The clinical commissioning group had no fully depreciated assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

       
             15 Investment property 

            
             The clinical commissioning group had no investment property as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

        
             16 Inventories 

            
             The clinical commissioning group had no inventories as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
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 17  Trade and other receivables Current 
 

 
 

Current 
 

 

 
2015-16 

 
 

 
2014-15 

 
 

 
£000 

 
 

 
£000 

 
 

NHS receivables: Revenue 766 
 

 
 

92 
 

 
NHS prepayments 0 

 
 
 

0 
 

 
NHS accrued income 0 

 
 
 

56 
 

 
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue 463 

 
 
 

455 
 

 
Non-NHS prepayments 0 

 
 
 

0 
 

 
Non-NHS accrued income 0 

 
 
 

8 
 

 
VAT 40 

 
 
 

5 
 

 
Total Trade & other receivables 1,269 

 
 
 

615 
 

 

        Total trade and other receivables  1,269 
   

615 
  

        

 The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by the Government to provide 
funding to clinical commissioning groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered 
necessary. 

  
 17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 2015-16 

  
2014-15 

 
 

£000 
  

£000 
 

By up to three months 20 
  

0 
 By three to six months 0 

  
0 
 By more than six months 16 

  
0 
 Total 36 

  
0 
 

 None of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the Statement of Financial Position date. 

 The clinical commissioning group did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 
2016 (2014/15 nil). 

17.2  Provision for impairment of receivables 
     

     The clinical commissioning group did not make any provision for impairment of receivables during 2015/16 
(2014/15 nil). 

         18 Other financial assets 
        

         The clinical commissioning group had no other financial assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

         19 Other current assets 
        

         The clinical commissioning group had no other current assets as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
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   20 Cash and cash equivalents 
   

   
 

2015-16 
 

2014-15 
 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 Balance at 01 April 2015 78 
 

213 
 Net change in year 142 

 
(135) 

 Balance at 31 March 2016 220 
 

78 
 

     Made up of: 
    Cash with the Government Banking Service 220 

 
78 

 Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position 220 
 

78 
 

     Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service 0 
 

0 
 Bank overdraft: Commercial banks 0 

 
0 
 Total bank overdrafts 0 

 
0 
 

     Balance at 31 March 2016 220 
 

78 
 

     

 21 Non-current assets held for sale 
   

   The clinical commissioning group had no non-current assets held for sale as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 
nil). 
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        22 Analysis of impairments and reversals 
        

         The clinical commissioning group had no impairments or reversals of impairments 
recognised in expenditure during 2015/16 (2014/15 nil). 

    
         
        
23 Trade and other payables 

Current 
 

 
 

Current 
 

 
 2015-16 

 
 

 
2014-15 

 
 

 
 

£000 
 

 
 

£000 
 

 
 

NHS payables: revenue 974 
 

 
 

221 
 

 
 NHS accruals 1,805 

 
 
 

4,550 
 

 
 Non-NHS payables: revenue 1,628 

 
 
 

950 
 

 
 Non-NHS accruals 17,105 

 
 
 

14,743 
 

 
 Social security costs 18 

 
 
 

12 
 

 
 Tax 21 

 
 
 

17 
 

 
 Other payables 316 

 
 
 

35 
 

 
 Total Trade & Other Payables 21,867 

 
 
 

20,528 
 

 
 

      
 

 
Other payables include £26,413 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 £13,000). 

 
        24 Other financial liabilities 

        
         The clinical commissioning group had no other financial liabilities as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

 
         25 Other liabilities 

        
         The clinical commissioning group had no other liabilities as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

 
         26 Borrowings 

        
        The clinical commissioning group had no borrowings as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

 
         27 Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements 

       
        The clinical commissioning group had no PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangements that were 

excluded from the SoFP as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
 

         28 Finance lease obligations 
        

   The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease obligations as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
 

         29 Finance lease receivables 
        

         The clinical commissioning group had no finance lease receivables as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
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       30   Provisions 
     

 
Current 

 
Current 

  
 

2015-16 
 
2014-15 

  
 

£000 
 

£000 
  Continuing care 13 

 
13 

  Total 13 
 

13 
  

      Total current and non-current 13 
 

13 
  

     

 

Continuing 
Care 

 
Total 

  
 

£000s 
 

£000s 
  

     Balance at 01 April 2015 13 
 

13 
    

      Balance at 31 March 2016 13 
 

13 
    

      Expected timing of cash flows: 
     Within one year 13 

 
13 

  Between one and five years 0 
 

0 
  After five years 0   0 
  Balance at 31 March 2016 13 

 
13 
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 31 Contingencies 
        The clinical commissioning group had no contingencies as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 

     
         32 Commitments 

        
         32.1 Capital commitments 

        The clinical commissioning group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
  

         32.2 Other financial commitments 
        The clinical commissioning group had no non-cancellable contracts (which were not leases, PFI contracts 

or other service concession arrangements) as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
 

 33 Financial instruments 
 

  33.1 Financial risk management 
 Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had 

during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. 

 Because NHS South Tees clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not 
exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much 
more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the 
financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow 
or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities 
rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its 
activities. 

 Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined 
formally within NHS South Tees clinical commissioning groups standing financial instructions and policies 
agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS South Tees clinical 
commissioning group and internal auditors. 

 33.1.1 Currency risk 
 The clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of 

transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS South Tees clinical 
commissioning group has no overseas operations and therefore has low exposure to currency rate 
fluctuations. 

 33.1.2 Interest rate risk 
 The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability 

as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated 
assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical 
commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

 33.1.3 Credit risk 
 Because the majority of the NHS South Tees clinical commissioning group revenue comes from 

parliamentary funding, the clinical commissioning group has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum 
exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade 
and other receivables note. 

 33.1.3 Liquidity risk 
 The clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which 

are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The clinical commissioning group draws down 
cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The clinical commissioning group is not, therefore, exposed 
to significant liquidity risks. 
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               33 Financial instruments cont'd 
          

33.2 Financial assets At ‘fair value 
through profit 

and loss’ 
 

Loans and 
Receivables 

 

Available 
for Sale 

 
Total 

 
 

2015-16 
 

2015-16 
 

2015-16 
 

2015-16 
 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
Embedded derivatives 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 Receivables: 

         ·          NHS 
 

0 
 

766 
 

0 
 

766 
 ·          Non-NHS 

 
0 
 

463 
 

0 
 

463 
 Cash at bank and in hand 

 
0 
 

220 
 

0 
 

220 
 Other financial assets 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0   
Total at 31 March 2016 

 
0 
 

1,449 
 

0 
 

1,449 
 

  

At ‘fair value 
through profit 

and loss’ 
 

Loans and 
Receivables 

 

Available 
for Sale 

 
Total 

 
  

2014-15 
 

2014-15 
 

2014-15 
 

2014-15 
 

  
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

 
          Embedded derivatives 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 Receivables: 

         ·          NHS 
 

0 
 

92 
 

0 
 

92 
 ·          Non-NHS 

 
0 
 

455 
 

0 
 

455 
 Cash at bank and in hand 

 
0 
 

78 
 

0 
 

78 
 Other financial assets 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 Total at 31 March 2015 

 
0 
 

624 
 

0 
 

624 
            

33.3 Financial liabilities 

 

At ‘fair value 
through profit 

and loss’ 
 

Other 
 

Total 

  
2015-16 

 
2015-16 

 
2015-16 

  
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Embedded derivatives 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Payables: 

      ·          NHS 
 

0 
 

2,779 
 

2,779 
·          Non-NHS 

 
0 
 

19,049 
 

19,049 
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
Other borrowings 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
Other financial liabilities 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
Total at 31 March 2016 

 
0 
 

21,829 
 

21,829 
 

  

At ‘fair value 
through profit and 

loss’ 
 

Other 
 

Total 

  
2014-15 

 
2014-15 

 
2014-15 

  
£000 

 
£000 

 
£000 

Embedded derivatives 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
Payables: 

      ·          NHS 
 

0 
 

4,771 
 

4,771 
·          Non-NHS 

 
0 
 

15,728 
 

15,728 
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
Other borrowings 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
Other financial liabilities 

 
0 
 

0 
 

0 
Total at 31 March 2015 

 
0 
 

20,499 
 

20,499 
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       34 Operating segments 
             The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its 

operating segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, 
considered to be the 'chief operating decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of 
resource allocation and assessment of performance. 

     All activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant 
population.  As a result, the CCG considers that it has only one operating segment, being the 
commissioning of healthcare services. 

     An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure and Statement of Financial Position respectively. 

     
              35 Pooled budgets 

       The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget in relation to the loan 
of community equipment with: 

          -  Middlesbrough Council 
             -  Stockton-on-Tees Borough Council 
             -  Hartlepool Borough Council 
             -  NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees Clinical Commissioning Group 
             

              The pool is hosted by Middlesbrough Council.  Under the arrangement, funds are pooled under Section 75 
of the NHS Act 2006 for the loan of community equipment.  The memorandum account for the pooled 
budget is: 

       
  

2015-16 
 
2014-15 

  
  

£000 
 

£000 
  Income 

  
717 

 
709 

  Expenditure 
  

677 
 

591 
  Net Underspend 

  
40 

 
118   

 
       The clinical commissioning group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Middlesbrough 
Council and Redcar and Cleveland Council in respect of the Better Care Fund, with effect from 1 April 
2015, through a section 75 agreement. 

       The clinical commissioning group contribution to the pooled budget in 2015/16 was £20,844,000 which was 
used to commission a range of health and social care services in line with the agreed objectives of the 
Better Care Fund. The Better Care Fund provides a vehicle for furthering integration between health and 
social care to support the transformation that is required to address the sustainability of the system.  

     This contribution to the Better Care Find is recognised within the financial statements as CCG expenditure. 
      

-  Middlesbrough Council  (Better Care Fund) 
             

    
2015-16 

 
2014-15 

       
    

£000 
 

£000 
       Income 

   
12,035 

 
0 
       Expenditure 

   
12,035 

 
0 
       Net (Underspend)/ Overspend 

   
0 
 

0 
        

-  Redcar and Cleveland Council  (Better Care Fund) 
             

    
2015-16 

 
2014-15 

       
    

£000 
 

£000 
       Income 

   
11,603 

 
0 
       Expenditure 

   
11,603 

 
0 
       Net (Underspend)/ Overspend 

   
0 
 

0 
        

36 NHS Lift investments 
             The clinical commissioning group had no NHS Lift investments as at 31 March 2016. 
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37 Related party transactions 
        During the year the clinical commissioning group has undertaken transactions with the following Governing 

Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them: 
   

Member                                    
Period Related Party 

Payments 
to Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 
Party 

Amounts 
due from 
Related 
Party 

   
  

£000 £000 £000 £000 
   Dr J Drury                                  

April - March 2016 
Tees Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 42,017 12 193 0 

 Dr J Drury                                  
April - March 2016 

South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 212,046 4 913 0 

   Dr Khapra                                 
April - March 2016 Crossfell Medical Practice 131 0 5 0 

 Dr M Milner                               
April - March 2016 Huntcliff Surgery 176 0 4 0 

 Dr M Milner                               
April - March 2016 

Northern Doctors Urgent Care 
(Teesside Urgent Care) 2,337 72 56 0 

 Dr M Milner                               
April - March 2016 

South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 212,046 4 913 0 

   Dr V Nanda                              
April - March 2016 The Discovery Practice 138 0 3 0 

 Dr V Nanda                              
April - March 2016 

North Tees & Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust 2,648 0 97 0 

 Dr N Rowell                             
April - March 2016 Endeavour Practice 96 0 4 0 

 Dr N Rowell                             
April - March 2016 

South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 212,046 4 913 0 

 Dr A Tahmassebi                   
April - March 2016 Bentley Medical Practice 94 0 3 0 

 Dr A Tahmassebi                   
April - March 2016 Park Avenue Surgery 36 0 5 0 

 Dr A Tahmassebi                   
April - March 2016 Rainbow Surgery 20 0 0 0 

   Ms J Golightly                          
April - March 2016 

NHS Hartlepool & Stockton Clinical 
Commissioning Group 95 4,182 30 601 

 Mr S Gregory                            
April - March 2016 

Tees Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 42,017 12 193 0 

 Mr P Race                                 
April - March 2016 

South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 212,046 4 913 0 

 Mr P Race                                 
April - March 2016 NHS North of England CSU 6,933 0 63 0 

   Mr P Race                                 
April - March 2016 

Tees Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 42,017 12 193 0 

   Dr J Walker                              
April - March 2016 Manor House Surgery 128 0 4 0 
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37 Related party transactions continued 

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the clinical commissioning 
group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department 
is regarded as the parent Department. For example: 

          -   NHS England (including North England Commissioning Support Unit);     -   NHS Foundation Trusts;      -   NHS Trusts;      -   NHS Litigation Authority;       -   NHS Property Services.      In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other 
government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these 
transactions have been with Middlesbrough Council and Redcar & Cleveland Borough Council. 

    

  

  



Annual Accounts 2015-16 

155 
 

NHS South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2015-16 

37 Related party transactions continued 
 

2014/15 comparative figures: 
During 2014/15 the clinical commissioning group undertook transactions with the following Governing Body 
members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them: 

 

Member                                    
Period Related Party 

Payments 
to Related 

Party 

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party 
   

  
£000 £000 £000 £000 

   Dr J Drury                                  
April - March 2015 

Tees Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 42,382  0  156  10  

   Dr Khapra                                 
January - March 
2015 Crossfell Medical Practice 22  0  101  0  

   Dr M Milner                               
April - March 2015 Huntcliff Surgery 111  0  54  0  

   Dr M Milner                               
April - March 2015 

Northern Doctors Urgent Care 
(Teesside Urgent Care) 2,436  0  0  73  

   Dr V Nanda                              
April - March 2015 The Discovery Practice 67  0  53  0  

   Dr V Nanda                              
April - March 2015 

North Tees & Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust 2,726  0  5  30  

   Dr N Rowell                             
April - March 2015 Endeavour Practice 68  0  74  0  

   Dr N Rowell                             
April - March 2015 

South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 208,782  0  3,377  8  

   Dr A Tahmassebi                   
April - March 2015 Bentley Medical Practice 72  0  58  0  

   Dr A Tahmassebi                   
April - March 2015 Park Avenue Surgery 78  0  128  0  

   Dr J Walker                              
April - March 2015 Manor House Surgery 133  0  56  0  

   Dr H Waters                             
April - November 
2014 Village Medical Centre 78  0  0  0  

   Dr H Waters                             
April - November 
2014 

North East & Cumbria Academic 
Health Science Network 0  0  8  0  

   Ms J Golightly                          
April - March 2015 

NHS Hartlepool & Stockton Clinical 
Commissioning Group 202  4,312  510  67  

   Mr S Gregory                            
April - March 2015 

Tees Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 42,382  0  156  10  

   Mr P Race                                 
April - March 2015 

South Tees Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 208,782  0  3,377  8  
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38 Events after the end of the reporting period 
        

       There are no post balance sheet events that will have a material effect on the financial statements of the 
clinical commissioning group. 

 
       39 Losses and special payments 

        
       The clinical commissioning group had no losses and special payments cases during 2015/16 (2014/15 nil). 
 

40 Third party assets 
        

         The clinical commissioning group had no third party assets as at 31 March 2016 
(2014/15 nil). 

     
         41 Financial performance targets 

        
 NHS clinical commissioning groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS 
Act 2006 (as amended). 

 The clinical commissioning groups performance against those duties 
was as follows: 

 
 

             Restated 

 
2015-16 

 
2015-16 

 
2014-15 

 
2014-15 

 
 

Target 
 
Performance 

 
Target 

 
Performance 

 Expenditure not to exceed income 418,881 
 

411,603 
 

403,519 
 

395,208 
 Capital resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount 

specified in Directions 418,881 
 

411,603 
 

403,519 
 

395,208 
 Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does 

not exceed the amount specified in Directions 0 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 Revenue administration resource use does not 

exceed the amount specified in Directions 6,282 
 

5,912 
 

7,477 
 

6,292 
 

 
         2014/15 has been restated as this did not include the Quality Premium allocation under Administration 
Resource. 

 
         42 Impact of IFRS 

 
         Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the clinical commissioning group during the 
2015/16 financial year (2014/15 nil). 

 
         
         43 Analysis of charitable reserves 

        
         The clinical commissioning group had no charitable reserves as at 31 March 2016 (2014/15 nil). 
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Appendix 1: Our programme of involvement and 

engagement 
 

Event Name Location 

March 2015 

Mental Health Strategy Engagement Event Redcar & Cleveland Leisure and Community 
Heart, Redcar 

Patient and Public Advisory Group Meeting CCG offices, North Ormesby 
Eston and Langbaurgh Patient Participation Group 

(PPG) Meeting Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar 

July 2015 

Patient and Public Advisory Group Meeting Inspire to Learn, Eston 
Middlesbrough PPG Meetings Trinity Centre, North Ormesby 

Urgent Care Pre-engagement Public Events 
Skelton Civic Hall, Skelton 

Breckon Hill Community Centre, Middlesbrough 
Redcar Beacon, Redcar 

August 2015 

Urgent Care Pre-engagement Public Events 
Know Your Money, Middlesbrough 
Eston Grange Health Centre, Eston 

Life Store Review Public Engagement Events 
St. Mary’s Centre, Middlesbrough 

Tuned In, Redcar 

Commissioning Intentions Public Engagement Event Middlesbrough and Stockton Mind, 
Middlesbrough 

September 2015 

Eston and Langbaurgh Patient Participation Group 
Meeting Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar 

Annual General Meeting (AGM) Redcar & Cleveland Leisure and Community 
Heart 

Commissioning Intentions Public Engagement Events 
Tuned In, Redcar 

Trinity Centre, North Ormesby 
October 2015 

Patient and Public Advisory Group Meeting CCG offices, North Ormesby 
November 2015 

Middlesbrough PPG Meetings CCG offices, North Ormesby 
Patient and Public Advisory Group Meeting CCG offices, North Ormesby 

December 2015 

Eston and Langbaurgh Patient Participation Group 
Meeting Redcar Primary Care Hospital, Redcar 

January 2016 

Public Consultation Events on Urgent Care Proposals 
Trinity Centre, North Ormesby 

St Nicholas Parish Church Hall, Guisborough 

Better Health Programme (BHP) Stakeholder Events Sedgefield Racecourse, Sedgefield 



Appendix 1 

158 
 

February 2016 

Life Store Post Engagement Events with the Public 
Trinity Centre, North Ormesby 

Tuned In, Redcar 
Life Store, Middlesbrough 

Public Consultation Event on Urgent Care Proposals 
Inspire To Learn, Eston 

Skelton Civic Hall, Skelton 

Better Health Programme (BHP) Pre-engagement 
Event 

Tuned In, Redcar 
Eston City Learning Centre, Eston 

Trinity Centre, North Ormesby 
Middlesbrough PPG Meeting CCG offices, North Ormesby 

March 2016 

Public Consultation Event on Urgent Care Proposals 

Inspire to Learn, Eston 
Sunnyfield House Community Centre,  

Guisborough 
Trinity Centre, North Ormesby, Middlesbrough 

Redcar Primary Care Hospital 
Tuned In, Majuba Road, Redcar 

 

Appendix 2: Year at a glance data sources 
Please note that the infographic (page 2) is only indicative and numbers are rounded for simplicity. Some figures are 
based on estimates or practice registers. 
 

Information Source 
CCG Population HSCIC – January 2016 Patients Registered with a GP 

GP and nurse practitioner Consultations Local estimate based on data analysis by Dr David Royal, 

extrapolated from sample practices’ activity data. This 

may include telephone consultations. 

Outpatient appointments RAIDR Secondary Care Dashboard based on the 

Secondary Uses Service data. 

Inpatient admissions RAIDR Secondary Care Dashboard based on the 

Secondary Uses Service data. 

A&E attendances RAIDR Secondary Care Dashboard based on the 

Secondary Uses Service data. 

Calls to 111 RAIDR Secondary Care Dashboard based on the 

Secondary Uses Service data. 

Referrals to Talking Therapies IAPT Data Set 
People with asthma / diabetes RAIDR Primary Care Dashboard, based on GP practice 

disease registers. 
 

 


